
 

 

 
 

BOARD 

OF 

COMMISSIONERS 
 

 

 

January 06, 2020 

7:00 PM 

 

 



Agenda – Camden County Board of Commissioners  January 06, 2020 

  Page 2 of 3 

 

 

This agenda is only a tentative schedule of matters the Commissioners may address at their 

meeting and all items found on it may be deleted, amended or deferred. The Commissioners may 

also, in their absolute discretion, consider matters not shown on this agenda. 
 

Special accommodations for the disabled who attend public meetings can be made by contacting 

the Clerk to the Board 24 hours in advance at 252-338-6363, Ext. 100. 

 

Please turn Cell Phone ringers off during the meeting. 
 

Agenda 
 

Camden County Board of Commissioners 

BOC - Regular Meeting 

January 06, 2020 

7:00 PM 

Historic Courtroom, Courthouse Complex 

 

 Call to Order 

ITEM  6:00 PM Closed Session - Economic Development 

ITEM  7:00 PM Reconvene Board of Commissioners 

 Invocation & Pledge of Allegiance 

 Pastor Joe Brock - Harmony Baptist Church 

ITEM 1. Public Comments 

It is requested that comments be limited to (2-3) minutes. The length and number of comments 

may be limited upon the Chairman’s discretion due to scheduling and other issues. 

ITEM 2. Conflict of Interest Disclosure Statement 

ITEM 3. Consideration of Agenda (For discussion and possible action) 

ITEM 4. Presentations (For discussion and possible action) 

A. Sheriff's Office - Lt. Brandon Henderson 

B. FY 2018-2019 Audit Presentation - Greg Adams 

C. Employee Recognition - Ken Bowman 

Recess to South Camden Water & Sewer District Board of Directors Meeting 

Reconvene Board of Commissioners 



Agenda – Camden County Board of Commissioners  January 06, 2020 

  Page 3 of 3 

 

ITEM 5. Public Hearings 

A. Ordinance 2019-12-01 Rezoning Application for RKRAIN LLC - Dan Porter 

ITEM 6. Old Business (For discussion and possible action) 

A. Camden Plantation, Inc. Land Sale Agreement - Ken Bowman 

ITEM 7. New Business (For discussion and possible action) 

A. Resolution 2020-01-01 - Ken Bowman 

B. Tax Report - Lisa Anderson 

C. Recombination Survey - Dan Porter 

D. Personnel Policy - Ken Bowman 

ITEM 8. Consent Agenda  

A. BOC Meeting Minutes - December 2, 2019 

B. DMV Monthly Report 

C. Vehicle Refunds Over $100.00 

D. Pickups, Releases & Refunds 

E. Surplus Property - Maintenance 

F. Surplus Property - Sheriff's Office 

ITEM 9. County Manager's Report 

ITEM 10. Commissioners' Reports 

ITEM 11. Information, Reports & Minutes From Other Agencies 

A. Library Report 

B. Register of Deeds Report 

C. Community Services Block Grant 

ITEM 12. Other Matters (For discussion and possible action) 

ITEM 13. Adjourn 



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Presentations 

 

Item Number: 4.A 

Meeting Date:   January 06, 2020 
 

Submitted By: Kevin Jones, 

 Sheriff 

 Prepared by: Karen Davis 

 
Item Title   Sheriff's Office - Lt. Brandon Henderson 

 

Attachments:  

 

Summary: 

The Sheriff's Office will present the following: 

~ Commendation Award and Lifesaving Award - Deputy Luke Marcum 

~ Lifesaving Awards - Deputy Richard Durham, Deputy Darryl Smith, Deputy Garrett Winslow,    

   Deputy Kate Hayden and Deputy Scott Wentz 

~ 20 Years of Service Award - Chief Deputy Rodney Meads 

~ 2019 Employee of the Year Award - Brandon Blount 

4.A

Packet Pg. 4



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Presentations 

 

Item Number: 4.B 

Meeting Date:   January 06, 2020 
 

Submitted By: Stephanie Jackson, HR Director 

 Finance 

 Prepared by: Karen Davis 

 
Item Title   Fy 2018-2019 

 

Attachments:  

 

Summary: 

Greg Adams with Thompson, Price, Scott & Adams will present the FY 18-19 audit.  The full audit 

is available for public inspection at the Camden County Finance Office. 

4.B

Packet Pg. 5



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Presentations 

 

Item Number: 4.C 

Meeting Date:   January 06, 2020 
 

Submitted By: Ken Bowman, 

 Administration 

 Prepared by: Karen Davis 

 
Item Title   Employee Recognition - Ken Bowman 

 

Attachments:  

 

Summary: 

Mr. Bowman will introduce the new HR/Risk Management Specialist for Camden County, Sandi 

Powers. 

4.C

Packet Pg. 6



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Public Hearings 

 

Item Number: 5.A 

Meeting Date:   January 06, 2020 
 

Submitted By: Dan Porter, Planning Director 

 Planning & Zoning 

 Prepared by: Karen Davis 

 
Item Title   Ordinance 2019-12-01 Rezoning Application for RKRAIN 

LLC 

 

Attachments: Agenda Summary Sheet Ordinance 2019-12-01 

Krainiak (DOC) 

Krainiak Rezoning Findings (DOCX) 

Supporting documents (PDF) 

2019-12-01 - Ordinance Amending the Official 

Zoning Map - Krainiak

 (DOC) 

 

See attached agenda summary, Planning Board recommendation and supporting 

documentation. 

5.A

Packet Pg. 7



            

      

 
Camden County Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

        

Meeting Date:   January 6, 2019 

Attachments:   Ordinance/Findings/Planning Board  

   Recommendation  

Submitted By: Planning Department  

 

ITEM TITLE:  Public Hearing Ordinance 2019-12-01; Rezoning Application (UDO 

2019-10-24) for RKRAIN LLC (Robert Krainiak) 

 

SUMMARY: 

 
Robert Krainiak (RKRAIN LLC (owner)) and Sean Robey (agent for applicant) met with Planning Staff to 

rezone approximately 25 acres (lots 9-28 and a portion of lot 29) of Camden Business Park located off U.S. 

158 from Highway Commercial (HC) to Village Residential (VR).   Neighborhood meeting held October 

21, 2019 at the Camden Library.   The application for rezoning was heard by the Camden County Planning 

Board at their November 20, 2019 meeting and after discussion with applicant and staff, Planning Board 

made the following motions:  (All motions passed on a 6-0 vote) 

   

1.  Motion made to approve Consistency Statement as follows:  

 

- The proposed zoning change is inconsistent with the 2005 CAMA Land Use Plan 

in that the CAMA Future Land Use Maps has property identified as Industrial; 

also 

 

- The proposed zoning change is inconsistent and consistent with Comprehensive 

Plan (Adopted 2012); 

 

Inconsistent as Future Land Use Map shows the property designated as Mixed 

Use Employment which based on the description (see Attachment A) prohibits residential 

development.    

 

Consistent as based on the Vision Statement new development will be focused 

within targeted core areas and the Camden Village Core Area Action Strategies promotes 

the 158 corridor for new mixed use and higher density development.  Property located 

within the 1 mile buffer of Core Village where county encouraging higher density 

housing mix.    

 

2. Motion made to recommend approval of proposed rezoning application (UDO 

2019-10-24) to rezone properties from Highway Commercial (HC) to Village 

Residential as rezoning request is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan 

(Adopted 2012) as based on the Vision Statement new development will be 

focused within targeted core areas and the Camden Village Core Area Action 

Strategies promotes the U.S. 158 corridor for new mixed use and higher density 

development.  Property located within the 1 mile buffer of Core Village where 

county encouraging higher density housing mix.     

 

 

5.A.a

Packet Pg. 8

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

g
en

d
a 

S
u

m
m

ar
y 

S
h

ee
t 

O
rd

in
an

ce
 2

01
9-

12
-0

1 
K

ra
in

ia
k 

 (
25

94
 :

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 2

01
9-

12
-0

1 
R

ez
o

n
in

g
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

 f
o

r 
R

K
R

A
IN

 L
L

C
)



 

 

 

3. Motion made Motion to amend Comprehensive Plan Future Land Use Map for the 

24 acres from Mixed-Use Employment to Village Mixed Use.  
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

- Hold Public Hearing 

- Amend Agenda for Consideration 

 

1. Motion for Consistency Statement as follows:  

 

- The proposed zoning change is inconsistent with the 2005 CAMA Land Use Plan 

in that the CAMA Future Land Use Maps has property identified as Industrial; 

also 

 

- The proposed zoning change is inconsistent and consistent with Comprehensive 

Plan (Adopted 2012); 

 

Inconsistent as Future Land Use Map shows the property designated as Mixed 

Use Employment which based on the description (see Attachment A) prohibits residential 

development.    

 

Consistent as based on the Vision Statement new development will be focused 

within targeted core areas and the Camden Village Core Area Action Strategies promotes 

the 158 corridor for new mixed use and higher density development.  Property located 

within the 1 mile buffer of Core Village where county encouraging higher density 

housing mix.    

 

2. Motion for approval. 

 

Motion to approve Ordinance 2019-12-01/rezoning application (UDO 2019-10-24) to 

rezone properties from Highway Commercial (HC) to Village Residential as rezoning 

request is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan (Adopted 2012) as based on the Vision 

Statement new development will be focused within targeted core areas and the Camden 

Village Core Area Action Strategies promotes the U.S. 158 corridor for new mixed use 

and higher density development.  Property located within the 1 mile buffer of Core 

Village where county encouraging higher density housing mix. 

 

3. Motion for denial. 

 

Motion to deny Ordinance 2019-12-01/rezoning application (UDO 2019-10-24) to rezone 

properties from Highway Commercial (HC) to Village Residential as; 

 

- Comprehensive Plan Future Land Use Map shows the property designated as 

Mixed Use Employment; or    

- CAMA Land Use Plan Future Land Use Maps has property identified as 

Industrial. 

5.A.a

Packet Pg. 9

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

g
en

d
a 

S
u

m
m

ar
y 

S
h

ee
t 

O
rd

in
an

ce
 2

01
9-

12
-0

1 
K

ra
in

ia
k 

 (
25

94
 :

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 2

01
9-

12
-0

1 
R

ez
o

n
in

g
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

 f
o

r 
R

K
R

A
IN

 L
L

C
)



` 

 

 

 

STAFF REPORT 

 

 

UDO 2019-10-24 

 Zoning Map Amendment  
 

 

 

PROJECT INFORMATION 

 

 

File Reference:  UDO 2019-10-24 

Project Name; N/A 

PIN:     See attached list 

Applicant:   Robert Krainiak                                                                                      

Address:   105 Havenwood Dr. 

                                    Camden, NC 

 Phone:   (252) 599-7185 

 Email:     

Agent for Applicant:      Eastern Carolina  

    Engineering, Sean  

    Robey  

 Address:              

 Phone:             (252) 335-1888 

 Email:     

Current Owner of Record:  Applicant 

 

Meeting Dates: 

 

10/21/2019                    Neighborhood       

11/20/2019                         Planning Board 

 

 Application Received: 10/15/2019 

By:  Dave Parks, Permit Officer 

 

Application Fee paid:  $800.00 Check #34759 

 

Completeness of Application:  Application is 

generally complete 

 

Documents received upon filing of application 

or otherwise included: 

A. Rezoning Application  

B. Deed’s 

C. GIS Aerial, Current zoning, Comprehensive 

Plan Future Land Use, CAMA Future Land 

Use and Suitability Map, and Floodplain 

Maps 

D. Letter from County on capacity/availability 

of Water and Sewer 

E. Zoning Comparison HC and VR 

F. Summary of Neighborhood Meeting 

 

 

____________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

REQUEST:  Rezone approximately 25 acres (Lots 9-28 and a portion of 29 in Camden Business Park) 

from Highway Commercial (HC) to Village Residential (VR). 

 

From:   Highway Commercial (HC)  – Article 151.3.5.6 (Purpose Statement)  

 

The Highway Commercial district is applied to lots along the County’s major roadways (e.g., US 158, US 

17, NC 34, and NC 343) and is intended for automobile-oriented commercial development as well as large 

5.A.b

Packet Pg. 10

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 K

ra
in

ia
k 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 F
in

d
in

g
s 

 (
25

94
 :

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 2

01
9-

12
-0

1 
R

ez
o

n
in

g
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

 f
o

r 
R

K
R

A
IN

 L
L

C
)



` 

floorplate commercial uses and uses that require or generate truck traffic.  The district also accommodates 

agricultural and institutional uses as well as higher density residential uses with a special use permit. New 

development in the HC district is grouped and configured to ensure regular lateral vehicular and pedestrian 

access along major transportation routes as a means of establishing a well-connected transportation 

system.  New development is configured to maintain high visual quality along the major roadway, or is 

fully screened from view.  Sufficient spacing and screening is included along lot lines shared with adjacent 

residential zoning districts to ensure compatibility. New commercial and multi-family developments in 

the district are subject to the design standards in Article 151.5:  

Development Standards. 

 

 

To:  Village Residential (VR) – Article 151.3.5.6 (Purpose Statement) 

 

The Village Residential (VR) district is established to accommodate a wide range of residential and 

institutional use types at modest densities on lots within and adjacent to designated village centers.  The 

district allows duplexes, live/work units, single-family attached, and single-family detached dwellings, 

but does not allow mobile homes, manufactured homes, or conservation subdivisions.  As a means of 

creating compact, functional neighborhoods, the district also allows a wide variety of institutional uses, 

including community centers, day care, schools, assisted living, religious institutions, parks, and 

utilities.  Lots served by public sewer may have reduced minimum lot sizes and building height is 

measured from the base flood elevation.  District regulations are intended to support the County’s 

investment in infrastructure by encouraging the development of compact, vibrant neighborhoods with a 

variety of house sizes and types that are located in close proximity to complementary institutional uses. 

Low density development comprised of uniform building types or styles is discouraged.

____________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5.A.b

Packet Pg. 11

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 K

ra
in

ia
k 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 F
in

d
in

g
s 

 (
25

94
 :

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 2

01
9-

12
-0

1 
R

ez
o

n
in

g
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

 f
o

r 
R

K
R

A
IN

 L
L

C
)



` 

PROJECT LOCATION:

 

Vicinity Map:  Courthouse Township 

 

5.A.b

Packet Pg. 12

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 K

ra
in

ia
k 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 F
in

d
in

g
s 

 (
25

94
 :

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 2

01
9-

12
-0

1 
R

ez
o

n
in

g
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

 f
o

r 
R

K
R

A
IN

 L
L

C
)



` 

 

SITE DATA 

 

 

Lot size:   Lots 9 – 28 and a portion of lot 29 approximately 25 acres in Camden                              

                                                Business Park.                          

Flood Zone:   X 

Zoning District(s):  Highway Commercial (HC)  

Existing Land Uses:  Camden Business Park (33 lots) – Lot 33 is only developed.  Remaining  

    32 lots are vacant. 

 

Adjacent Zoning & Uses: 

 North South  East West 

Zoning  Rural Residential 

(RR)  

 Light Industrial 

(LI) 

 Highway 

Commercial (HC) 

Highway 

Commercial (HC)  

Use & size  Camden Crossing 

Subdivision 

Farmland  Farmland  Commercial 

Building/County 

Office’s 

 

Proposed Use(s):  Residential.    

 

Description/History of property:    Camden Business was recorded in June 2008 consisting of 33 

commercial lots.  Lot 33 was only lot developed as a strip mall, currently occupied by Camden County 

Library and a Martial Arts Studio.  Remaining lots went into foreclosure (except lots 7-10) and most of 

the remaining lots were purchased by Mr. Robert Krainiak.  Waterlines exists.   

  

      

 

ENVIRONMENTAL  ASSESSMENT 

 

Streams, Creeks, Major Ditches:     
Distance & description of nearest outfall:    Property seems to drain east to the railroad tracks then 

west out to Sawyer’s Creek.   Distance approximately 1 mile. 

. 

 

 

 

 

. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5.A.b

Packet Pg. 13

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 K

ra
in

ia
k 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 F
in

d
in

g
s 

 (
25

94
 :

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 2

01
9-

12
-0

1 
R

ez
o

n
in

g
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

 f
o

r 
R

K
R

A
IN

 L
L

C
)



` 

 

CAMA Land Suitability: 

 

5.A.b

Packet Pg. 14

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 K

ra
in

ia
k 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 F
in

d
in

g
s 

 (
25

94
 :

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 2

01
9-

12
-0

1 
R

ez
o

n
in

g
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

 f
o

r 
R

K
R

A
IN

 L
L

C
)



` 

Comprehensive Plan Future Land Use Map 

 

5.A.b

Packet Pg. 15

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 K

ra
in

ia
k 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 F
in

d
in

g
s 

 (
25

94
 :

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 2

01
9-

12
-0

1 
R

ez
o

n
in

g
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

 f
o

r 
R

K
R

A
IN

 L
L

C
)



` 

 

CAMA Future Land Use Map 

 

 

5.A.b

Packet Pg. 16

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 K

ra
in

ia
k 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 F
in

d
in

g
s 

 (
25

94
 :

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 2

01
9-

12
-0

1 
R

ez
o

n
in

g
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

 f
o

r 
R

K
R

A
IN

 L
L

C
)



` 

 

Zoning Map: 

 

 
 

5.A.b

Packet Pg. 17

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 K

ra
in

ia
k 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 F
in

d
in

g
s 

 (
25

94
 :

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 2

01
9-

12
-0

1 
R

ez
o

n
in

g
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

 f
o

r 
R

K
R

A
IN

 L
L

C
)



` 

 

Floodplain Map 

 

5.A.b

Packet Pg. 18

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 K

ra
in

ia
k 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 F
in

d
in

g
s 

 (
25

94
 :

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 2

01
9-

12
-0

1 
R

ez
o

n
in

g
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

 f
o

r 
R

K
R

A
IN

 L
L

C
)



` 

INFRASTRUCTURE & COMMUNITY FACILITIES 

 

Water Waterlines exist within the development. 

 

Sewer              Sewer lines located adjacent to property along U.S 158. 

 

Fire District   South Camden. 

 

Schools              Proposed zoning will have an impact on Schools.     

 

Traffic   Traffic Impact Analysis required at development stage.  

 

PLANS CONSISTENCY 

 

CAMA Land Use Plan Policies & Objectives: 

 

 Consistent ☐  Inconsistent ☒ 

 

The CAMA Land Use Plan was adopted by the Camden County Board of Commissioners on April 4, 

2005.   

 

The proposed zoning change is inconsistent in that the Future Land Use Maps has property identified as 

Industrial.   

 

2035 Comprehensive Plan 

 

 Consistent ☒  Inconsistent ☒ 

   
The proposed zoning change is inconsistent and consistent with Comprehensive Plan (Adopted 2012).  

 

Inconsistent as Future Land Use Map shows the property designated as Mixed Use Employment which 

based on the description (see Attachment A) prohibits residential development.    

 

Consistent in that based on the Vision Statement new development will be focused within targeted core 

areas, the Camden Village Core Action Strategies promotes the 158 corridor for new mixed use and 

higher density development, and Priority Action item 5 promotes updating UDO based on key 

amendments listed.   UDO update approved on February 4, 2019.  (see Attachment B). 

 

PLANS CONSISTENCY – cont. 

 

Comprehensive Transportation Plan  

 

 Consistent ☒  Inconsistent ☐ 

 

  

 Other Plans officially adopted by the Board of Commissioners:  N/A 

5.A.b

Packet Pg. 19

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 K

ra
in

ia
k 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 F
in

d
in

g
s 

 (
25

94
 :

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 2

01
9-

12
-0

1 
R

ez
o

n
in

g
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

 f
o

r 
R

K
R

A
IN

 L
L

C
)



` 

 

FINDINGS REGARDING ADDITIONAL REQUIREMENTS: 

 

Yes ☒ No ☐ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Yes ☒ No ☐ 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Yes ☐ No ☒ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Will the proposed zoning change enhance the public health, safety or 

welfare? 

 

Reasoning:      The proposed zoning change will enhance the public 

health, safety, or welfare as it will allow for higher density residential uses 

to support commercial uses nearby, with the availability of water and 

sewer.  Sewer runs along U.S. 158.   

 

 

 

Is the entire range of  permitted uses in the requested classification 

more appropriate than the range of uses in the existing classification? 

 

Reasoning:   The range of uses in the new Village Residential zoning 

district allows for limited commercial along with a higher density 

residential development where water and sewer are available.  Attached is 

letter from Camden Water & Sewer stating that water and sewer is 

avaialble.   

 

The 2035 Comprehensive  Plan overall strategy is to focus commercial 

growth in and around the village centers and higher density residential 

thus  maintaining the rural character of the lands away from the villages.   

 

 

For proposals to re-zone to non-residential districts along major 

arterial roads:    

 

 

 

Is this an expansion of an adjacent zoning district of the same 

classification?   New Zoning Classification 

 

Reasoning:     
 

 

What extraordinary showing of public need or demand is met 

by this application?   

 

Reasoning:  

 

 

 

 

5.A.b

Packet Pg. 20

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 K

ra
in

ia
k 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 F
in

d
in

g
s 

 (
25

94
 :

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 2

01
9-

12
-0

1 
R

ez
o

n
in

g
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

 f
o

r 
R

K
R

A
IN

 L
L

C
)



` 

 

 

 

 

Yes ☐ No ☒ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Yes ☐ No ☒ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Yes ☒ No ☐ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Yes ☒ No ☒ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Will the request, as proposed cause serious noise, odors, light, activity, 

or unusual disturbances? 

 

 

Reasoning:   In staffs opinion, the uses in the requested zoning 

classification will not cause serious noise, odors, light, activity, or unusual 

disturbances.  

 

 

Does the request impact any CAMA Areas of Environmental 

Concern? 

 

 

Reasoning:  Property is outside any CAMA Areas of Environmental 

Concern. 

 

 

 

Does the county need more land in the zoning class requested? 

 

 

Reasoning:    This is a new zoning classification to allow for higher 

development in locations in and around village centers. 

 

 

 

Is there other land in the county that would be more appropriate for 

the proposed uses? 

 

 

Reasoning:    Based on the Village Residential (VR) Purpose Statement 

listed in the UDO, this and other areas are appropriate for the proposed 

uses.  

5.A.b

Packet Pg. 21

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 K

ra
in

ia
k 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 F
in

d
in

g
s 

 (
25

94
 :

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 2

01
9-

12
-0

1 
R

ez
o

n
in

g
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

 f
o

r 
R

K
R

A
IN

 L
L

C
)



` 

Yes ☐ No ☒ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Yes ☐ No ☒ 

Will not exceed the county’s ability to provide public facilities: 

 

The proposed zoning uses will have an impact on all public facilities, how 

much and what facilities will be determined at the development of the 

property. 

 

Schools –     

 

Fire and Rescue –   

 

Law Enforcement –   

 

Parks & Recreation –   

 

Traffic Circulation or Parking –  

 

Other County Facilities –  

 

 

 

Is This A Small Scale “Spot” Rezoning Request Requiring Evaluation 

Of Community Benefits?

 

 

If Yes (regarding small scale spot rezoning) – Applicants Reasoning: 

 

 

 

 Personal Benefits/Impact Community Benefits/Impact 
 

With rezoning 

 

 

  
 

  

 

Without rezoning 

 

 

    

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5.A.b

Packet Pg. 22

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 K

ra
in

ia
k 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 F
in

d
in

g
s 

 (
25

94
 :

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 2

01
9-

12
-0

1 
R

ez
o

n
in

g
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

 f
o

r 
R

K
R

A
IN

 L
L

C
)



` 

 

STAFF COMMENTARY:    

 

Planning Staff makes the following recommendations for either approval or denial: 

 

Consistency Statement:   

 

- The proposed zoning change is inconsistent with the 2005 CAMA Land Use Plan in that the 

CAMA Future Land Use Maps has property identified as Industrial; also 

 

- The proposed zoning change is inconsistent and consistent with Comprehensive Plan (Adopted 

2012); 

 

Inconsistent as Future Land Use Map shows the property designated as Mixed Use Employment which 

based on the description (see Attachment A) prohibits residential development.    

 

Consistent as based on the Vision Statement new development will be focused within targeted core 

areas and the Camden Village Core Area Action Strategies promotes the 158 corridor for new mixed use 

and higher density development.  Property located within the 1 mile buffer of Core Village where 

county encouraging higher density housing mix.    

 

 

Application: 

 

Motion for approval:  Recommend approval of proposed rezoning application (UDO 2019-10-24) to 

rezone properties from Highway Commercial (HC) to Village Residential as rezoning request is 

consistent with the Comprehensive Plan (Adopted 2012) as based on the Vision Statement new 

development will be focused within targeted core areas and the Camden Village Core Area Action 

Strategies promotes the U.S. 158 corridor for new mixed use and higher density development.  Property 

located within the 1 mile buffer of Core Village where county encouraging higher density housing mix.    

.   

 

Motion for denial:   Recommend denial of Rezoning Application (UDO 2019-10-24) to rezone property 

from Highway Commercial (HC) to Village Residential (VR) as rezoning request is inconsistent with   

the CAMA Land Use Plan in that the CAMA Future Land Use Maps has property identified as 

Industrial.   

 

If recommendation is for approval need the following motion: 

 

Motion to amend Comprehensive Plan Future Land Use Map for the 24 acres from Mixed-Use 

Employment to Village Mixed Use.   

 

 

 

 

 

5.A.b

Packet Pg. 23

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 K

ra
in

ia
k 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 F
in

d
in

g
s 

 (
25

94
 :

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 2

01
9-

12
-0

1 
R

ez
o

n
in

g
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

 f
o

r 
R

K
R

A
IN

 L
L

C
)



` 

 

At their November 20, 2019 meeting, the Planning Board after discussion with staff and applicant 

made the following motions: 

 

1.  Motion made to approve Consistency Statement as follows:  

 

- The proposed zoning change is inconsistent with the 2005 CAMA Land Use Plan in that the 

CAMA Future Land Use Maps has property identified as Industrial; also 

 

- The proposed zoning change is inconsistent and consistent with Comprehensive Plan (Adopted 

2012); 

 

Inconsistent as Future Land Use Map shows the property designated as Mixed Use Employment which 

based on the description (see Attachment A) prohibits residential development.    

 

Consistent as based on the Vision Statement new development will be focused within targeted core 

areas and the Camden Village Core Area Action Strategies promotes the 158 corridor for new mixed use 

and higher density development.  Property located within the 1 mile buffer of Core Village where 

county encouraging higher density housing mix.    

 

2. Motion made to recommend approval of proposed rezoning application (UDO 2019-10-24) to 

rezone properties from Highway Commercial (HC) to Village Residential as rezoning request is 

consistent with the Comprehensive Plan (Adopted 2012) as based on the Vision Statement new 

development will be focused within targeted core areas and the Camden Village Core Area 

Action Strategies promotes the U.S. 158 corridor for new mixed use and higher density 

development.  Property located within the 1 mile buffer of Core Village where county 

encouraging higher density housing mix.     

 

3. Motion made Motion to amend Comprehensive Plan Future Land Use Map for the 24 acres from 

Mixed-Use Employment to Village Mixed Use.   

 

5.A.b

Packet Pg. 24

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 K

ra
in

ia
k 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 F
in

d
in

g
s 

 (
25

94
 :

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 2

01
9-

12
-0

1 
R

ez
o

n
in

g
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

 f
o

r 
R

K
R

A
IN

 L
L

C
)



5.A.c

Packet Pg. 25

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

u
p

p
o

rt
in

g
 d

o
cu

m
en

ts
  (

25
94

 :
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 2
01

9-
12

-0
1 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 f

o
r 

R
K

R
A

IN
 L

L
C

)



5.A.c

Packet Pg. 26

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

u
p

p
o

rt
in

g
 d

o
cu

m
en

ts
  (

25
94

 :
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 2
01

9-
12

-0
1 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 f

o
r 

R
K

R
A

IN
 L

L
C

)



5.A.c

Packet Pg. 27

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

u
p

p
o

rt
in

g
 d

o
cu

m
en

ts
  (

25
94

 :
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 2
01

9-
12

-0
1 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 f

o
r 

R
K

R
A

IN
 L

L
C

)



5.A.c

Packet Pg. 28

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

u
p

p
o

rt
in

g
 d

o
cu

m
en

ts
  (

25
94

 :
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 2
01

9-
12

-0
1 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 f

o
r 

R
K

R
A

IN
 L

L
C

)



5.A.c

Packet Pg. 29

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

u
p

p
o

rt
in

g
 d

o
cu

m
en

ts
  (

25
94

 :
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 2
01

9-
12

-0
1 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 f

o
r 

R
K

R
A

IN
 L

L
C

)



5.A.c

Packet Pg. 30

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

u
p

p
o

rt
in

g
 d

o
cu

m
en

ts
  (

25
94

 :
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 2
01

9-
12

-0
1 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 f

o
r 

R
K

R
A

IN
 L

L
C

)



5.A.c

Packet Pg. 31

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

u
p

p
o

rt
in

g
 d

o
cu

m
en

ts
  (

25
94

 :
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 2
01

9-
12

-0
1 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 f

o
r 

R
K

R
A

IN
 L

L
C

)



5.A.c

Packet Pg. 32

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

u
p

p
o

rt
in

g
 d

o
cu

m
en

ts
  (

25
94

 :
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 2
01

9-
12

-0
1 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 f

o
r 

R
K

R
A

IN
 L

L
C

)



5.A.c

Packet Pg. 33

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

u
p

p
o

rt
in

g
 d

o
cu

m
en

ts
  (

25
94

 :
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 2
01

9-
12

-0
1 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 f

o
r 

R
K

R
A

IN
 L

L
C

)



5.A.c

Packet Pg. 34

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

u
p

p
o

rt
in

g
 d

o
cu

m
en

ts
  (

25
94

 :
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 2
01

9-
12

-0
1 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 f

o
r 

R
K

R
A

IN
 L

L
C

)



5.A.c

Packet Pg. 35

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

u
p

p
o

rt
in

g
 d

o
cu

m
en

ts
  (

25
94

 :
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 2
01

9-
12

-0
1 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 f

o
r 

R
K

R
A

IN
 L

L
C

)



5.A.c

Packet Pg. 36

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

u
p

p
o

rt
in

g
 d

o
cu

m
en

ts
  (

25
94

 :
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 2
01

9-
12

-0
1 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 f

o
r 

R
K

R
A

IN
 L

L
C

)



5.A.c

Packet Pg. 37

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

u
p

p
o

rt
in

g
 d

o
cu

m
en

ts
  (

25
94

 :
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 2
01

9-
12

-0
1 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 f

o
r 

R
K

R
A

IN
 L

L
C

)



5.A.c

Packet Pg. 38

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

u
p

p
o

rt
in

g
 d

o
cu

m
en

ts
  (

25
94

 :
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 2
01

9-
12

-0
1 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 f

o
r 

R
K

R
A

IN
 L

L
C

)



5.A.c

Packet Pg. 39

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

u
p

p
o

rt
in

g
 d

o
cu

m
en

ts
  (

25
94

 :
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 2
01

9-
12

-0
1 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 f

o
r 

R
K

R
A

IN
 L

L
C

)



5.A.c

Packet Pg. 40

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

u
p

p
o

rt
in

g
 d

o
cu

m
en

ts
  (

25
94

 :
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 2
01

9-
12

-0
1 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 f

o
r 

R
K

R
A

IN
 L

L
C

)



5.A.c

Packet Pg. 41

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

u
p

p
o

rt
in

g
 d

o
cu

m
en

ts
  (

25
94

 :
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 2
01

9-
12

-0
1 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 f

o
r 

R
K

R
A

IN
 L

L
C

)



5.A.c

Packet Pg. 42

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

u
p

p
o

rt
in

g
 d

o
cu

m
en

ts
  (

25
94

 :
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 2
01

9-
12

-0
1 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 f

o
r 

R
K

R
A

IN
 L

L
C

)



 

Ordinance No. 2019-12-01 

 

An Ordinance 

Amending the Camden County  

Zoning Map 

Camden County, North Carolina 

 

 

 

Article I: Purpose 

 

The purpose of this Ordinance is to amend the Zoning Map of Camden County, North 

Carolina, which was originally adopted by the County Commissioners on December 20, 

1993, and subsequently amended. 

  

Article II. Amendment to Zoning Map  
 

The Official Zoning Map of Camden County, North Carolina, which was adopted on 

December 20, 1993, and subsequently amended, is hereby amended as follows: 

 

The properties currently shown in the Camden County Tax Assessor’s Office as 

PIN’s  02-8945-00-09-6923, 02-8946-00-00-4274, 02-8945-00-09-4898, 02-8946-

00-00-3266, 02-8945-00-09-3830, 02-8946-00-00-2144, 02-8945-00-09-9853, 02-

8945-00-09-2926, 02-8945-00-09-8967, 02-8946-00-10-2095, 02-8946-00-00-

8019, 02-8946-00-10-1220, 02-8946-00-00-7149, 02-8946-00-10-0450, 02-8946-

00-00-6481, 02-8946-00-10-05334, 02-89446-00-00-65342 are hereby re-zoned 

from Highway Commercial (HC) to Village Residential.   

 

Article III. Penalty 

 

1. Violations of the provision of this Ordinance or failure to comply with any of its  

Requirements, including violations of any conditions and safeguards established 

in connection with grants of variances or Special Use or Conditional Use Permits, 

shall constitute a misdemeanor, punishable by a fine of up to five-hundred ($500) 

dollars or a maximum thirty (30) days imprisonment as provided in G. S. 14-4. 

 

2. Any act constituting a violation of the provisions of this Ordinance or a failure to  

comply with any of its requirements, including violations of any conditions and 

safeguards established in connection with the grants of variances or Special Use 

or Conditional Use Permits, shall also subject the offender to a civil penalty of 

one-hundred ($100) dollars for each day the violation continues.  If the offender 

fails to pay the penalty within ten (10) days after being cited for a violation, the 

penalty may be recovered by the county in a civil action in the nature of debt.  A 

civil penalty may not be appealed to the Board of Adjustment if the offender was 

5.A.d

Packet Pg. 43

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
9-

12
-0

1 
- 

O
rd

in
an

ce
 A

m
en

d
in

g
 t

h
e 

O
ff

ic
ia

l Z
o

n
in

g
 M

ap
 -

 K
ra

in
ia

k 
 (

25
94

 :
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 2
01

9-
12

-0
1 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 f

o
r



 

sent a final notice of violation in accordance with Article 151.568 and did not take 

an appeal to the Board of Adjustment within the prescribed time. 

 

3. This Ordinance may also be enforced by any appropriate equitable action. 

 

4. Each day that any violation continues after notification by the administrator that  

such violation exists shall be considered a separate offense for purposes of the 

penalties and remedies specified in this section. 

 

5. Any one, all or any combination of the foregoing penalties and remedies may be  

used to enforce this Ordinance. 

            

 

Article IV. Severability 
 

If any language in this Ordinance is found to be invalid by a court of competent 

jurisdiction or other entity having such legal authority, then only the specific language 

held to be invalid shall be affected and all other language shall be in full force and effect. 

 

 

Article V. Effective Date 

 

This Ordinance is effective upon adoption. 

 

Adopted by the Board of Commissioners for the County of Camden this       day of        ,                                

2019. 

 

 

      County of Camden 

    

      _____________________________ 

      Tom White, Chairman 

      Camden County Board of Commissioners 

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

____________________________ 

Karen Davis 

Clerk to the Board       (SEAL) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5.A.d

Packet Pg. 44

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
9-

12
-0

1 
- 

O
rd

in
an

ce
 A

m
en

d
in

g
 t

h
e 

O
ff

ic
ia

l Z
o

n
in

g
 M

ap
 -

 K
ra

in
ia

k 
 (

25
94

 :
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 2
01

9-
12

-0
1 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 f

o
r



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Old Business 

 

Item Number: 6.A 

Meeting Date:   January 06, 2020 
 

Submitted By: Ken Bowman, 

 Administration 

 Prepared by: Karen Davis 

 
Item Title   Camden Plantation 

 

Attachments: Agenda Summary_Camden Plantation (DOCX) 

Public Notice Daily Advance Camden County (DOC) 

Camden Purchase Agreement for Commercial 

Property 10-29-19 signed 

by buyer (PDF) 

 

Summary: 

Public Hearing was held on December 2, 2019.  The Board voted to place this item on the 

January 6, 2020 agenda.  Summary, supporting documentation and recommendation attached. 

6.A

Packet Pg. 45



 

 

Camden County Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 
 

 

Meeting Date:   January 6, 2020 
 

Attachments:   Land Sale Agreement and Map 

  

Submitted By: Ken Bowman, County Manager 
 

ITEM TITLE:    

Land Sale Agreement 

 

SUMMARY: 
 

The applicant’s stated purpose for the project is to construct an economically viable, 
residential and commercial mixed-use development to serve Camden County, North 
Carolina, along the U.S. Route 17 corridor that satisfies all municipal development 
requirements for Smart Growth and contributes to the tax base of the County. 
 
As proposed, Camden Plantation will be developed in four phases involving the 
construction of approximately 1,750 new residential units, associated roads and 
utilities infrastructure, a commercial center with a minimum of 160,000 square feet 
of retail/commercial/office space, an 18-hole golf course, and other recreational 
amenities (tennis, swimming, trail and park system). Anticipated services to be 
provided include a grocery store and complimentary retail business, medical/dental 
offices, and general office space. The project will impact a total of 4,562 linear feet of 
waters of the United States and 28.90 acres of non-tidal wetlands, including the 
permanent loss of 27.96 acres of palustrine forested (PFO) wetlands and the 
conversion of 0.94 acres of PFO wetlands to palustrine emergent (PEM) wetlands. 
 
A number of alternatives were identified and evaluated by the applicant during the 
pre-application process including consideration of other properties, as well as the 
adjustment of onsite configurations resulting in the avoidance of an additional 4.43 
acres of permanent impacts to wetlands.  
 
The applicant proposes to offset the permanent impacts to approximately 27.96 
acres of palustrine forested wetlands (PFO) and conversion impacts to 
approximately 0.94 acres of PFO to palustrine emergent wetlands (PEM) through 
the purchase of non-tidal wetland credits from an approved mitigation bank at a 
ratio of 2:1 for PFO, and 1:1 for conversion from PFO to PEM. Additionally, the 
applicant proposes to preserve in perpetuity the remaining 17.24 acres of PFO 
wetlands on the property through the recordation of deed instruments. 
 

6.A.a

Packet Pg. 46

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

g
en

d
a 

S
u

m
m

ar
y_

C
am

d
en

 P
la

n
ta

ti
o

n
  (

25
96

 :
 C

am
d

en
 P

la
n

ta
ti

o
n

, I
n

c.
 L

an
d

 S
al

e 
A

g
re

em
en

t 
- 

K
en

 B
o

w
m

an
)



In light of the fact that Camden Plantation has been turned down by the Army Corps 
of Engineers to mitigate approximately 28 acres, as mentioned above, they are 
approaching the County in order to purchase up to 15 acres for the development of 
the commercial / retail segment of this planned development.  If approved the 
master plan will have to be modified and resubmitted for approval. 
 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

Pursuant to direction from the Camden County Commissioners, staff has negotiated 
an agreement by and between Camden County, North Carolina ("Seller") and 
Camden Plantation Properties, Inc. or assigns ("Buyer") to purchase up to 15 acres 
of county owned property at the intersection of US 17 and McPherson road for the 
amount of $10,000 per acre. 
 
The Board of Commissioners has determined the fair market value of the property is 
twenty thousand dollars ($20,000) per acre. The proposed consideration to be 
received by the County is ten thousand dollars ($10,000) per acre up to one 
hundred fifty thousand dollars ($150,000) cash, plus additional consideration in the 
form of infrastructure improvement.   
 
The infrastructure improvement is development of a road between the subject 
property and the remainder the county’s property to the east.  The improvement is 
estimated to exceed $150,000 and will substantially increase the value of the 
surrounding county owned property.  Improvement will commence within 1 year 
after the later of (i) the date of Closing or (ii) the date upon which Buyer receives all 
necessary approvals for development of the Property as provided for by law, and 
shall thereafter diligently pursue completion of such road. 
 
 
Recommend: Approval   
 

6.A.a

Packet Pg. 47

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

g
en

d
a 

S
u

m
m

ar
y_

C
am

d
en

 P
la

n
ta

ti
o

n
  (

25
96

 :
 C

am
d

en
 P

la
n

ta
ti

o
n

, I
n

c.
 L

an
d

 S
al

e 
A

g
re

em
en

t 
- 

K
en

 B
o

w
m

an
)



                                                                                                 FAX COVER SHEET 

 

County of Camden 

P.O. Box 190 

117 North 343 

Camden, NC 27921 

252-338-1919 (Voice) 

252-333-1603 (FAX) 

 

SEND TO:                                                      FROM: Dan Porter/Planning Department 

                                                                                     Director 

 

The Daily Advance 

 

 

FAX NO:  252-335-1968                              Date:   11/19/2019 

 

URGENT ___X___                      Reply ASAP_____      Please Comment _______ 

 

Review _______ 

 

RE:  Account #2100210 

 

Number of Pages:   2 

 

Please publish the following Public Notice in the Friday, November 22, 2019 edition 

of the Daily Advance. 

 

Any questions, please call Dan Porter at 338-1919 ext. 263. 

 

1.  Pursuant to NC General Statue 158-7.1(d) notice is hereby given Camden County 

intends to convey the following described property in fee simple to Camden Plantation 

Properties as the result of a privately negotiated sale for the purposes of aiding and 

encouraging a commercial enterprise within Camden County: 

 

“Up to 15 acres of County owned property located at the intersection of McPherson Road 

and U.S. Highway 17 North. 

 

Prior to final determination of this conveyance, the Camden County Board of 

Commissioners will conduct a public hearing in the Historic Camden County Courthouse 

to receive public comments, at 10:00 A.M., during the regularly scheduled Board of 

Commissioners meeting on Monday, December 2, 2019. 

 

The Board of Commissioners has determined the fair market value of the property is 

twenty thousand dollars ($20,000) per acre. The proposed consideration to be received by 

the County is ten thousand dollars ($10,000) per acre up to one hundred fifty thousand 

6.A.b

Packet Pg. 48

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

u
b

lic
 N

o
ti

ce
 D

ai
ly

 A
d

va
n

ce
 C

am
d

en
 C

o
u

n
ty

  (
25

96
 :

 C
am

d
en

 P
la

n
ta

ti
o

n
, I

n
c.

 L
an

d
 S

al
e 

A
g

re
em

en
t 

- 
K

en
 B

o
w

m
an

)



dollars ($150,000) cash, plus additional consideration in the form of infrastructure 

improvement.   

 

The infrastructure improvement is development of a road between the subject property 

and the remainder the county’s property to the east.  The improvement is estimated to 

exceed $150,000 and will substantially increase the value of the surrounding county 

owned property.  Improvement will commence within 1 year after the later of (i) the date 

of Closing or (ii) the date upon which Buyer receives all necessary approvals for 

development of the Property as provided for by law, and shall thereafter diligently pursue 

completion of such road. 

     

It is currently the intention of the Board of Commissioners to approve this conveyance on 

the terms stated herein. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

6.A.b

Packet Pg. 49

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

u
b

lic
 N

o
ti

ce
 D

ai
ly

 A
d

va
n

ce
 C

am
d

en
 C

o
u

n
ty

  (
25

96
 :

 C
am

d
en

 P
la

n
ta

ti
o

n
, I

n
c.

 L
an

d
 S

al
e 

A
g

re
em

en
t 

- 
K

en
 B

o
w

m
an

)



LAND SALE AGREEMENT

THIS AGREEMENT (the "Agreement") is made as of October 29, 2019, by and 
between Camden County, North Carolina ("Seller") and Camden Plantation 
Properties, Inc. or assigns ("Buyer").

In consideration of Ten Thousand and 00/100 Dollars ($10,000.00) (the 
"Deposit"), to be paid by Buyer to Seller within two business days after 
full execution, approval, and delivery of this Agreement (the "Effective 
Date"), the parties agree as follows:

1. Purchase.  Seller shall sell and Buyer shall purchase up to 15 acres 
of the land owned by Seller located in Camden County, North Carolina (the 
"Locality") and described on Exhibit A. (the "Property").  The exact 
configuration and legal description for the Property shall be determined 
prior to Closing.  The Property shall include all easements, rights of 
way, appurtenances, and privileges associated with the Property; any 
permits, approvals, and prepaid fees associated with the Property; and all 
of Seller's rights, if any, in any plats, plans, and surveys related to 
each Section.

2. Purchase Price.  The purchase price of the Property (the "Purchase 
Price") shall be Ten Thousand and 00/100 Dollars ($10,000.00), per acre, 
payable (less the Deposit and any applicable prorations) at Closing. 

3. Closing And Prorations.  Closing on the Property ("Closing") shall be 
held within forty five (45) days after Buyer gives notice to Seller that 
the subdivision plat for the Property is ready for recordation and all 
conditions are satisfied (the "Closing Date").  Closing shall be at 
Buyer’s attorney’s office or as mutually agreed by the parties.  All real 
estate taxes and other items of income or expense for the Property shall 
be prorated as of the Closing Date.  Seller shall pay all costs of 
preparing the Deed, any grantor's tax, its own attorney's fees, any roll-
back or similar taxes for the Property relating to any period prior to 
Closing, and other costs normally paid by the seller in similar 
transactions.  Buyer shall pay all other costs and taxes for recording the 
Deed, any mortgage securing any loan, its own attorney's fees and other 
costs and expenses normally paid by the buyer in similar transactions.  
Possession shall be delivered at Closing.  

4. Deposit.  Seller shall hold the Deposit in a federally insured 
account pending Closing.  The Deposit shall be applied to the Purchase 
Price at Closing.  If Buyer terminates this Agreement due to a contingency 
or Seller's default, the Deposit shall be immediately paid to Buyer.  If 
Seller terminates this Agreement due to Buyer's default, the Deposit shall 
be retained by Seller.

5. Conditions to Closing.  Buyer's obligations are contingent on the 
conditions below.  Buyer may waive any condition.  If any condition is not 
satisfied by Closing or any other indicated date, Buyer may delay Closing 
until the condition is satisfied or terminate this Agreement.

6.A.c

Packet Pg. 50

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

am
d

en
 P

u
rc

h
as

e 
A

g
re

em
en

t 
fo

r 
C

o
m

m
er

ci
al

 P
ro

p
er

ty
 1

0-
29

-1
9 

si
g

n
ed

 b
y 

b
u

ye
r 

 (
25

96
 :

 C
am

d
en

 P
la

n
ta

ti
o

n
, I

n
c.

 L
an

d
 S

al
e



a. Title.  Buyer shall have received a commitment (the "Title 
Commitment") from a title company of Buyer's choice, insuring good 
and marketable title to the Property to the limits selected by 
Buyer, at standard rates, free of all exceptions, except for (A) the 
lien for real estate taxes not yet due and payable, and (B) other 
title matters approved in writing by Buyer (the "Permitted 
Exceptions").  The Title Commitment shall establish to Buyer's 
reasonable satisfaction the legal description and acreage of the 
Property, not contain an exception to survey, and include such 
endorsements as Buyer deems appropriate, including access to public 
road.  All conditions under the Title Commitment shall have been 
satisfied and the Title Commitment shall be in full effect for the 
applicable Section at each Closing.  Buyer shall order the Title 
Commitment within thirty days after execution of this Agreement and 
delivery of all items by Seller and shall use reasonable efforts to 
satisfy the Title Commitment requirements.

b. Due Diligence.  For a period of 180 days after the Effective Date 
(the "Due Diligence Period"), Buyer may conduct a due diligence 
study of the Property (the "Due Diligence Study") which may include 
investigation and testing of such matters as Buyer deems material to 
the value of the Property and its suitability for Buyer's intended 
use(s), including without limitation, soil borings, wetlands 
delineations, environmental tests and reports and other analyses and 
tests which Buyer deems appropriate. Buyer and its agents and 
contractors may enter the Property at any time prior to Closing to 
inspect the Property and conduct tests.  All third-party reports and 
results of due diligence study as it relates to the physical 
condition and title to the Property will be made available to the 
seller upon written request. Buyer may terminate this Agreement by 
giving Seller notice prior to the end of the Due Diligence Period if 
Buyer is not satisfied, in its sole discretion, with the results of 
the Due Diligence Study.

c. Condemnation.  Seller shall not have received any notice of a 
pending or contemplated condemnation affecting any of the Property.  
If prior to Closing, any of the Property is condemned or proposed to 
be condemned, Seller shall promptly notify Buyer, and Buyer may (i) 
close and receive the condemnation proceeds, or (ii) close with an 
equitable reduction in the Purchase Price, or (iii) terminate this 
Agreement.

d. Governmental issues.  No moratoria shall be in effect which would 
materially affect the development of the Property or construction of 
intended improvements on the Property, and no agreement with the 
Locality for restrictions, cash proffers, or other payments shall 
apply to the Property, except as approved in writing by Buyer.

e. Representations, warranties, and obligations.  All of the 
representations and warranties of Seller in this Agreement shall be 
true and correct in all material respects, and Seller shall have 

6.A.c

Packet Pg. 51

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

am
d

en
 P

u
rc

h
as

e 
A

g
re

em
en

t 
fo

r 
C

o
m

m
er

ci
al

 P
ro

p
er

ty
 1

0-
29

-1
9 

si
g

n
ed

 b
y 

b
u

ye
r 

 (
25

96
 :

 C
am

d
en

 P
la

n
ta

ti
o

n
, I

n
c.

 L
an

d
 S

al
e



fully and timely performed all of Seller's obligations under this 
Agreement up to the date of each Closing.

f. Wetlands.  Buyer shall have received an acceptable wetlands 
determination and approval of any wetlands impacts for the Property, 
subject only to terms and conditions approved in writing by Buyer.

g. Utilities.  Public Water utilities for the development, 
construction, and occupancy of the Property shall be available at 
the Property in sufficient capacities to serve the Property as it is 
to be developed for its intended use.

h. Subdivision.  Buyer shall have obtained an approved subdivision plat 
for the Property, and all required approvals from the Locality and 
any other required authority, and satisfaction of all conditions or 
contingencies for the immediate recordation of the subdivision plat, 
subject only to terms and conditions approved in writing by Buyer.

i. Approvals.  This Agreement shall have been approved by all necessary 
authorities for Seller to be able to properly convey the Property.

j. Development of Property.  Buyer shall have received all approvals 
necessary to develop the Property in the manner intended by Buyer, 
subject only to terms and conditions acceptable to Buyer and Seller.  
Such approvals shall include, without limitation, approval of any 
master plan, construction plans, subdivision plats, conceptual plans 
and any other plans necessary to develop the Property as intended.

k. Development of Adjacent Property.  Buyer shall have received all 
approvals necessary to develop the property owned by Buyer in the 
development known as Camden Plantation located near the Property 
(the "Buyer's Property") in the manner intended by Buyer, subject 
only to terms and conditions acceptable to Buyer and Seller.  Such 
approvals shall include, without limitation, approval of a revised 
master plan, construction plans, subdivision plats, conceptual plans 
and any other plans necessary to develop the Buyer's Property as 
intended.

l. Modification and Extension of Development Agreement.  The 
Development Agreement filed in Camden County with the Recorder of 
Deeds in Book 292, Page 624 has been extended and modified to 
acknowledge the addition of portions of the Property and the revised 
master plan, among other things, with such extension and 
modification subject only to terms and conditions acceptable to 
Buyer and Seller.

6. Seller's Obligations.  In addition to its other obligations, Seller 
shall do the following:

a. Seller shall deliver to Buyer within five business days after 
request, at no cost to Buyer, copies of all documents and 

6.A.c

Packet Pg. 52

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

am
d

en
 P

u
rc

h
as

e 
A

g
re

em
en

t 
fo

r 
C

o
m

m
er

ci
al

 P
ro

p
er

ty
 1

0-
29

-1
9 

si
g

n
ed

 b
y 

b
u

ye
r 

 (
25

96
 :

 C
am

d
en

 P
la

n
ta

ti
o

n
, I

n
c.

 L
an

d
 S

al
e



information relating to the Property which Buyer requests, to the 
extent in the possession of or reasonably available to Seller.

b. Seller shall provide Buyer everything required by the Title Company 
to issue a title policy at each Closing subject only to the 
Permitted Exceptions.

c. At Closing, Seller shall deliver to Buyer a properly executed 
General Warranty Deed with English Covenants of Title conveying good 
and marketable title to the Property, subject only to the Permitted 
Exceptions.

d. Seller shall use its best efforts to cause all conditions of Closing 
within its control to be promptly satisfied, including cooperating 
in filing any applications or requests for approval in connection 
with Buyer's Due Diligence Study and other conditions of Closing.

7. Seller's Representations.  Seller represents and warrants to Buyer as 
follows:

a. Seller is the owner of good and marketable title to the Property, 
subject only to utility easements and other matters that do not 
adversely and materially affect the use and development of the 
Property for its intended purpose.

b. The Property is not subject to a property owners or similar 
association or to a special tax district other than the South Mills 
Volunteer Fire District Tax.

c. No roll-back or similar taxes will be payable in connection with the 
Property relating to any period in which Seller owned the Property.

d. Seller is not aware of and has received no notice of any violation 
of any environmental law in connection with the Property. To the 
best of Seller's knowledge, the Property has not been used to 
generate, manufacture, refine, transport, treat, store, handle, 
dispose, transfer, produce or process any hazardous substance.

e. Seller is not a "foreign person," as defined in Section 1445 of the 
Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

f. No proffers, impact fees, tap fees, or other similar fees or amounts 
are currently payable in connection with the Property.

8. Risk Of Loss.  Seller shall bear all risk of loss to the Property 
until Closing.

9. Commissions.  Neither party has dealt with any agent or broker in 
bringing about this Agreement.  Each party shall indemnify and hold the 
other harmless from all claims of other agents or brokers resulting from 
its having worked through such other agents or brokers.

6.A.c

Packet Pg. 53

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

am
d

en
 P

u
rc

h
as

e 
A

g
re

em
en

t 
fo

r 
C

o
m

m
er

ci
al

 P
ro

p
er

ty
 1

0-
29

-1
9 

si
g

n
ed

 b
y 

b
u

ye
r 

 (
25

96
 :

 C
am

d
en

 P
la

n
ta

ti
o

n
, I

n
c.

 L
an

d
 S

al
e



10. Default.  Buyer shall not be in default unless it fails to perform 
within ten days (for a monetary matter) or thirty days (for a nonmonetary 
matter) after notice.  If Buyer fails to close in breach of this 
Agreement, Seller's sole remedy shall be to receive the Deposit as 
liquidated damages, the parties agreeing that damages in such an event 
would be difficult, if not impossible, to ascertain and that the Deposit 
represents a reasonable liquidation of such potential damages.

11. Notice.  All notices under this Agreement, including change of 
address, shall be in writing and shall be deemed given (i) when hand 
delivered, (ii) one business day after being delivered to a nationally 
recognized overnight delivery service for next business day delivery, 
(iii) three business days after being deposited in the United States Mail, 
postage prepaid via first class mail, or (iv) one business day after being 
sent by email (unless sender receives a notice of non-delivery during that 
time period) or upon confirmed receipt, whichever is earlier, and in all 
events addressed as follows:

If to Seller: If to Buyer:

Camden County, North Carolina Camden Plantation Properties, Inc.
_____________________________ 544 Newtown Rd, Ste 128
_____________________________ Virginia Beach, VA  23462
ATTN:________________________ Attn: General Counsel

Email:_______________________ Email: LegalNotices@BoydHomes.com

The parties may, at any time, change their notice address by giving notice 
to all other parties.  In addition to the above, any written notice given 
in any manner shall be effective, if not already deemed effective, when 
actually received.

12. Assignment.  Buyer may assign any of its rights under this Agreement 
to any entity(ies) under common control with Buyer.  This Agreement shall 
be binding upon, and benefit, the successors and assigns of the parties.  
No person not a party to this Agreement, other than a permitted successor 
or assign, shall be entitled to the benefit of any provision of this 
Agreement.

13. Announcement.  Seller shall not make any announcement or statement 
about this Agreement or transaction without Buyer's approval.

14. Interpretation.  This Agreement shall be interpreted and enforced 
under North Carolina law.  The headings in this Agreement are for 
convenience only and are not a part of the agreement of the parties, nor 
shall they be used to interpret this Agreement.  In this Agreement, the 
singular includes the plural, the plural includes the singular, and the 
use of any gender includes any other gender.  The term "person" includes 
both natural persons, entities, and governmental agencies, departments, 
and other entities.  If any part of this Agreement is unenforceable, the 
remainder shall be construed and enforced as if the unenforceable part had 
not been in this Agreement.  The provisions of this Agreement may not be 

6.A.c

Packet Pg. 54

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

am
d

en
 P

u
rc

h
as

e 
A

g
re

em
en

t 
fo

r 
C

o
m

m
er

ci
al

 P
ro

p
er

ty
 1

0-
29

-1
9 

si
g

n
ed

 b
y 

b
u

ye
r 

 (
25

96
 :

 C
am

d
en

 P
la

n
ta

ti
o

n
, I

n
c.

 L
an

d
 S

al
e



modified or waived, except by a written instrument, signed by the parties.  
This Agreement shall survive Closing.

15. Holidays, Etc.  If any deadline under this Agreement falls on a 
nonbusiness day, the deadline shall be extended to the next business day.

16. Entire Agreement.  This Agreement is a complete agreement of the 
parties concerning the subject matter of this Agreement, merging and 
replacing all prior negotiations, offers, representations, warranties and 
agreements.  No course of dealing between the parties, no usage of trade, 
and no external evidence shall be used to supplement or modify this 
Agreement.  All exhibits attached to or referenced in this Agreement shall 
be incorporated into this Agreement as fully as if contained in the body 
of this Agreement.

17. Execution.  This Agreement may be offered and accepted by facsimile.  
Electronic signatures shall have the same effect as, and be considered, 
original signatures for purposes of this Agreement.  This Agreement may be 
executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an 
original and all of which together shall constitute a single agreement.

18. Additional Provisions.  

a. Buyer shall commence development of the drive lane between the 
Property and the remainder of the property owned by Seller to the 
east substantially as shown on Exhibit A within 1 year after the 
later of (i) the date of Closing or (ii) the date upon which Buyer 
receives all necessary approvals for development of the Property, 
and shall thereafter diligently pursue completion of such drive 
lane.  

b. Buyer shall diligently pursue all approvals related to the 
development of the Property.

This offer shall expire, if not accepted and returned to Buyer by 5:00 
p.m. EST on November 20, 2019.

6.A.c

Packet Pg. 55

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

am
d

en
 P

u
rc

h
as

e 
A

g
re

em
en

t 
fo

r 
C

o
m

m
er

ci
al

 P
ro

p
er

ty
 1

0-
29

-1
9 

si
g

n
ed

 b
y 

b
u

ye
r 

 (
25

96
 :

 C
am

d
en

 P
la

n
ta

ti
o

n
, I

n
c.

 L
an

d
 S

al
e



Seller: Buyer:

Camden County, North Carolina Camden Plantation Properties, Inc.

By__________________________ By__________________________
                      Date                David S. Rudiger, President

By__________________________
                      Date

By__________________________
                      Date

10/29/19

6.A.c

Packet Pg. 56

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

am
d

en
 P

u
rc

h
as

e 
A

g
re

em
en

t 
fo

r 
C

o
m

m
er

ci
al

 P
ro

p
er

ty
 1

0-
29

-1
9 

si
g

n
ed

 b
y 

b
u

ye
r 

 (
25

96
 :

 C
am

d
en

 P
la

n
ta

ti
o

n
, I

n
c.

 L
an

d
 S

al
e



Exhibit A

A portion of the land located in Camden County, North Carolina, owned by 
Camden County, North Carolina known as GPIN 017071006768430000 
approximately located in the area shown below as “Property Area = +/- 
13.23 AC”.

6.A.c

Packet Pg. 57

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

am
d

en
 P

u
rc

h
as

e 
A

g
re

em
en

t 
fo

r 
C

o
m

m
er

ci
al

 P
ro

p
er

ty
 1

0-
29

-1
9 

si
g

n
ed

 b
y 

b
u

ye
r 

 (
25

96
 :

 C
am

d
en

 P
la

n
ta

ti
o

n
, I

n
c.

 L
an

d
 S

al
e



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
New Business 

 

Item Number: 7.A 

Meeting Date:   January 06, 2020 
 

Submitted By: Ken Bowman, 

 Administration 

 Prepared by: Karen Davis 

 
Item Title   Resolution 2020-01-01 

 

Attachments: LWV Resolution Request (DOCX) 

ResolutionLWV100 years.docx (NCACC) (DOCX) 

 

Summary: 

See attached letter of request from the League of Women Voters of North Carolina and 

Resolution Celebrating the 100th Anniversary of the passage of the Nineteenth Amendment to 

the Constitution of the United States and founding of the League of Women Voters. 

Recommendation: 

Adopt resolution. 

7.A

Packet Pg. 58



 

 
 

 
 

August 23, 2019 
 

Dear Commissioner, 
 

Thank you for your service to the people of your county, the state and yes, our nation.  
The League of Women Voters, a non-partisan organization that includes women and 

men, founded in February, 1920, has as its mission “Empowering Voters. Defending 

Democracy”.  We strongly advocated then and now for full participation in the voting 
process and educating voters on the issues. 

 
This year marks the one hundredth anniversary of the passage of the 19th Amendment 

to the US Constitution giving women the vote.  As you are aware, it had to be ratified by 
two-thirds of the states and this was not accomplished until August 18, 1920, when 

Tennessee cast its vote of support.  Tennessee was the last of 36 states to ratify and 
had it not been for a young East Tennessee lawyer member of the House of 

Representatives, who after receiving a letter from his widowed mother imploring him to 
vote for suffrage, changed his vote on the third reading of the bill, the 19th amendment 

would not have been ratified at that time.  This is but one historic example of the 
importance of one vote; one elected official who dared to be courageous and do that 

which is just and right. 
 

Leagues across the country, along with numerous other organizations, will be 

commemorating this 100th anniversary throughout 2020.  The League of Women Voters 
of North Carolina invites you to be a part of this most important commemoration 

specifically through the passage of the attached resolution.  We believe this action will 
raise awareness of the importance of voting and increase understanding that the vote 

did not come easily to many.  Your action will also provide the opportunity to enhance 
civic education as well as reminding all of us of the privilege we enjoy from living in a 

Democracy. 
 

Your vote on the resolution may occur at a time of your choosing.  We suggest that it be 
done in early 2020.  If possible, please let me know when the vote will take place or if 

you need additional information as soon as possible.   We will urge League members and 
friends in your surrounding area to be there at the time of your board’s vote.   

Thank you for your consideration of our request to pass this important resolution.  
 

Yours truly, 

 
 

Mary Klenz, 100th Anniversary Committee 
lwvklenzm@gmail.com; 704-968-0664 

 
Committee:  Jo Nicholas, President, LWVNC, Willie Taylor, Vicki Boyer, Dorsey Harris 

7.A.a

Packet Pg. 59

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 L

W
V

 R
es

o
lu

ti
o

n
 R

eq
u

es
t 

 (
25

97
 :

 R
es

o
lu

ti
o

n
 2

02
0-

01
-0

1 
- 

K
en

 B
o

w
m

an
)

mailto:lwvklenzm@gmail.com


 

PO Box 2231 Chapel Hill NC 27515   919-783-5995       CommunicationsLWVNC@gmail.com         lwvnc.org 

7.A.a

Packet Pg. 60

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 L

W
V

 R
es

o
lu

ti
o

n
 R

eq
u

es
t 

 (
25

97
 :

 R
es

o
lu

ti
o

n
 2

02
0-

01
-0

1 
- 

K
en

 B
o

w
m

an
)



 

RESOLUTION 2020-01-01 

CELEBRATING THE 100TH ANNIVERSARY OF THE PASSAGE OF THE  

NINETEENTH AMENDMENT TO THE CONSTITUTION OF THE UNITED STATES AND  

FOUNDING OF THE LEAGUE OF WOMEN VOTERS 

 

WHEREAS, an organized movement to enfranchise women began in July, 1848, at a convention in Seneca Falls, NY; 

WHEREAS, through the efforts of brave and courageous women referred to as suffragists who sacrificed family, their 

personal life and their financial resources for over seventy years to gain equal rights for women, especially the right 

to vote; 

WHEREAS, women and men, black and white, supported the woman’s suffrage movement for women to gain the 

constitutional right of having a voice in making the laws that govern them; 

WHEREAS, the woman’s suffrage movement led to the passage of the 19th Amendment to the Constitution of the 

United States in 1919; with ratification by the states by the summer of 1920; 

WHEREAS, the National Woman’s Suffrage Association dissolved in 1920 to create the League of Women Voters 

of the US to register voters and educate all voters; 

WHEREAS, the League of Women Voters of North Carolina was launched on October 7, 1920,  on the steps of the 

Guilford County Courthouse by Gertrude Weil, a politically active and tireless young woman from Goldsboro, NC; 

WHEREAS, more than 120,000 women were registered to vote in North Carolina by 1920;   

WHEREAS, women today constitute a majority vote in our state and the US and are running for office in higher 

numbers and more active in the election process than ever before in history; 

BE IT RESOLVED that the 100th anniversary of women gaining the right to vote and the founding of the League of 

Women Voters in the United States and in North Carolina is recognized for the impact these historic accomplishments 

have on citizen engagement and the civic life of the community, the state and the nation. 

The Constitution of the United State of America, Amendment XIX 

Women’s Suffrage 

The right of the citizens of the United States to vote shall not be denied or abridged by the United States or by ay State 

on account of sex.  Congress shall have the power to enforce this article by appropriate legislation. 

 

Adopted this, the ______ day of _________ 2020 by the Camden County Board of Commissioners. 

 

       

            

      Tom White, Chairman 

      Camden County Board of Commissioners 

ATTEST: 

 

      

Karen M. Davis  

Clerk to the Board of Commissioners 

7.A.b

Packet Pg. 61

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

L
W

V
10

0 
ye

ar
s.

d
o

cx
 (

N
C

A
C

C
) 

 (
25

97
 :

 R
es

o
lu

ti
o

n
 2

02
0-

01
-0

1 
- 

K
en

 B
o

w
m

an
)



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
New Business 

 

Item Number: 7.B 

Meeting Date:   January 06, 2020 
 

Submitted By: Lisa Anderson, Tax Administrator 

 Taxes 

 Prepared by: Lisa Anderson 

 
Item Title   October Monthly Report 

 

Attachments: 20191230114830796.pdf (PDF) 

 
Summary:  October Monthly Report 
 
Recommendation:  Review and approve 

7.B

Packet Pg. 62



7.B.a

Packet Pg. 63

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
91

23
01

14
83

07
96

.p
d

f 
 (

26
02

 :
 T

ax
 R

ep
o

rt
 -

 L
is

a 
A

n
d

er
so

n
)



7.B.a

Packet Pg. 64

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
91

23
01

14
83

07
96

.p
d

f 
 (

26
02

 :
 T

ax
 R

ep
o

rt
 -

 L
is

a 
A

n
d

er
so

n
)



7.B.a

Packet Pg. 65

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
91

23
01

14
83

07
96

.p
d

f 
 (

26
02

 :
 T

ax
 R

ep
o

rt
 -

 L
is

a 
A

n
d

er
so

n
)



7.B.a

Packet Pg. 66

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
91

23
01

14
83

07
96

.p
d

f 
 (

26
02

 :
 T

ax
 R

ep
o

rt
 -

 L
is

a 
A

n
d

er
so

n
)



7.B.a

Packet Pg. 67

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
91

23
01

14
83

07
96

.p
d

f 
 (

26
02

 :
 T

ax
 R

ep
o

rt
 -

 L
is

a 
A

n
d

er
so

n
)



7.B.a

Packet Pg. 68

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
91

23
01

14
83

07
96

.p
d

f 
 (

26
02

 :
 T

ax
 R

ep
o

rt
 -

 L
is

a 
A

n
d

er
so

n
)



7.B.a

Packet Pg. 69

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

01
91

23
01

14
83

07
96

.p
d

f 
 (

26
02

 :
 T

ax
 R

ep
o

rt
 -

 L
is

a 
A

n
d

er
so

n
)



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
New Business 

 

Item Number: 7.C 

Meeting Date:   January 06, 2020 
 

Submitted By: Dan Porter, Planning Director 

 Planning & Zoning 

 Prepared by: Karen Davis 

 
Item Title   Recombination Survey 

 

Attachments: Agenda Summary Sheet Recombination Survey (DOC) 

Proposed Recombination (PDF) 

Recombination Email (PDF) 

 
See attached summary, supporting documentation and staff recommendation.   

7.C

Packet Pg. 70



            

      

 
Camden County Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

        

     

Meeting Date:   January 6, 2019 

 

Attachments:   Recombination Plat/Email SCWSD David Credle  

      

Submitted By: Planning Department  

 

Item Title:    Recombination Survey   

 

 

Summary: 

 

Attached is a proposed recombination survey on land belonging to Eric Wood and 

Camden County (Well Site) located on Country Club Road.  The survey shifts the well 

site 25’ to the West allowing a 45’ access to his property.  All costs involved were to be 

incurred by Mr. Wood who also agreed to farm the county lot which freed up any 

maintenance by the County.  The issue was brought up to SCWSD (David Credle) and 

the County Manager (see attached email) for their approval in which was given in the 

email by SCWSD as long as the County Manager gave his approval.   

 

During the preparation of the Deeds, a question was brought up by Mr. Woods’ attorney 

as to whether the Board of Commissioners needed to approve survey or not.    At the time 

all concerned were in the opinion that the survey did not require the Board’s approval as 

it was just a shift in property lines with no acreage lost or gained.    

 

Recommendation: 

 

Motion to approve recombination survey with condition that all costs will be incurred by 

Mr. Wood. 

7.C.a

Packet Pg. 71

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

g
en

d
a 

S
u

m
m

ar
y 

S
h

ee
t 

R
ec

o
m

b
in

at
io

n
 S

u
rv

ey
  (

26
03

 :
 R

ec
o

m
b

in
at

io
n

 S
u

rv
ey

)



N
3

1
°
3

2
'
1

8
"
E

 
 
 
 
 
3

2
5

.
4

0
'

N

4

7

°
3

2

'
0

2

"
W

4

5

.
0

4

'

N48°11'16"W

7.27'

N

4
9
°
3
4
'5

2
"
W

3
7
.
8
0
'

N
5
1
°
5
9
'3

3
"
W

     8
7
.9

5
'

N
55°21'37"W

     73.33' N58°29'22"W     103.55'

N
61°1

0'2
9"W

   
  1

00.6
9'

N
6
2
°2

8
'4

5
"W

  
  
 7

1
.9

1
'

N63°15'44"W

23.08'

S
3
0
°
1
3
'
2
3
"
W

 
 
 
 
 
3
8
5
.
6
7
'

N48°11'16"W

0.79'

N

4

8

°
1

1

'1

6

"
W

 
 
 
 
 
2

3

6

.
3

8

'

N62°28'45"W

4.83'

N62°28'45"W

19.40'

N
6
3
°1

5
'4

4
"W

  
  
 1

0
5
.2

2
'

N63°15'44"W

22.00'

N
2
7
°
0
5
'
4
3
"
E

 
 
 
 
 
1
0
2
.
7
3
'

N
3
0
°
1
3
'
2
3
"
E

 
 
 
 
 
1
1
9
.
5
5
'

S59°46'37"E     2
01.84'

S
3
0
°
1
3
'
2
3
"
W

 
 
 
 
 
2
1
1
.
4
3
'

S
2
6
°
2
2
'
2
6
"
W

 
 
 
 
 
1
1
8
.
9
9
'

S58°43'50"E     65.37'

N
3
7
°
2
9
'
5
8
"
E

 
 
 
 
 
1
0
8
.
8
8
'

S
3
7
°
2
9
'
5
8
"
W

 
 
 
 
 
1
1
8
.
3
2
'

S
5
1
°
2
9
'5

1
"
E

     2
2
6
.1

6
'

N

4

2

°
4

4

'
2

6

"
E

 
 
 
 
 
1

0

4

.
9

5

'

LINES HEREBY

VACATED

LINE HEREBY

VACATED

NEW LINES HEREBY

ESTABLISHED

NEW LINE HEREBY

ESTABLISHED

NEW LINE HEREBY

ESTABLISHED

LINES HEREBY

VACATED

LINE HEREBY

VACATED

NEW

LINES HEREBY

ESTABLISHED

NEW LINE HEREBY

ESTABLISHED

PROPERTY BELONGING TO

JONATHAN W. SCOTT

D.B.341, PG. 430

PIN: 028934045217240000

25,779 SF BEFORE RECOMBINATION

25,779 SF AFTER RECOMBINATION

PROPERTY BELONGING TO

CAMDEN COUNTY

D.B.244, PG. 799

PIN: 028934045275420000

43,561 SF BEFORE RECOMBINATION

43,561 SF AFTER RECOMBINATION

1

0

0

.

0

0

'
 

R

A

D

I

U

S

W

E

L

L

 

B

U

F

F

E

R

N 942,527.5245 sFT

E 2,835,751.9388 sFT

NC GRID NAD 83 (2011)

N 942,360.1710 sFT

E 2,835,823.2980 sFT

NC GRID NAD 83 (2011)

N 942,165.9372 sFT

E 2,835,223.7025 sFT

NC GRID NAD 83 (2011)

PROPERTY BELONGING TO

ERIC M. & SUMMER L. WOOD

D.B.372, PG. 749

PIN: 02893404524826000

672,880 SF BEFORE RECOMBINATION

672,880 SF AFTER RECOMBINATION

COUNTRY CLUB ROAD - SR 1132

(60' R/W)

N

C

 

G

R

I

D

 

N

A

D

 

8

3

 

(

2

0

1

1

)

S
:
\
1
0
9
\
4
4
4
4
0
 
-
 
E

r
i
c
 
W

o
o
d
 
-
 
C

o
u
n
t
r
y
 
C

l
u
b
 
R

d
 
2
-
L
o
t
 
M

i
n
o
r
 
-
 
C

a
m

d
e
n
,
 
N

C
\
D

W
G

\
4
4
4
4
0
V

_
R

e
c
o
m

b
.
d
w

g
 
|
 
P

l
o
t
t
e
d
 
o
n
 
1
1
/
1
1
/
2
0
1
9
 
1
0
:
4
0
 
A

M
 
|
 
b
y
 
J
a
s
o
n
 
M

i
z
e
l
l
e

44440

FILE NO: SCALE: DRAFTED: DATE: CHECKED:

1" = 50' JAM
November 11, 2019

JAM

1805 West City Drive, Unit E, Elizabeth City, NC 27909

TEL 252.621.5030 www.timmons.com

North Carolina License Number C-1652

VICINITY MAP

(NOT TO SCALE)

COURTHOUSE TOWNSHIP     CAMDEN COUNTY     NORTH CAROLINA

RECOMBINATION PLAT

PROPERTIES AS DESCRIBED IN D.B. 372, PG. 749; D.B. 341, PG. 430 & D.B. 244, PG. 799

ERIC M. & SUMMER L. WOOD,

JONATHAN W. SCOTT & CAMDEN COUNTY

SCALE 1"=50'

100'50'0

STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA

COUNTY OF CAMDEN

I,____________________________________, REVIEW OFFICER OF CAMDEN COUNTY,

CERTIFY THAT THE MAP OR PLAT TO WHICH THIS CERTIFICATION IS AFFIXED MEETS

ALL STATUTORY REQUIREMENTS FOR RECORDING.

____________________________________                 __________________________

REVIEW OFFICER                                                            DATE

N

O

R

T

H

C
A

R

O

L

I

N

A

J

A

S

O

N

A .

M

I

Z

E

L

L

E

P

R

O

F

E

SS

I

O

N

A

L

L

A

N

D

S

U
R

V

E

Y

O

R

SEAL

L-4917

IRON REBAR

SET IRON ROD

PROPERTY BOUNDARY

ADJOINING PROPERTY LINES

LEGEND

RIGHT OF WAY LINES

NEW LOT LINES

I, JASON A. MIZELLE, CERTIFY THAT THIS PLAT WAS DRAWN UNDER MY

SUPERVISION FROM AN ACTUAL SURVEY MADE UNDER MY SUPERVISION;

DEED DESCRIPTION RECORDED AS SHOWN HEREON; THAT THE

BOUNDARIES NOT SURVEYED ARE CLEARLY INDICATED AS DRAWN FROM

INFORMATION FOUND IN THE REFERENCES SHOWN HEREON; THAT THE

RATIO OF PRECISION AS CALCULATED IS 1:10,000+; THAT THIS PLAT WAS

PREPARED IN ACCORDANCE WITH G.S. 47-30 AS AMENDED.

(F)(11)d. - THAT THE SURVEY IS OF ANOTHER CATEGORY, SUCH AS THE

RECOMBINATION OF EXISTING PARCELS, A COURT-ORDERED SURVEY, OR

OTHER EXEMPTION OR EXCEPTION TO THE DEFINITION OF SUBDIVISION.

WITNESS MY ORIGINAL SIGNATURE, REGISTRATION NUMBER AND SEAL

THIS 11TH DAY OF NOVEMBER, 2019.

JASON A. MIZELLE, PLS L-4917

LINES BEING VACATED

WELL BUFFER

CALCULATED POINT

S

E

Y

M

O

U

R

 

D

R

I

V

E

SITE

C

O

U

N

T

R

Y

 

C

L

U

B

 

R

O

A

D

7.C.b

Packet Pg. 72

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
p

o
se

d
 R

ec
o

m
b

in
at

io
n

  (
26

03
 :

 R
ec

o
m

b
in

at
io

n
 S

u
rv

ey
)

jason.mizelle
Preliminary



7.C.c

Packet Pg. 73

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

ec
o

m
b

in
at

io
n

 E
m

ai
l  

(2
60

3 
: 

R
ec

o
m

b
in

at
io

n
 S

u
rv

ey
)



7.C.c

Packet Pg. 74

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

ec
o

m
b

in
at

io
n

 E
m

ai
l  

(2
60

3 
: 

R
ec

o
m

b
in

at
io

n
 S

u
rv

ey
)



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
New Business 

 

Item Number: 7.D 

Meeting Date:   January 06, 2020 
 

Submitted By: Ken Bowman, 

 Administration 

 Prepared by: Karen Davis 

 
Item Title   Personnel Policy - Ken Bowman 

 

Attachments: Personnel Policy mods (DOCX) 

Personnel Policy121515 (DOCX) 

 

Summary: 

The Personnel Policy is currently in the review stages and should be ready for the Board to review 
and approve on June 1, 2020. However, since the Board adopted the new Step and Grade pay plan 
effective January 1, 2020 for Camden County employees, some modifications needed to be made. 
The current plan is attached for your reference and the recommended changes have been extracted 
for your consideration. 

 

Recommendation: 

Approve the changes as presented by the County Manager. 

7.D

Packet Pg. 75



ARTICLE III. PERFORMANCE EVALUATION PROGRAM 
 
Section 1.  Objective 
 

The primary objective of Camden County’s pay for performance and performance appraisal program is to 
encourage a high level of employee performance and recognize County employees who exceed pre-

established standards utilizing an objective evaluation system. As such, the system will reward performance 
for those who exceed those standards or perform at an exceptional level in serving the citizens of Camden 
County. All classified positions of the County are governed by this program except elected officials, executive 
employees appointed by the County Board of Commissioners, employees of independent boards and 

commissions, competitive service employees,  and temporary and seasonal part-time employees.  
 

Section 2. Authority 
 
This procedure shall be approved by the County Commissioners of Camden County. 
 

Section 3. Direction 
 
The County Manager, under the direction of the Board of Commissioners of Camden County, is responsible 
for implementation of a performance evaluation system. 
 

 
 
Section 4. Definitions  
 

ANNUAL REVIEW PERIOD: The annual period of performance of an employee covered by these procedures 
begins with the employee’s date of hire, or appointment to his or her current position and ends during the will 

occur annually at the end of the calendar year period established for employee evaluations. 
 
PERFORMANCE INCREASE: An annual increase in salary based on an employee exceeding performance 
standards. Salary increases will be based on a uniform percentage established by the County. 

 
PERFORMANCE FACTOR: A key job responsibility - linked to the County department’s goals and or mission 

statement. 
 
PERFORMANCE GOAL: A projected result - measured in terms of quality, quantity, and timeliness. 
 

PERFORMANCE INCREASE PROGRAM: Provides recognition and reward for performance that 
consistently exceeds standards in the form of a salary adjustment to an employee’s base pay. 

 
PROBATIONARY EMPLOYEE:   An employee assigned to a permanent position (full-time) who has not 
completed an approved probationary period of employment with the County in that particular position. This 
period is six (6) months for standard employees, nine (9) months for Social Services, twelve (12) months for 

Sheriff and Department Heads unless extended.  
 

7.D.a

Packet Pg. 76

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

er
so

n
n

el
 P

o
lic

y 
m

o
d

s 
 (

26
07

 :
 P

er
so

n
n

el
 P

o
lic

y 
- 

K
en

 B
o

w
m

an
)



RATER: An employee having direct authority over the employee rated, herein referred to as “Rater” or 
“Supervisor.” The rater is designated as a Department Director, Departmental Supervisor, 
Executive/Administrative Official, or the County Manager. 
 

REGULAR EMPLOYEE: Full-time employee who has successfully completed the probationary period in a 
permanent position. 

 
Section 5. Policy 
 

a. Employees’ performance is formally evaluated annually for their current position. All employees in 

Camden County will be evaluated in conjunction with a schedule which coincides with preparation of 
the County’s annual budget.    

b. Eligible employees who have been promoted/transferred/demoted  will be placed in Step 2 of the 
grade assigned to their position. and are in a probationary status may receive a performance 
increase upon completion of their probationary period. Note that if an employees’ pay falls below the 
minimum of their assigned pay grade, their salary will be adjusted to the minimum of the grade, when, 

and if salary ranges are adjusted (normally the beginning of the pay period closest to July 1st of each 
year). However, upon completion of their probationary period, if a performance increase is to be 
awarded, the employee will receive the difference between the recommended performance amount 
and the range adjustment amount received. 

c. Employees who receive an overall rating of Below Standards will be provided an opportunity to 

improve their performance, but shall be placed on probationary status in accordance with County 
policy.  
 

All employees covered by this policy are evaluated by comparing performance with established 

performance factors and defined performance levels. 

ARTICLE IV.  THE PAY PLAN 
 
Section 1. Definition 
 
The pay plan includes the Salary Schedule and the Assignment of Classes to Salary Grades and Ranges 
Steps adopted by the Board of County Commissioners. The salary schedule may consist of a Hiring, 
Minimum, Midpoint, and Maximum rates of pay or a series of pay steps for each job classification approved 
by the Board of County Commissioners. Salary increases within the pay range steps shall be based on criteria 
established by the County Manager and approved by the Board of County Commissioners. 
 
Section 2. Administration and Maintenance 
 
The County Manager shall be responsible for the administration and maintenance of the pay plan. All new 
hired employees covered by the pay plan shall be paid at a rate within start at the salary range step 1 or 2 
established for the respective position classification, except for employees in trainee status or employees 
whose existing salaries are above the established maximum rate following transition to a new pay plan.  
 
The pay plan is intended to provide equitable compensation for all positions, reflecting differences in the 
duties and responsibilities, the comparable rates of pay for positions in public employment in the area, 

7.D.a

Packet Pg. 77

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

er
so

n
n

el
 P

o
lic

y 
m

o
d

s 
 (

26
07

 :
 P

er
so

n
n

el
 P

o
lic

y 
- 

K
en

 B
o

w
m

an
)



changes in the cost of living, the financial conditions of the County, and other factors. To this end, from time 
to time the County Manager, assisted by the Human Resources Director, shall make comparative studies of 
all factors affecting the level of salary ranges and may make minor adjustments in the allocation of positions 
to salary grades. When major adjustments encompassing numerous positions are needed, or when a general 
adjustment is needed to the pay plan, the County Manager shall recommend such changes in salary ranges 
as appear to be warranted to the Board. The Board shall adopt the Salary Schedule and assignment of Job 
Classes to Salary Grades, including any minor adjustments made by the County Manager during the previous 
budget year, annually as part of the budget process.  
 
The County Manager may approve in-range adjustments to employee salaries not to exceed ten percent 
when necessary to accommodate inequities, special performance or achievements, or other issues. 
 
Section 3. Starting Salaries 
 
All persons employed in positions the approved in the position classification plan normally shall be employed 
start in at the Hiring Rate step 1 or 2 for the classification in which they are employed; however, on the 
recommendation of the department head, with the approval of the County Manager, employee salaries may 
be approved above the Hiring Rate. Reasons for hiring above the Hiring Rate include exceptional education 
and experience qualifications of the applicant, a shortage of qualified applicants, and/or the refusal of qualified 
applicants to accept employment at the Hiring Rate. Department Heads shall consider internal equity of other 
employees in the department when making a recommendation for employment above the Hiring Rate.  
Elected officials, i.e. the Sheriff and Register of Deeds, shall be paid upon initial election or appointment, at 
the entry rate of pay for the position. This will start at Step 1 of the assigned position.  because there is no 
appointing authority to make decisions concerning their qualifications for placement above the hiring rate. 
 
Section 5. Probationary Pay Increases 
 
Upon successful completion of the probationary period & meeting standards on their annual performance 
evaluation, employees are eligible to move to the next step in their current grade on their anniversary date of 
hire, promotion, transfer or demotion. 
Employees hired into the Hiring Rate or step 1 of the pay range shall receive a salary increase within the 
salary range of 5% upon successful completion of the probationary period. Employees hired above the hiring 
rate or step 1 may also be considered for an increase when removed from probationary status, based upon 
performance level.  
 
Section 6. Pay Range Increases 
 
Upward movement within the established salary range for an employee is not automatic but rather based 
upon specific criteria prepared by the County Manager with assistance from the Human Resources Director 
and approved by the Board. 
 
 
 
Promotions. When an employee is promoted to a position with a higher salary grade, the employee's salary 
shall be advanced to the Hiring Rate the minimum step (step 2) of the new position grade, or the next step in 
the promoationalpromotional grade closest to current salary if employee is making more than step 2.  or to a 
salary which provides an increase of 5% over the employee's salary before the promotion, provided, however, 

7.D.a

Packet Pg. 78

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

er
so

n
n

el
 P

o
lic

y 
m

o
d

s 
 (

26
07

 :
 P

er
so

n
n

el
 P

o
lic

y 
- 

K
en

 B
o

w
m

an
)



that the new salary may not exceed the Maximum rate of the new salary range. The purpose of the 
 
 
 
b) the nature and magnitude of the change in jobs; 
 
c) budget availability; 
 
d) consistency with similar situations in the past; 
 
Section 16.  Travel Expenses. – See Finance Policy on Travel 
 
All County employees shall be reimbursed for actual travel expenses while on county business at the 
following rates.  Employees must submit a completed expense voucher accompanied by actual receipts 
before receiving reimbursement for travel expenses. 
 
1. Subsistence Allowance – Receipts for meals must accompany all expense vouchers for reimbursement.  

Tips shall be reimbursed at actual cost.  
 
2. Mileage Allowance – The actual amount allowed by the Internal Revenue Service.  The effective date of any 

increase will be as soon as practical after notification is received from the Internal Revenue Service. 
 
3. Motel – Actual reasonable expenses as approved by the department head.  Receipts for motel expenses 

must accompany expense vouchers. 
 
4. Registration Fees – Actual registration fees as documented by proper receipts. 
 
5. Parking Fees – Actual parking fees as documented by proper receipts. 
 
6. Air Travel – Actual air travel expenses as approved in advance by the department head. 
 

Section 17.  Salary Increases Due to Completion of Required Certifications 
 
Employees may be required to obtain or maintain licenses, certifications or registrations as required by law, 
rule regulation, occupation boards or the duties of their position. Upon successful completion of these 
certifications, all utility workers and building inspectors will be awarded a one-time lump sum 2% payment 
2% increase in salary (limited to one per fiscal year).  This will be effective the first month after completion 
upon formal written documentation being submitted to the Personnel Officer and approval by the County 
Manager. Employees who fail to obtain or maintain any license, certification or registration required by law, 
rules, or provision as required by the duties of the position may result in disciplinary action up to and including 
termination.  
 
Section 18. Cost of Living Increase  
 
Employees who have not completed their probationary period are not eligible for Cost of Living increases 
(COLA) effective July 1, 2006. 

7.D.a

Packet Pg. 79

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

er
so

n
n

el
 P

o
lic

y 
m

o
d

s 
 (

26
07

 :
 P

er
so

n
n

el
 P

o
lic

y 
- 

K
en

 B
o

w
m

an
)



1 
 

PERSONNEL POLICY  
For 

CAMDEN COUNTY EMPLOYEES 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 

  Page  

ARTICLE I.  GENERAL PROVISIONS                                                                                                   

Section 1.  Purpose of the Policy 6 

Section 2.  Merit Principles 6 

Section 3.  Responsibilities of the County Board of Commissioners  6 

Section 4.  Responsibilities of the County Manager 6 

Section 5.  Responsibilities of the Human Resources Director 7 

Section 6.  Application of Policies, Plan, Rules, and Regulations 7 

Section 7.  Departmental Rules and Regulations 7 

Section 8.  Definitions 8 

   

ARTICLE II.  POSITION CLASSIFICATION PLAN  

Section 1.  Adoption of Classification Plan 9 

Section 2.  Allocation of Positions 9 

Section 3.  Maintenance of Classification Plan 9 

Section 4.  Classification of New Positions 10 

Section 5.  Amendments of Position Classification Plan 10 

Section 6.  Administration 10 
   

ARTICLE III.  PERFORMANCE EVALUATION PROGRAM  

Section 1.   Objective 10 

Section 2.    Authority  10 

Section 3.   Direction  10 

Section 4.  Definitions 11 

Section 5.    Policy 11 

Section 6.   Performance Factors 12 

Section 7.   Establishing Performance Goals  12 

Section 8.    Rating Employee's Performance  12 

Section 9.  Frequency of Ratings  12 

Section 10.  Administration of Performance Appraisal  13 

Section 11.  Employee Evaluation Administrative Process 13 
   

ARTICLE IV.  THE PAY PLAN  

Section 1.    Definition 14 

Section 2.    Administration and Maintenance 14 

Section 3.    Starting Salaries 14 

Section 4.    Trainee Designation and Provisions 15 

Section 5.    Probationary Pay Increases 15 

Section 6.    Pay Range Increases  15 

Section 7.     Performance Pay Bonus  15 

Section 8.     Salary Effect of Promotions, Demotions, Transfers, and Reclassifications 15 

Section 9.  Salary Effect of Salary Range Revisions 16 

7.D.b

Packet Pg. 80

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

er
so

n
n

el
 P

o
lic

y1
21

51
5 

 (
26

07
 :

 P
er

so
n

n
el

 P
o

lic
y 

- 
K

en
 B

o
w

m
an

)



2 
 

Section 10.  Transition to a New Salary Plan 16 

Section 11.  Effective Date of Salary Changes 17 

Section 12.  Overtime Pay Provisions 17 

Section 13.  On-Call and Call-Back Compensation  18 

Section 14.  Payroll Schedule and Deductions 18 

Section 15. Hourly Rate of Pay 18 

Section 16.  Travel Expenses 19 

Section 17.  Salary Increases Due to Completion of Required Certifications  19 

Section 18.  Cost of Living Raises  19 
   

ARTICLE V.  RECRUITMENT AND EMPLOYMENT  

Section 1.  Equal Employment Opportunity Policy  19 

Section 2. Implementation of Equal Employment Opportunity Policy  19 

Section 3. Recruitment, Selection and Appointment  20 

Section 4.  Probationary Period 20 

Section 5.  Promotion  21 

Section 6.  Demotion  21 

Section 7.  Transfer  21 
   

ARTICLE VI.  CONDITIONS OF EMPLOYMENT  

Section 1. Work Schedule  22 

Section 2.  Political Activity  22 

Section 3.  Expectation of Ethical Conduct  22 

Section 4.  Outside Employment  22 

Section 5. Dual Employment  23 

Section 6. Employment of Relatives 23 

Section 7. Harassment  23 

Section 8. Use of County Time, Equipment, Supplies, and  Vehicles  24 

Section 9. Acceptance of Gifts and Favors 24 

Section 10. Safety  25 

Section 11.   Immigration Law Requirements 25 

Section 12.  Substance Abuse 25 

Section 13.   Use of Technology Resources  25 

Section 14.  Use of Tobacco Products 25 

Section 15.   Dress Code  25 

Section 16.  Driver's License 26 

   

ARTICLE VII.  EMPLOYEE BENEFITS  

Section 1.  Eligibility  26 

Section 2.  Group Health and Hospitalization Insurance  26 

Section 3.  Group Life Insurance  27 

Section 4. Other Optional Group Insurance Plans 27 

Section 5.  Retirement  27 

Section 6. Supplemental Retirement Benefits (401-K) 27 

Section 7.  Social Security  27 

Section 8.  Workers' Compensation  27 

7.D.b

Packet Pg. 81

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

er
so

n
n

el
 P

o
lic

y1
21

51
5 

 (
26

07
 :

 P
er

so
n

n
el

 P
o

lic
y 

- 
K

en
 B

o
w

m
an

)



3 
 

Section 9.  Unemployment Compensation  28 

Section 10. Tuition Assistance Program  28 

Section 11.  Credit Union  28 
   

ARTICLE VIII.  HOLIDAYS AND LEAVES OF ABSENCE  

Section 1.  Policy  28 

Section 2. Holidays  28 

Section 3.  Holidays: Effect on Other Types of Leave 29 

Section 4.  Holidays: Compensation When Work is Required  29 

Section 5.  Vacation Leave  29 

Section 6.  Vacation Leave: Use by Probationary Employees  29 

Section 7.  Vacation Leave: Accrual Rate  29 

Section 8.  Vacation Leave: Maximum Accumulation  29 

Section 9.  Vacation Leave: Manner of Taking  30 

Section 10.  Vacation Leave: Payment upon Separation  30 

Section 11.  Vacation Leave: Payment upon Death  30 

Section 12.  Sick Leave 30 

Section 13.  Sick Leave: Accrual Rate and Accumulation  31 

Section 14.  Sick Leave: Medical Certification 31 

Section 15. Leave Pro-Rated 32 

Section 16.  Leave Without Pay  32 

Section 17.  Family Medical Leave 32 

Section 18. 
Family Medical Leave and Leave Without Pay: Retention and Continuation of 
Benefits 

33 

Section 19.  Workers' Compensation Leave 34 

Section 20.  Military Leave 34 

Section 21.  Reinstatement Following Military Service 34 

Section 22.  Civil Leave 35 

Section 23. Parental School Leave 35 

Section 24.  Adverse Weather Conditions  35 

Section 25. Shared Leave  36 
   

ARTICLE IX.  SEPARATION AND REINSTATEMENT  

Section 1.  Types of Separations  38 

Section 2.  Resignation  38 

Section 3.  Reduction in Force 38 

Section 4. Disability  38 

Section 5.  Voluntary Retirement  39 

Section 6.  Death  39 

Section 7.  Dismissal  39 

Section 8.  Reinstatement  39 

Section 9.  Rehiring  39 
   

ARTICLE X. UNSATISFACTORYJOB PERFORMANCE AND DETRIMENTAL PERSONAL Conduct 

Section 1.  Disciplinary Action for Unsatisfactory Job Performance  39 

Section 2.  Unsatisfactory Job Performance Defined  39 

7.D.b

Packet Pg. 82

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

er
so

n
n

el
 P

o
lic

y1
21

51
5 

 (
26

07
 :

 P
er

so
n

n
el

 P
o

lic
y 

- 
K

en
 B

o
w

m
an

)



4 
 

Section 3.   Communication and Warning Procedures Preceding Disciplinary Action                        

 for Unsatisfactory Job Performance 40 

Section 4.  Disciplinary Action for Detrimental Personal Conduct  40 

Section 5.  Detrimental Personal Conduct Defined  40 

Section 6.  Pre-Dismissal Conference  41 

Section 7.  Non-Disciplinary Suspension  41 
   

ARTICLE XI.  GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE AND ADVERSE ACTION APPEAL  

Section 1.  Policy  42 

Section 2.  Grievance Defined  42 

Section 3.  Purposes of the Grievance Procedure  42 

Section 4.  Procedure 43 

Section 5.  Role of the Human Resources Director  44 

Section 6.  Grievance and Adverse Action Appeal Procedure for Discrimination  44 

   

ARTICLE XII.  PERSONNEL RECORDS AND REPORTS  

Section 1.  Public Information  44 

Section 2.  Access to Confidential Records  45 

Section 3.  Personnel Actions  45 

Section 4.  Records of Former Employees 46 

Section 5. Remedies of Employees Objecting to Material in File 46 

Section 6.  Penalties for Permitting Access to Confidential Records 46 

Section 7.  Examining and/or Copying Confidential Material without 46 

Section 8.  Destruction of Records Regulated 46 
   

ARTICLE XIII.  IMPLEMENTATION OF POLICIES  

Section 1.  Conflicting Policies Repealed 46 

Section 2.  Separability  46 

Section 3.  Effective Date 47 
   

ELECTRONIC COMMUNICATIONS POLICY  

Section 1.  Purpose 47 

Section 2.  Administration 47 

Section 3.  Public nature of electronic communications 47 

Section 4.  E-mail/Internet 48 

Section 5.  Security  49 

Section 6.  Telephones 49 

Section 7.  Printers, Copiers, and Faxes 49 

Section 8.  Violations 49 
   

DRUG AND ALCOHOL TESTING POLICY   

Section 1.  Purpose and Scope of Policy  49 

Section 2.  Drug and Alcohol Tests Required by the United States DOT 50 

Section 3.  Drug and Alcohol Abuse and Testing Policy for all Employees  51 

Section 4. Applicant Testing  53 

Section 5.  Compliance with Law 54 

7.D.b

Packet Pg. 83

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

er
so

n
n

el
 P

o
lic

y1
21

51
5 

 (
26

07
 :

 P
er

so
n

n
el

 P
o

lic
y 

- 
K

en
 B

o
w

m
an

)



5 
 

Section 6.  Supervisory Responsibilities  54 

Section 7.  Employee Responsibilities  54 

Section 8.  Definitions  55 

   

USE OF COUNTY OWNED VEHICLES POLICY   

Section 1.  Background and Purpose  58 

Section 2.  Scope 58 

Section 3.  Policy  58 

Section 4.  Assignment of County Vehicles  59 

Section 5.  Procedure for Procuring Use of Pool Vehicles  59 

Section 6.  Maintenance and Upkeep of Vehicles  60 

Section 7.  Fuel Maintenance  61 

Section 8.  Authorization to Drive & Driving Record  61 

Section 9.  General Rules Defining Appropriate Use of County Owned Vehicles  62 

Section 10. General Rules Governing Use of County Owned Vehicles  62 

Section 11.  Misuse of County Vehicles and Policy Violations  63 

Section 12.  Special Circumstances  63 

   

EFFECTIVE DATES AND REVISION DATES OF POLICIES  2 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

7.D.b

Packet Pg. 84

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

er
so

n
n

el
 P

o
lic

y1
21

51
5 

 (
26

07
 :

 P
er

so
n

n
el

 P
o

lic
y 

- 
K

en
 B

o
w

m
an

)



6 
 

ARTICLE I.  GENERAL PROVISIONS 
 
Section 1. Purpose of the Policy  
 
It is the purpose of this policy and the rules and regulations set forth to establish a fair and uniform system of personnel 
administration for all employees of the County under the supervision of the County Manager, elected officials, 
Elections Board, and Social Services Board. These aforementioned entities are the official appointing authorities 
covered by this personnel policy. State requirements will supersede these policies for positions subject to the State 
Personnel Act whenever there is a conflict. This policy is established under authority of G.S. 153A, Article 5 and G.S. 
126 of the General Statutes of North Carolina. 
 
Section 2. Merit Principles 
 
All appointments and personnel actions shall be made on the basis of merit. All positions requiring the performance 
of the same duties and fulfillment of the same responsibilities shall be assigned to the same class and salary grade. 
No applicant for County employment or employee shall be deprived of employment opportunities or otherwise be 
adversely affected as an employee because of an individual's race, color, religion, sex, national origin, political 
affiliation, qualified disability, or age. 
 
Section 3. Responsibilities of the County Board of Commissioners 
 
The County Board of Commissioners shall be responsible for establishing and approving human resources policies, 
the position classification and pay plan, and it may change the policies and benefits as necessary. The Board also 
shall make and confirm appointments when so specified by the general statutes. 
 
Section 4. Responsibilities of the County Manager 
 
The County Manager shall be responsible to the County Board of Commissioners for the administration and technical 
direction of the human resources program. The County Manager shall appoint, suspend, and remove County officers 
and employees except those elected by the people or whose appointment is otherwise provided for by law.  The 
County Manager shall make appointments, dismissals and suspensions in accordance with the state statutes and 
other policies and procedures spelled out in other Articles in this Policy.  
 
The County Manager shall: 
a) recommend rules and revisions to the personnel system to the County Board of Commissioners for 

consideration; 
 
b) make changes as necessary to maintain an up to date and accurate position classification plan; 
 
c) recommend necessary revisions to the pay plan; 
 
d) determine which employees shall be subject to the overtime provisions of FLSA; 
 
f) develop and administer such recruiting programs as may be necessary to obtain an adequate supply of 

competent applicants to meet the needs of the County; 
 
g) perform such other duties as may be assigned by the County Board of Commissioners not inconsistent with 

this Policy; and 
 
h) appoint an employee to the role of Human Resources Director or serve in that role for the County. 

7.D.b

Packet Pg. 85

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

er
so

n
n

el
 P

o
lic

y1
21

51
5 

 (
26

07
 :

 P
er

so
n

n
el

 P
o

lic
y 

- 
K

en
 B

o
w

m
an

)



7 
 

 
Section 5. Responsibilities of the Human Resources Director 
 
The responsibilities of the Human Resources Director are to make recommendations to the County Manager on the 
following: 
a) recommend rules and revisions to the personnel system to the County Manager for consideration; 
 
b) recommend changes as necessary to maintain an up to date and accurate position classification plan; 
 
c) recommend necessary revisions to the pay plan; 
 
d) recommend which employees shall be subject to the overtime provisions of FLSA; 
 
e) maintain a roster of all persons in the County service 
 
f) establish and maintain a list of authorized positions in the County service at the beginning of each budget 

year which identifies each authorized position, class title of position, salary range, any changes in class title 
and status, position number and other such data as may be desirable or useful; 

 
g) develop and administer such recruiting programs as may be necessary to obtain an adequate supply of 

competent applicants to meet the needs of the County; 
 
h) develop and coordinate training and educational programs for County employees; 
 
I) investigate periodically the operation and effect of the personnel provisions of this policy; and 
 
j) perform such other duties as may be assigned by the County Manager not inconsistent with this Policy. 
 
In the event there is no Human Resources Office, these duties will be assumed by the County Manager or his/her 
designee. 
 
Section 6. Application of Policies, Plan, Rules, and Regulations 
 
This personnel policy and all rules and regulations adopted pursuant thereto shall be binding on all County employees. 
The County Manager, County Attorney, elected officials, Clerk to the Board of Commissioners, Tax Administrator, 
Finance Officer, appointed members of the County Board and advisory boards and commissions will be exempted 
except in sections where specifically included. An employee violating any of the provisions of this policy shall be 
subject to appropriate disciplinary action, as well as prosecution under any civil or criminal laws which have been 
violated. 
 
Section 7. Departmental Rules and Regulations   
 
Due to the particular personnel and operational requirements of the various departments of the County, each 
department is authorized to establish supplemental rules and regulations applicable only to the personnel of that 
department. All such rules and regulations shall be subject to the approval of the County Manager or designee, and 
shall not in any way conflict with the provisions of this Policy, but shall be considered as a supplement to this Chapter. 
The Sheriff or Register of Deeds may utilize this Personnel Policy for use in his/her department at his/her discretion.  
If the Sheriff or Register of Deeds declines to utilize all or any part of this Personnel Policy for his/her department, 
then none of this Personnel Policy shall apply to that department and the County Commissioners shall not be bound 
by this Policy and shall not be required (except as required by the General Statutes) to provide any funding, 

7.D.b

Packet Pg. 86

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

er
so

n
n

el
 P

o
lic

y1
21

51
5 

 (
26

07
 :

 P
er

so
n

n
el

 P
o

lic
y 

- 
K

en
 B

o
w

m
an

)



8 
 

assistance, staffing, or other resource to the Sheriff or Register of Deeds declining to abide by all or any part of this 
Personnel Policy. 
 
Section 8. Definitions 
 
For the purposes of this chapter, the following words and phrases shall have the meanings respectively ascribed to 
them by this section: 
 
Adverse Action. An involuntary demotion, reduction in pay, suspension, reduction in force, or separation from 
employment. 
 
Anniversary Date.  The employee’s most recent date of employment with the county service in a permanent position. 
 
Appointing Authority.  Any County board or official with the legal authority to make hiring decisions. 
 
Classification.  A title of a single or group of positions which are sufficiently similar to require the same set of 
knowledge, skills, abilities, education and experience qualifications. 
 
Department. (Webster’s 2003) A field of activity.  
 
Full-time employee. An employee who is in a position for which an average work week equals at least 40 hours, and 
continuous employment of at least 12 months, is required by the County  
 
Part-time employee. An employee who is in a position for which an average work week of at least 20 hours and less 
than 40 hours and continuous employment of at least 12 months is required by the County. 
 
Permanent position.  A position authorized for the budget year for a full twelve months and budgeted for twenty or 
more hours per week.  All County positions are subject to budget review and approval each year by the Board of 
Commissioners and all employees' work and conduct must meet County standards.  Therefore, reference to 
"permanent " positions or employment should not be construed as a contract or right to perpetual funding or 
employment. 
 
Probationary employee. An employee appointed to a full or part-time regular position who has not yet successfully 
completed the designated probationary period of six months. Persons in trainee or work against appointments are a 
probationary employee for the full duration of their appointment in that status. 
 
Regular employee. An employee appointed to a full or part-time position who has successfully completed the 
designated probationary period. 
 
Temporary employee. An employee appointed to a position for which either the average work week required by the 
County over the course of a year is less than 20 hours, or continuous employment required by the County is less than 
12 months. 
 
Trainee. An employee status when an applicant is hired (or employee promoted) who does not meet all of the 
requirements for the position. During the duration of a trainee appointment, the employee is on probationary status. 
 
Unit. (Webster 2003) A single person or group especially as a part of a whole.  
 
Work Against Appointment. In departments whose employees are subject to the State Personnel Act, the 
appointing authority may appoint an employee in a work against situation. When qualified applicants are unavailable 

7.D.b

Packet Pg. 87

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

er
so

n
n

el
 P

o
lic

y1
21

51
5 

 (
26

07
 :

 P
er

so
n

n
el

 P
o

lic
y 

- 
K

en
 B

o
w

m
an

)



9 
 

and there is no trainee provision for the classification of the vacancy, the appointing authority may appoint an 
employee below the level of the regular classification in a "work against" appointment. This appointment is for the 
purpose of allowing the employee to gain the qualifications needed for the full class through on the job experience. A 
work against appointment may not be made when applicants are available who meet the training and experience 
requirements for the full class in the position being recruited. During the duration of the work against appointment, 
the employee is on probationary status. 

 

ARTICLE II.  POSITION CLASSIFICATION PLAN 
 
Section 1.  Adoption of Classification Plan 
 

The County will establish and maintain a Position Classification Plan. The County Board of Commissioners has 
responsibility for adopting the position classification plan that assigns all County positions to position classifications. 

This position classification plan shall include all classes of positions in the County. For each position there shall be a 

written position or class description which will include the following: 
a. a position summary which explains the nature of the work responsibilities of the position; 
 

b. the essential duties and responsibilities; 
 

c. position requirements such as the knowledge, skills, and abilities necessary for performance of the work;  
 

d. a statement of the education, experience and training required, and desired (if different) for recruitment;  
 

e. specialized requirements such as licensures, certifications, or registrations; and 
 

f. physical requirements and working conditions in compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act. 
 
Section 2. Allocation of Positions 

 
The County Manager, in consultation with the appropriate Department Manager, shall approve the allocation of each 
position covered by the position classification plan to its appropriate class. The Departments of Social Services will 
process classifications through the County Manager within the parameters established by the Office of State 
Personnel.  
 

Section 3. Maintenance of Classification Plan 

 
The County Manager or designee shall be responsible for the administration and maintenance of the position 

classification plan to ensure that position classifications accurately reflect the essential duties and responsibilities, 
required knowledge, skills, and abilities, and other requirements. Department Managers shall be responsible for 
notifying the County Manager or designee of substantive changes in the nature of the duties, responsibilities, working 

conditions, or other factors affecting the classification of any existing position in their department. 

 
The County Manager or designee shall review and analyze changes in position classifications and determine whether 
the change in the nature or level of duties and responsibilities warrants a revision or reassignment of the position 

classification, establishing a new position classification to which the position is assigned, or take other appropriate 
action. 

 

7.D.b

Packet Pg. 88

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

er
so

n
n

el
 P

o
lic

y1
21

51
5 

 (
26

07
 :

 P
er

so
n

n
el

 P
o

lic
y 

- 
K

en
 B

o
w

m
an

)



10 
 

The County Manager or designee shall determine whether changes in a position classification warrants a review of 
the job evaluation points assigned to a position classification and if so, whether that change results in a change in the 
position classifications assigned grade in the compensation plan. 
 

The County Managers office shall maintain all official position descriptions for all County positions and position 
descriptions for all positions subject to the State Personnel Act.  Positions subject to the State Personnel Act are 
classified by the Office of State Personnel.  

 
Section 4.  Classification of New Positions 

 
The County Manager or his designee shall be responsible for analyzing and assigning new positions to existing 
position classifications or to a new position classification, and evaluating the new position classification for placement 
in the County’s Compensation Plan.  In the case of employees under the State Personnel Act, the County will 

coordinate with the State Personnel Director or their representative to ensure proper classification.  
 

Section 5. Amendments of Position Classification Plan 

 
The Board of Commissioners shall approve amendments to the position classification plan by adding, changing, or 
deleting positions or classes of positions and salary grades based on internal analysis and market comparisons within 

the authorized budget allocation, based upon the County Manager’s recommendations.  
 

Section 6. Administration 

 
The Camden County Board of Commissioners authorizes the County Manager to implement the Position 
Classification Plan upon approval by the Board of Commissioners.  

 
ARTICLE III. PERFORMANCE EVALUATION PROGRAM 

 
Section 1.  Objective 
 

The primary objective of Camden County’s pay for performance and performance appraisal program is to encourage 
a high level of employee performance and recognize County employees who exceed pre-established standards 
utilizing an objective evaluation system. As such, the system will reward performance for those who exceed those 
standards or perform at an exceptional level in serving the citizens of Camden County. All classified positions of the 
County are governed by this program except elected officials, executive employees appointed by the County Board 
of Commissioners, employees of independent boards and commissions, competitive service employees,  and 

temporary and seasonal part-time employees.  

 
Section 2. Authority 

 
This procedure shall be approved by the County Commissioners of Camden County. 
 

Section 3. Direction 

 
The County Manager, under the direction of the Board of Commissioners of Camden County, is responsible for 

implementation of a performance evaluation system. 
 
 

 

7.D.b

Packet Pg. 89

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

er
so

n
n

el
 P

o
lic

y1
21

51
5 

 (
26

07
 :

 P
er

so
n

n
el

 P
o

lic
y 

- 
K

en
 B

o
w

m
an

)



11 
 

Section 4. Definitions  
 
ANNUAL REVIEW PERIOD: The annual period of performance of an employee covered by these procedures begins 
with the employee’s date of hire, or appointment to his or her current position and ends during the will occur annually 

at the end of the calendar year period established for employee evaluations. 
 
PERFORMANCE INCREASE: An annual increase in salary based on an employee exceeding performance 

standards. Salary increases will be based on a uniform percentage established by the County. 
 

PERFORMANCE FACTOR: A key job responsibility - linked to the County department’s goals and or mission 
statement. 
 
PERFORMANCE GOAL: A projected result - measured in terms of quality, quantity, and timeliness. 

 
PERFORMANCE INCREASE PROGRAM: Provides recognition and reward for performance that consistently 

exceeds standards in the form of a salary adjustment to an employee’s base pay. 

 
PROBATIONARY EMPLOYEE:   An employee assigned to a permanent position (full-time) who has not completed 
an approved probationary period of employment with the County in that particular position. This period is six (6) 

months for standard employees, nine (9) months for Social Services, twelve (12) months for Sheriff and Department 
Heads unless extended.  

 

RATER: An employee having direct authority over the employee rated, herein referred to as “Rater” or “Supervisor.” 
The rater is designated as a Department Director, Departmental Supervisor, Executive/Administrative Official, or the 
County Manager. 

 
REGULAR EMPLOYEE: Full-time employee who has successfully completed the probationary period in a permanent 

position. 
 
Section 5. Policy 

 
a. Employees’ performance is formally evaluated annually for their current position. All employees in Camden 

County will be evaluated in conjunction with a schedule which coincides with preparation of the County’s 
annual budget.    

b. Eligible employees who have been promoted/transferred/demoted  will be placed in Step 2 of the grad 
assigned to their position. and are in a probationary status may receive a performance increase upon 

completion of their probationary period. Note that if an employees’ pay falls below the minimum of their 

assigned pay grade, their salary will be adjusted to the minimum of the grade, when, and if salary ranges are 
adjusted (normally the beginning of the pay period closest to July 1st of each year). However, upon 

completion of their probationary period, if a performance increase is to be awarded, the employee will receive 
the difference between the recommended performance amount and the range adjustment amount received. 

c. Employees who receive an overall rating of Below Standards will be provided an opportunity to improve their 

performance, but shall be placed on probationary status in accordance with County policy.  

 
All employees covered by this policy are evaluated by comparing performance with established performance factors 

and defined performance levels. 
 
 

 

7.D.b

Packet Pg. 90

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

er
so

n
n

el
 P

o
lic

y1
21

51
5 

 (
26

07
 :

 P
er

so
n

n
el

 P
o

lic
y 

- 
K

en
 B

o
w

m
an

)



12 
 

 
Section 6. Performance Factors 
 
Employees in exempt and non-exempt positions are evaluated on the basis of standardized performance factors 

designed to measure significant dimensions of their positions as outlined in the County’s adopted Performance and 
Management Evaluation System. 
 

All performance factors are defined on the Performance Appraisal Form developed for each approved County job 
classification. 

 
Section 7. Establishing Performance Goals 
 
It is recommended that goals be established for employees in exempt and non-exempt positions. Employees develop their 

performance goals and discuss them with their supervisor to ensure conformity with unit objectives and the County’s goals 

for that particular office or department. Mutually agreed upon goals are submitted to the reviewer by the employee to 

ensure consistency with office/division/or departmental objectives. For probationary employees, the employee’s supervisor 

develops the employee’s initial goals. 

 
Section 8. Rating Employee’s Performance 

 
An employee’s performance is rated on the degree to which the employee demonstrates behaviors described within 

each pre-established performance factor and, where applicable, on the basis of attainment of performance goals. For 

each performance factor, the rater selects the level, which most closely describes the employee’s performance. The 
five (5) levels of performance used in ratings are: 

a. Exceptional Performance: Employee consistently performs above the established performance standard 

for the element. In addition, the employee regularly makes positive contributions to the work unit that 
demonstrates creativity and initiative. Employee has complete understanding of all the requirements of the 

position and how they relate to the goals of the organization, the mission of the department and the needs of 
other departments. 

b. Exceeds Standards: Employee usually performs above the established performance standard for the 

element. Employee performs effectively and makes contributions to the work unit that are above the 
established standards. Employee takes a leadership role in developing new ideas on how to improve the 
level of service and possesses the job knowledge, skills and abilities required to successfully complete all 
assigned tasks efficiently and effectively. 

c. Meets Standards: Employee maintains performance level in accordance with the established standard for 
the element and performs job duties at or near full proficiency. Employee’s work is completed accurately and 

on time and the employee works well with associates and the public. 

d. Needs Improvement: Employee is not meeting some of the performance standards for some of the 
elements. Counseling may be necessary. Employee may need further training. Employee may be lacking 

some of the required knowledge, skills, and abilities required to perform some tasks to established standards. 
e. Below Standards: Employee not meeting the performance standards established for the elements required 

of this position. Corrective measures are necessary. Employee needs additional training. Employee lacks the 

required knowledge, skills and abilities and is unable to perform the tasks required of the position. 

 
 

 
 
 

Section 9.     Frequency of Ratings 

7.D.b

Packet Pg. 91

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

er
so

n
n

el
 P

o
lic

y1
21

51
5 

 (
26

07
 :

 P
er

so
n

n
el

 P
o

lic
y 

- 
K

en
 B

o
w

m
an

)



13 
 

 
An employee’s performance is formally evaluated at the end of the Annual Review Period with the following 
exceptions. 
a. Probationary Ratings: A probationary employee’s performance is evaluated prior to the completion of the 

approved probationary period.  Probationary ratings are to be submitted to the County Manager, or his 
designee, no later than fifteen (15) calendar days prior to the close of the employee’s probationary period.  
Should an employee’s performance improve or deteriorate significantly any time prior to the close of a 

probationary period, the preliminary performance evaluation may be modified. 
b. Extended Probationary Ratings: Should a probationary employee’s overall performance be less than Meets 

Standards and the employee is not terminated, the reviewer may request, to the County Manager, or his 
designee, in writing, that the employee’s probationary period be extended not to exceed ninety(90) additional 
days. The employee’s performance should be evaluated and submitted to the County Manager, or his 
designee, prior to the completion of this extended probationary period. 

c. Transfer/Termination of Rater: A performance evaluation is submitted on an employee at the time of 
transfer, promotion, or termination of the rater for reasons other than termination for cause, provided an 

employee performance evaluation has not been completed within ninety (90) days. This process facilitates 

the new supervisor’s ability to rate the employee’s entire evaluation period.i 
d. Diminished Performance: If at any time during the review period an employee’s performance diminishes 

and falls Below Standards, the employee should be counseled to determine the cause and a specific 

corrective action plan should be developed. If improvement is not achieved within thirty (30) days, the 
employee’s performance should be evaluated and the employee placed on probation, not to exceed ninety 

(90) days. If the employee’s performance has not reached at least a Needs Improvement overall rating, the 

employee will be terminated.  Documentation to support this action must be attached by the evaluator. The 
employee may be terminated at any time during the probationary period. 

 

Reviewers are responsible for ensuring all documents are forwarded to the County Manager, or his designee, 
according to the time requirements outlined in this policy. 

 
Section 10. Administration of Performance Appraisal 
 

Annual Fund Allocation Process 
a. The County Manager, working with the County Commissioners, shall annually review performance of the Pay 

for Performance Program.  
 
Section 11. Employee Evaluation Administrative Process 
 

The County Manager or his designee will distribute performance appraisal forms for the Departments unable to 

access them from the County’s internal computer networks. 
a. Establishing Standards, Goals and Objectives 

Employees will review the standardized performance factors established for their positions. Department 
Heads and Supervisors (raters) meet with employees to review the performance appraisal system, discuss 
job requirements and standards that are applicable to the position, and, if feasible, jointly establish goals and 

objectives for the coming year. 

Employees and reviewers sign the performance appraisal form to signify this process was accomplished. 
 

 
 

 

b. Monitoring Performance 

Commented [SJ1]: Possibly remove. Wanted your 
thoughts.  

7.D.b

Packet Pg. 92

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

er
so

n
n

el
 P

o
lic

y1
21

51
5 

 (
26

07
 :

 P
er

so
n

n
el

 P
o

lic
y 

- 
K

en
 B

o
w

m
an

)



14 
 

To measure progress toward the accomplishment of established performance goals and the performance of 
job requirements, Department Heads and Supervisors should maintain accurate and specific documentation 
of employee performance. 
 

Department Heads and Supervisors should provide feedback to their employees on a regular basis regarding 
performance.  
 
Before the end of the Annual Review Period, the Human Resource Office will send reminders or will distribute 
evaluation forms and any other information and documents to facilitate the performance evaluation process.  

 
ARTICLE IV.  THE PAY PLAN 
 
Section 1. Definition 
 
The pay plan includes the Salary Schedule and the Assignment of Classes to Salary Grades and Ranges Steps 
adopted by the Board of County Commissioners. The salary schedule may consist of a Hiring, Minimum, Midpoint, 
and Maximum rates of pay or a series of pay steps for each job classification approved by the Board of County 
Commissioners. Salary increases within the pay range steps shall be based on criteria established by the County 
Manager and approved by the Board of County Commissioners. 
 
Section 2. Administration and Maintenance 
 
The County Manager shall be responsible for the administration and maintenance of the pay plan. All employees 
covered by the pay plan shall be paid at a rate within the salary range step 1 or 2 established for the respective 
position classification, except for employees in trainee status or employees whose existing salaries are above the 
established maximum rate following transition to a new pay plan.  
 
The pay plan is intended to provide equitable compensation for all positions, reflecting differences in the duties and 
responsibilities, the comparable rates of pay for positions in public employment in the area, changes in the cost of 
living, the financial conditions of the County, and other factors. To this end, from time to time the County Manager, 
assisted by the Human Resources Director, shall make comparative studies of all factors affecting the level of salary 
ranges and may make minor adjustments in the allocation of positions to salary grades. When major adjustments 
encompassing numerous positions are needed, or when a general adjustment is needed to the pay plan, the County 
Manager shall recommend such changes in salary ranges as appear to be warranted to the Board. The Board shall 
adopt the Salary Schedule and assignment of Job Classes to Salary Grades, including any minor adjustments made 
by the County Manager during the previous budget year, annually as part of the budget process.  
 
The County Manager may approve in-range adjustments to employee salaries not to exceed ten percent when 
necessary to accommodate inequities, special performance or achievements, or other issues. 
 
Section 3. Starting Salaries 
 
All persons employed in positions approved in the position classification plan normally shall be employed at the Hiring 
Rate step 1 or 2 for the classification in which they are employed; however, on the recommendation of the department 
head, with the approval of the County Manager, employee salaries may be approved above the Hiring Rate. Reasons 
for hiring above the Hiring Rate include exceptional education and experience qualifications of the applicant, a 
shortage of qualified applicants, and/or the refusal of qualified applicants to accept employment at the Hiring Rate. 
Department Heads shall consider internal equity of other employees in the department when making a 
recommendation for employment above the Hiring Rate.  

Commented [SJ2]: I am not sure if we want to revamp this 
section with what you sent over to me or if we should revised 
some of what is currently here.  

7.D.b

Packet Pg. 93

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

er
so

n
n

el
 P

o
lic

y1
21

51
5 

 (
26

07
 :

 P
er

so
n

n
el

 P
o

lic
y 

- 
K

en
 B

o
w

m
an

)



15 
 

Elected officials, i.e. the Sheriff and Register of Deeds, shall be paid upon initial election or appointment, at the entry 
rate of pay for the position because there is no appointing authority to make decisions concerning their qualifications 
for placement above the hiring rate. 
 
Section 4. Trainee Designation and Provisions 
 
Applicants being considered for employment or County employees who do not meet all of the requirements for the 
position for which they are being considered may be hired, promoted, demoted, or transferred by the County Manager 
to a "trainee" status or under the State Personnel Act job classes as a "work against.” In such cases, a plan for training 
and meeting the minimum qualification for the job classification, including a time schedule, must be prepared by the 
supervisor. An employee shall remain at the trainee or "work against" salary level until the Department Head certifies 
that the employee is qualified to assume full responsibilities of the position and the County Manager approves the 
certifications. The Department Head shall review the progress of each employee in a trainee or "work against" status 
every six months or more frequently as necessary to determine when the employee is qualified to assume full 
responsibilities of the position. "Trainee" salaries may be one to three grades below the Hiring rate established for 
the position for which the person is being trained. Assignment three grades below is appropriate when the traineeship 
is expected to last two years. Assignment two grades below is appropriate for more than six months but less than two 
years. (Note: Positions subject to the State Personnel Act may be assigned no more than two grades below as for 
trainee purposes.) The actual assignment should be reviewed and approved by the Human Resources Director. A 
new employee designated as "trainee" or in a "work against" appointment shall be in a probationary status until 
requirements for the full job class are met. 
 
If the training is not successfully completed as planned, the employee shall be transferred, demoted, or dismissed. If 
the training is successfully completed, the employee shall be paid at least at the Hiring rate established for the job 
class. 
 
Section 5. Probationary Pay Increases 
 
Upon successful completion of the probationary period &  meeting standards on their annual performance evaluation, 
employees are eligible to move to the next step in their current grade on their anniversary date of hire, promotion, 
transfer or demotion. 
Employees hired into the Hiring Rate or step 1 of the pay range shall receive a salary increase within the salary range 
of 5% upon successful completion of the probationary period. Employees hired above the hiring rate or step 1 may 
also be considered for an increase when removed from probationary status, based upon performance level.  
 
Section 6. Pay Range Increases 
 
Upward movement within the established salary range for an employee is not automatic but rather based upon 
specific criteria prepared by the County Manager with assistance from the Human Resources Director and approved 
by the Board. 
 
Section 7. Performance Pay Bonus 
 
If the County implements a performance pay system, employees who are at the maximum of the salary range for their 
position classification will be eligible to be considered for a performance  
(merit) bonus at their regular performance evaluation time. Performance (merit) bonuses shall be awarded based 
upon the performance of the employee as described in the performance evaluation and shall be the same percentage 
of annual salary as employees within the salary range with the same performance level. Performance (merit) bonuses 
do not become part of base pay and shall be awarded in a lump sum payment. Employees above the maximum of 
the range are not eligible for this increase. 

7.D.b

Packet Pg. 94

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

er
so

n
n

el
 P

o
lic

y1
21

51
5 

 (
26

07
 :

 P
er

so
n

n
el

 P
o

lic
y 

- 
K

en
 B

o
w

m
an

)



16 
 

 
Section 8. Salary Effect of Promotions, Demotions, Transfers, and Reclassifications 
 
Promotions. When an employee is promoted to a position with a higher salary grade, the employee's salary shall be 
advanced to the Hiring Rate (step 2) of the new position, or the next step in the promoational grade closest to current 
salary if employee is making more than step 2 or to a salary which provides an increase of 5% over the employee's 
salary before the promotion, provided, however, that the new salary may not exceed the Maximum rate of the new 
salary range. The purpose of the promotional pay increase is to recognize and compensate the employee for 
assuming increased responsibility. The amount of the salary adjustment should be based on: 
 
a) the employee’s related education, training, and experience; 
 
b) the nature and magnitude of the change in jobs; 
 
c) budget availability; 
 
d) consistency with similar situations in the past; 
 
e) internal equity within the work unit; and 
 
f) other relevant issues. 
 
Cost of living (or market adjustment), probationary increases for a previous job, and other in-range increases cannot 
take the place of a promotional increase.  The position of the employee’s adjusted salary within the new salary range 
shall not exceed the position of the employee’s salary in the current range. 
 
Demotions. When an employee is demoted to a position for which qualified, the salary shall be set at the rate in the 
lower pay range which provides a salary commensurate with the employees’ qualifications to perform the job when 
the demotion is not the result of discipline.  If the current salary is within the new range, the employee's salary may 
be retained at the previous rate, if appropriate, as determined by the County Manager. Consideration should be given 
to whether the employee is receiving the same pay for decreased workload or responsibility level and action should 
be appropriate to this consideration along with internal equity consideration of the pay rate of other employees in the 
same classification. If the demotion is the result of disciplinary action, the salary shall be decreased 5%, but may be 
no greater than the maximum of the new range. 
 
Transfers. The salary of an employee reassigned to a position in the same class or to a position in a different class 
within the same salary grade shall not be changed by the reassignment. 
 
Reclassifications. An employee whose position is reclassified to a class having a higher salary range shall receive 
a pay increase of 5% or an increase to the Minimum Rate (or step 2) of the new pay range, whichever is higher. If 
the position is reclassified to a lower pay range, the employee's salary shall remain the same. If the employee's salary 
is above the maximum established for the new range, the salary of that employee shall be maintained at the current 
level until the range is increased above the employee's salary. 
 
Section 9.  Salary Effect of Salary Range Revisions  
 
When a class of positions is assigned to a higher salary range as a result of labor market conditions, employees in 
that class shall receive a 5% increase for each salary grade increase, if such increases do not exceed the midpoint 
of the new range. The employee shall receive a minimum of 5% for the range revision, even if such increases takes 
the employee above the midpoint of the new range. When a class of positions is assigned to a lower salary range, 

7.D.b

Packet Pg. 95

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

er
so

n
n

el
 P

o
lic

y1
21

51
5 

 (
26

07
 :

 P
er

so
n

n
el

 P
o

lic
y 

- 
K

en
 B

o
w

m
an

)



17 
 

the salaries of employees in that class will remain unchanged. If this assignment to a lower salary range results in an 
employee being paid at a rate above the maximum established for the new class, the salary of that employee shall 
be maintained at that level until such time as the employee's salary range is increased above the employee's current 
salary. 
 
Section 10. Transition to a New Salary Plan 
 
The following principles shall govern the transition to a new salary plan: 
 
1) No employee shall receive a salary reduction as a result of the transition to a new salary plan. 
 
2) All employees being paid at a rate lower than the Minimum rate (step 3)  established for their respective 

classes shall have their salaries raised to the new Minimum for their classes. The only exception will be those 
employees in probationary status and currently being paid at the Hiring Rate (step 1), a trainee rate, or in a 
"work against" status.  These employees will remain in their same relative pay status in the new salary grade 
assigned. 

3) All employees being paid at a rate above the Minimum (step 3) and below the Maximum are considered as 
being paid at a competitive rate for the job class and may receive any approved salary plan implementation 
increases as authorized by the Board. 

4) All employees being paid at a rate above the Maximum rate established for their respective classes shall be 
maintained at that salary level with no increase in base pay until such time as the employees' salary range is 
increased above the employees' current salary. 

 
Section 11. Effective Date of Salary Changes 
 
Salary changes approved after the first working day of a pay period shall become effective at the beginning of the 
next pay period, or at such specific date as may be provided by procedures approved by the County Manager. 
 
Section 12. Overtime Pay Provisions 
 
Employees of the County can be requested and may be required to work overtime hours as necessitated by the 
needs of the County and determined by the supervisor.  Overtime work requires the prior approval of the employee’s 
department head or supervisor. 
 
To the extent that local government jurisdictions are so required, the County will comply with the Fair Labor Standards 
Act (FLSA). The County Manager shall determine which jobs are "Non Exempt" and are therefore subject to the Act 
in areas such as hours of work and work periods, rates of overtime compensation, and other provisions. 
Nonexempt employees will be paid at a straight time rate for hours up to the FLSA established limit for their position 
(usually 40 hours in a 7-day period or alternative FLSA approved full time schedule). Employees in law enforcement 
job classes may earn overtime based on a 28-day time period. Hours worked beyond the FLSA established limit will 
be compensated in time or pay at the appropriate overtime rate. In determining eligibility for overtime in a work period, 
only hours actually worked shall be considered; in no event will vacation, sick leave, or holidays be included in the 
computation of hours worked for FLSA purposes.   
 
Whenever practicable, departments will schedule time off on an hour-for-hour basis within the applicable work period 
for nonexempt employees, instead of paying overtime.  When time off within the work period cannot be granted, 
overtime worked will be given in the form of compensatory time off or paid in accordance with the FLSA. 
 
Compensatory time off may be granted whenever feasible and determined by the County Manager, based on 
recommendations from the Department Head. Accumulation of more than forty hours of compensatory time is 

7.D.b

Packet Pg. 96

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

er
so

n
n

el
 P

o
lic

y1
21

51
5 

 (
26

07
 :

 P
er

so
n

n
el

 P
o

lic
y 

- 
K

en
 B

o
w

m
an

)



18 
 

discouraged and must have the approval of the County Manager. Nonexempt employees separating from 
employment shall be paid for their compensatory time balances. 
 
In emergency situations, where employees are required to work long and continuous hours, the County Manager may 
approve compensation at time and one half (1 ½) for those hours worked and/or grant time off with pay for rest and 
recuperation to ensure safe working conditions. 
Employees in positions determined to be "exempt" from the FLSA (as Executive, Administrative, or Professional staff) 
will not receive pay for hours worked in excess of their normal work periods. These employees may be granted 
compensatory leave by their supervisor where the convenience of the department allows and in accordance with 
procedures established by the County Manager. Such compensatory time is not guaranteed to be taken and ends 
without compensation upon separation from the organization. 
 
Section 13. On-Call and Call-Back Compensation 
 
The County provides compensation for employees who are required to be available for after hour on-call coverage. 
Compensation for time spent while on-call and for time spent when actually called back to work shall be determined 
according to the following: 
 
1) On-call (standby) time consists of scheduled non-work hours in excess of the standard work period when an 

employee is required to be available to be called back to work on a regularly scheduled or emergency basis. 
Call-back time consists of actual time spent when called back to work to handle a scheduled or emergency 
situation.  An employee is required by FLSA to be paid for on-call time if he or she must remain near an 
established telephone or otherwise substantially restrict personal activities in order to be ready to respond 
when called.  The County chooses to compensate employees at a rate less than regular pay for the 
inconvenience of on-call pay when a pager is used and time is not substantially restricted. 

 
2) On-call standby schedules must be approved by the Department Head, but are limited to funds available 

budgeted for this purpose. The Human Resources Office shall maintain a list of employees who are approved 
for on-call compensation arrangements. 

 
3) Non-exempt employees will be guaranteed a minimum payment of two hours of wages for being called back 

to work outside of normal working hours when not on stand-by.  "Call-back" provisions do not apply to 
previously scheduled overtime work (scheduled one or more days in advance). 

 
 
4) Non-exempt employees required to be on "stand-by" duty will be paid for five hours of work for each week 

(approximately 128 hours, excluding work time) of stand-by time they serve.  Stand-by compensation for less 
than one full week shall be determined by the ratio of .04 hours of pay per one hour of stand-by time.  Hours 
actually worked while on stand-by are calculated beginning when the employee reports to the work site and 
are added to the regular total of hours worked for the week.  

 
Section 14. Payroll Schedule and Deductions 
 
Deductions shall be made from each employee's salary, as required by law. Additional deductions may be made upon 
the request of the employee on determination by the County Manager as to capability of payroll equipment and 
appropriateness of the deduction. 
 
 
 
 

7.D.b

Packet Pg. 97

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

er
so

n
n

el
 P

o
lic

y1
21

51
5 

 (
26

07
 :

 P
er

so
n

n
el

 P
o

lic
y 

- 
K

en
 B

o
w

m
an

)



19 
 

 
Section 15.  Hourly Rate of Pay for full-time, part- time and Temporary Employees and for Work Weeks 

with Varying Hours 
 
Employees working in a part-time or temporary capacity with the same duties as full-time employees will work at a 
rate in the same salary range as the full-time employees.  The hourly rate for employees working other than 40 hours 
per week, such as employees working 37.5 hours per week and law enforcement officers working an average 42 
hours per week, will be determined by dividing the average number of hours scheduled per year into the annual salary 
established for the position. 
 
Section 16.  Travel Expenses. – See Finance Policy on Travel 
 
All County employees shall be reimbursed for actual travel expenses while on county business at the following rates.  
Employees must submit a completed expense voucher accompanied by actual receipts before receiving 
reimbursement for travel expenses. 
 
1. Subsistence Allowance – Receipts for meals must accompany all expense vouchers for reimbursement.  Tips shall 

be reimbursed at actual cost.  
 
2. Mileage Allowance – The actual amount allowed by the Internal Revenue Service.  The effective date of any increase 

will be as soon as practical after notification is received from the Internal Revenue Service. 
 
3. Motel – Actual reasonable expenses as approved by the department head.  Receipts for motel expenses must 

accompany expense vouchers. 
 
4. Registration Fees – Actual registration fees as documented by proper receipts. 
 
5. Parking Fees – Actual parking fees as documented by proper receipts. 
 
6. Air Travel – Actual air travel expenses as approved in advance by the department head. 
 

Section 17.  Salary Increases Due to Completion of Required Certifications 
 
Employees may be required to obtain or maintain licenses, certifications or registrations as required by law, rule 
regulation, occupation boards or the duties of their position. Upon successful completion of these certifications, all 
utility workers and building inspectors will be awarded a one-time lump sum 2% payment 2% increase in salary 
(limited to one increase per fiscal year).  This will be effective the first month after completion upon formal written 
documentation being submitted to the Personnel Officer and approval by the County Manager. Employees who fail 
to obtain or maintain any license, certification or registration required by law, rules, or provision as required by the 
duties of the position may result in disciplinary action up to and including termination.  
 
Section 18. Cost of Living Raises  
 
Employees who have not completed their probationary period are not eligible for Cost of Living increases (COLA) 
effective July 1, 2006. 
 
ARTICLE V.  RECRUITMENT AND EMPLOYMENT 
 
Section 1. Equal Employment Opportunity Policy 
 
It is the policy of the County to foster, maintain and promote equal employment opportunity. The County shall select 

Commented [SJ3]: Need to delete section. Just refer to the 
Finance Policy 

7.D.b

Packet Pg. 98

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

er
so

n
n

el
 P

o
lic

y1
21

51
5 

 (
26

07
 :

 P
er

so
n

n
el

 P
o

lic
y 

- 
K

en
 B

o
w

m
an

)



20 
 

employees on the basis of the applicant's qualifications for the job and award them, with respect to compensation 
and opportunity for training and advancement, including upgrading and promotion, without regard to race, color, 
religion, sex, national origin, political affiliation, qualified disability, marital status, or age. Applicants with disabilities 
shall be given equal consideration with other applicants for positions in which their disabilities do not represent an 
unreasonable barrier to satisfactory performance of duties. 
 
Section 2. Implementation of Equal Employment Opportunity Policy 
 
All personnel responsible for recruitment and employment will continue to review regularly the implementation of this 
policy and relevant practices to assure that equal employment opportunity based on reasonable, job-related job 
requirements is being actively observed to the end that no employee or applicant for employment shall suffer 
discrimination because of race, color, religion, sex, national origin, political affiliation, qualified disability, marital 
status, or age. Notices with regard to equal employment matters shall be posted in conspicuous places on County 
premises in places where notices are customarily posted. 
 
Section 3. Recruitment, Selection and Appointment 
 
Recruitment Sources. When position vacancies occur, the Human Resources Director shall publicize these 
opportunities for employment, including applicable salary information and employment qualifications. Information on 
job openings and hiring practices will be published in local and/or other media as necessary to inform the community 
and create a quality and diverse pool of applicants. In addition, notice of vacancies shall be posted at designated 
conspicuous sites within departments. Individuals shall be recruited from a geographic area as wide as necessary 
and for a period of time sufficient to ensure that well-qualified applicants are obtained for County service. The North 
Carolina Employment Security Commission shall normally be used as a recruitment source. In rare situations because 
of emergency conditions, high turnover, etc., the County may hire or promote without advertising jobs, upon approval 
of the County Manager. 
 
Job Advertisements. Employment advertisements shall contain assurances of equal employment opportunity and 
shall comply with Federal and State statutes. 
 
Application for Employment. All persons expressing interest in employment with the County shall be given the 
opportunity to file an application for employment for positions which are currently being recruited. 
 
Applicant Interest Card. Persons interested in employment with the County may complete an applicant interest card 
concerning all of the positions for which they wish to apply. These cards will be maintained for a period of six months. 
When a vacancy occurs in positions of interest, the card will be sent, notifying the person and requesting that the 
person complete an application before the designated deadline. 
 
Application Reserve File. Applications shall be kept in an inactive reserve file for a period of two years, in accordance 
with Equal Employment Opportunity Commission guidelines. 
 
Selection. Department heads, with the assistance of the Human Resources Director, shall make such investigations 
and conduct such examinations as necessary to assess accurately the knowledge, skills, and experience 
qualifications required for the position. All selection devices administered by the County shall be valid measures of 
job performance. 
 
Appointment. Before any commitment is made to an applicant either internal or external, the Appointing Authority 
shall make recommendations to the Human Resources Director including the position to be filled, the salary to be 
paid, and the reasons for selecting the candidate over other candidates. The Human Resources Director and 
Department Head shall recommend approval of appointments and the starting salary for all applicants to the 

7.D.b

Packet Pg. 99

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

er
so

n
n

el
 P

o
lic

y1
21

51
5 

 (
26

07
 :

 P
er

so
n

n
el

 P
o

lic
y 

- 
K

en
 B

o
w

m
an

)



21 
 

Appointing Authority.  All employment offers should be confirmed in writing.  The Personnel Action Form, the original 
application for employment, a copy of the employment offer letter, and any additional supporting documents pertaining 
to the selected candidate should be submitted to the County Manager’s office prior to the beginning date of 
employment.  The documents will become part of the new employees personnel file. 
 
Section 4. Probationary Period 
 
A newly hired employee appointed to a regular position shall serve a probationary period. All newly hired employees 
shall serve a six-month probationary period, except that department of social services employees shall serve a nine-
month probationary period, and sworn law enforcement personnel and department heads shall serve a twelve-month 
probationary period. Employees in trainee or "work against" appointments will have specific time frames established 
for their probationary period. 
 
During the probationary period, supervisors shall monitor an employee's performance and communicate with the 
employee concerning performance progress. Before the end of the probationary period, the supervisor shall 
determine whether or not the employee is performing satisfactory work and meeting job expectations. The employee's 
progress (accomplishments, strengths, and areas for improvement) will be discussed with the employee and a 
summary of this discussion should be documented in the employee's personnel file. The supervisor shall recommend 
in writing whether the probationary period should be completed, extended, or the employee transferred, demoted, or 
dismissed. Probationary periods may be extended for a maximum of three additional months. Therefore, the 
maximum probationary period for law enforcement officers and department heads is fifteen months, department of 
social services employees is twelve months and for other County employees is nine months. 
 
Disciplinary action, including demotion and dismissal, may be taken at any time during the probationary period of a 
new hire without following the steps outlined in this Policy. (Section Approved June 4, 2012) 
 
Section 5. Promotion 
 
Promotion is the movement of an employee from one position to a vacant position in a class assigned to a higher 
salary range. It is the County's policy to create career opportunities for its employees whenever possible. Therefore, 
when a current employee applying for a vacant position is best suited of all applicants, that applicant shall be promoted 
to that position. The County will balance three goals in the employment process: 1) the benefits to employees and 
the organization of promotion from within; 2) providing equal employment opportunity and a diversified workforce to 
the community; and 3) obtaining the best possible employee who will provide the most productivity in that position. 
Candidates for promotion shall be chosen on the basis of their qualifications and their work records. Candidates shall 
apply for promotions using the same application process as external candidates. 
 
Section 6. Demotion 
 
Demotion is the movement of an employee from one position to a position in a class assigned to a lower salary range. 
Demotions may be voluntary or involuntary.  An employee whose work or conduct in the current position is 
unsatisfactory may be involuntarily demoted provided that the employee shows promise of becoming a satisfactory 
employee in the lower position. Such demotion shall follow the disciplinary procedures outlined in this chapter. 
Demoted employees may appeal this decision based on the Grievance Process outlined in this Personnel Policy. 
 
An employee may request a voluntary demotion when a vacant position is available. Employees may request 
voluntary demotions in order to accept a position with less complex duties and reduced responsibilities,  to change 
career paths, or for other reasons.  A voluntary demotion is not a disciplinary action and is made without using the 
above-reference disciplinary procedures. 
 

7.D.b

Packet Pg. 100

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

er
so

n
n

el
 P

o
lic

y1
21

51
5 

 (
26

07
 :

 P
er

so
n

n
el

 P
o

lic
y 

- 
K

en
 B

o
w

m
an

)



22 
 

 
Section 7. Transfer 
 
Transfer is the movement of an employee from one position to a position in a class in the same salary range. If a 
vacancy occurs and an employee in another department is eligible for a transfer, the employee shall apply for the 
transfer using the usual application process. The Department Head wishing to transfer an employee to a different 
department or classification shall make a recommendation to the County Manager. Any employee transferred without 
requesting the action may appeal the action in accordance with the grievance procedure outlined in this policy. 
 
ARTICLE VI.  CONDITIONS OF EMPLOYMENT 
 
Section 1. Work Schedule 
 
Department heads shall establish work schedules, with the approval of the County Manager, which meet the 
operational needs of the department in the most cost effective manner possible. 
 
The Sheriff and Register of Deeds shall be exempt from the provisions of this Section, except that they may not work 
any employee more than allowed under the terms and conditions of the salaries and benefits provided for under the 
County budget ordinance. 
 
Section 2. Political Activity 
 
Each employee has a civic responsibility to support good government by every available means and in every 
appropriate manner.  Each employee may join or affiliate with civic organizations of a partisan or political nature, may 
attend political meetings, may advocate and support the principles or policies of civic or political organizations in 
accordance with the Constitution and laws of the State of North Carolina and in accordance with the Constitution and 
laws of the United States. However, no employee shall: 
 
a) Engage in any political or partisan activity while on duty; 

 
b)  Use official authority of influence for the purpose of interfering with or affecting the result of a nomination or 

an election for office; 
 
c) Be required as a duty of employment or as condition for employment, promotion or tenure of office to 

contribute funds for political or partisan purposes; 
 
d) Coerce or compel contributions from another employee of the County for political or partisan purposes; 
 
e) Use any supplies or equipment of the County for political or partisan purposes; or 
 
f) Be a candidate for nomination or election to the office of Camden County Commissioner. 
 
Any violation of this section shall be deemed improper conduct and shall subject the employee to disciplinary action under this 
policy. 

 
Section 3. Expectation of Ethical Conduct 
 
The proper operation of County government requires that public officials and employees be independent, impartial, 
and responsible to the people; that governmental decisions and policy be made in the proper channels of the 
governmental structure; that public office not be used for personal gain; and that the public have confidence in the 

7.D.b

Packet Pg. 101

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

er
so

n
n

el
 P

o
lic

y1
21

51
5 

 (
26

07
 :

 P
er

so
n

n
el

 P
o

lic
y 

- 
K

en
 B

o
w

m
an

)



23 
 

integrity of its government.  
 
As stewards of public resources and holders of the public trust, County employees are expected to up hold the highest 
standards of ethical conduct while fulfilling their job duties and responsibilities.  
 
Section 4. Outside Employment 
 
The work of the County shall have precedence over other occupational interests of employees. All outside 
employment for salaries, wages, or commission and all self-employment must be reported in advance to the 
employee's supervisor, who in turn will report it to the County Manager. The County Manager will review such 
employment for possible conflict of interest and then approve or disapprove the secondary employment. 
Documentation of the approval of outside employment will be placed in the employee’s personnel file. 
 
Examples of conflicts of interest in outside employment include but are not limited to: 
 
a) employment with organizations or in capacities that are regulated by the employee or employee’s department; 

or 
 
b) employment with organizations or in capacities that negatively impact the employee’s perceived integrity, 

neutrality, or reputation related to performance of the employee’s County duties. 
 
Section 5. Dual Employment 
 
A full or part-time employee of the County may simultaneously hold another position with the County if the temporary 
position is in a different department or agency and substantially different capacity and occupational area from that of 
the full or part-time position. The work must also be performed on an occasional or sporadic basis. Any other situation 
requires weighted average pay scales and/or overtime pay.  However, the work of the full or part-time position shall 
take precedence over the temporary position, and such work will not count toward the calculation of overtime for pay 
or time off. 
 
Section 6. Employment of Relatives 
 
The County prohibits the hiring and employment of immediate family in permanent positions within the same work department. 
The County also prohibits the employment of any person into a permanent position who is the spouse, sibling, child or parent 
of individuals holding the following positions: County Board of Commissioners Member, County Manager, Assistant County 
Manager, Human Resources Director, Clerk to the Board, Finance Officer, or County Attorney. Otherwise, the County will 
consider employing family members or related persons in the service of the County, provided that such employment does not: 

 
1) result in a relative supervising relatives; 
 
2) result in a relative auditing the work of a relative; 
 
3) create a conflict of interest with either relative and the County; or  
 
4) create the potential or perception of favoritism. 

 
This clause shall not be retroactive concerning any relative currently working for the County or anyone who has filed for election 
at the time of adoption.  
 
Pursuant to G.S. 153A-103, the Board of Commissioners may approve for employment by the Sheriff or Register of Deeds a 
relative by (a) blood, (b) marriage, (c) nearer kinship than first cousin, or a person who has been convicted of a crime involving 
moral turpitude if the Commissioners make a written finding of fact that such employment was requested by the Sheriff or 

7.D.b

Packet Pg. 102

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

er
so

n
n

el
 P

o
lic

y1
21

51
5 

 (
26

07
 :

 P
er

so
n

n
el

 P
o

lic
y 

- 
K

en
 B

o
w

m
an

)



24 
 

Register of Deeds and the reasons set forth by the Sheriff or Register of Deeds that he/she feels that employing this person 
would be in the best interests of the County and should not follow the hiring policies set forth in this Policy. 

 
Section 7. Harassment 
 
Harassment on the basis or race, color, religion, gender, national origin, age or disability constitutes discrimination. 
The County opposes harassment by supervisors and co-workers in any form. Harassment is verbal or physical 
conduct that denigrates or shows hostility or aversion toward an individual because of his or her race, color, religion, 
gender, national origin, age, or disability, or that of his or her relatives, friends, or associates. 
 
Sexual harassment is defined as unwelcome sexual advances, requests for sexual favors, and other verbal or 
physical conduct of a sexual nature when 1) submission to such conduct is made either explicitly or implicitly a term 
or condition of an individual's employment; 2) submission to or rejection of such conduct by an individual is used as 
the basis for employment decisions affecting such individual; or 3) such conduct has the purpose or effect of 
unreasonably interfering with an individual's work performance or creating an intimidating, hostile, or offensive 
working environment. 
 
Any employee who believes that he or she may have a complaint of harassment may follow the Grievance Procedure 
described in this Policy or may file the complaint directly with the County Manager, Human Resources Director, or 
any department head who will advise the Human Resources Director of the complaint. The Human Resources 
Director will insure that an investigation is conducted into any allegation of harassment and advise the employee and 
appropriate management officials of the outcome of the investigation. 
 
Employees witnessing harassment shall also report such conduct to an appropriate County official. 
 
Section 8. Use of County Time, Equipment, Supplies, and Vehicles 
 
County supplies and equipment are to be used exclusively for the County's business. During working hours, an 
employee shall only conduct County business. Use of County time, supplies, or equipment for personal or other 
purposes not related to the employee's County duties and responsibilities is prohibited and subjects the employee to 
disciplinary action, up to and including dismissal. 
County Vehicles (see Travel Policy approved 08/05/19) may be used for any authorized travel. The requesting party 
must obey all laws of the jurisdiction in which the vehicle is being operated. The vehicle will be used in conducting 
County business only. If use outside County boundaries is authorized by the County Manager (i.e. County training, 
Conferences, etc.) a de minimis amount of personal use, such as driving the vehicle to and from dinner, may be 
allowed. Non-County employees may accompany County employees if they have a business interest in the travel. 
Spouses and children of County employees may accompany them in County vehicles as approved by the County 
Manager if space is available and the trip is strictly for official County business.  
 
A requesting party may use his/her personal vehicle for travel within a 50 miles radius of the County facilities and be 
reimbursed only if one of the following conditions is met:  

1. No County vehicle is available. 
2. The requesting party needs a specially equipped vehicle.  

 
A requesting party may use his/her personal vehicle for long distance travel and be reimbursed as long as approved 
by the County Manager.  
 
All employees, who use County vehicles, are required to follow applicable motor vehicle and safety requirements. 
Violation or misuse of County vehicles also subjects the employee to disciplinary action, up to and including dismissal. 
 

7.D.b

Packet Pg. 103

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

er
so

n
n

el
 P

o
lic

y1
21

51
5 

 (
26

07
 :

 P
er

so
n

n
el

 P
o

lic
y 

- 
K

en
 B

o
w

m
an

)



25 
 

Section 9. Acceptance of Gifts and Favors 
 
No official or employee of the County shall accept any gift, favor, or thing of value that may tend to influence such 
employee in the discharge of the employee's duties, or grant in the discharge of duty an improper favor, service, or 
thing of value. 
 
Section 10. Safety 
 
Safety is the responsibility of both the County and employees. It is the policy of the County to establish a safe work 
environment for employees. The County shall establish a safety program including policies and procedures regarding 
safety practices and precautions and training in safety methods. Department Heads and supervisors are responsible 
for insuring the safe work procedures of all employees and providing necessary safety training programs. Employees 
shall follow the safety policies and procedures and attend safety training programs. Employees who violate such 
policies and procedures shall be subject to disciplinary action up to and including dismissal. 
 
Additional detailed procedures regarding safety, worker's compensation, injury, and infection control may be 
established by the County Manager. 
 
Section 11. Immigration Law Requirements 
 
All employees are required to furnish proof of citizenship or other required documents indicating a legal right to work 
in the United States. Copies of the completed I-9 form shall be a permanent part of their personnel file. 
 
Section 12. Substance Abuse 
 
The County is firmly committed to maintaining a drug and alcohol free work environment in order to insure the safety 
and welfare of the general public and all County employees and to insure an efficient and effective work force. The 
County also seeks to aid employees experiencing substance abuse problems by offering rehabilitation opportunities. 
The County Manager has the authority to establish, administer, and enforce substance abuse processes and 
procedures within the County. The County will adhere to the Drug & Alcohol Testing Policy approved 1/3/2012. 
 
Section 13. Use of Technology Resources 
 
Technology resources belonging to the County including, but not limited to pagers, radios, towers, Internet service, all computer 
equipment and software, email, and any network resources are owned by the County and are in place to enable the County to 
provide services in a timely and efficient manner.  This is the primary function of these resources and any activity that interferes 
or is contrary to this purpose is prohibited.  Any violation of the Technology Resource Policy as approved by the County Manager 
represents grounds for dismissal. 

 
Section 14. Use of Tobacco Products 
 
Except as otherwise provided by law, no employee may smoke or otherwise use tobacco products in any county 
owned, leased, rented, occupied, or otherwise controlled building, facility, property, equipment or vehicle.  The County 
Manager shall designate suitable areas outside of county buildings for smoking or use of tobacco products.  Violation 
of this policy represents grounds for dismissal.  
 
 
 
Section 15. Dress Code 
 

7.D.b

Packet Pg. 104

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

er
so

n
n

el
 P

o
lic

y1
21

51
5 

 (
26

07
 :

 P
er

so
n

n
el

 P
o

lic
y 

- 
K

en
 B

o
w

m
an

)



26 
 

Employees of Camden County create an image to the community, visitors and citizens and are expected to come to 
work well-groomed and dressed in the professional manner appropriate to the activities of their position. 
 
Employees required to wear a uniform must be in complete uniform at all times while on duty as directed by the 
Department head.   The Department head shall outline the condition of the uniform expected of the employees within 
that department, but uniforms should, at a minimum, be clean, pressed and not bearing holes, tears, or significant 
fraying or discoloration. 
 
The wearing of shorts, t-shirts, and tank tops is prohibited.  Employees whose job duties include frequent outside 
activity may wear shorts if approved by the Department head.  Shorts must be no shorter than two inches above the 
knee and must be hemmed. Work jeans and bareback dresses are not appropriate for employees regularly assigned 
to work in County office buildings or facilities.  Wearing any article of clothing or any accessory item that was received 
by gift or reduced cost from a firm that advertises any commercial activity is prohibited. Extreme forms of dress or 
grooming are prohibited.   
 
Beards, sideburns and moustaches should be neatly trimmed and not excessively long.  The Department head may 
adopt regulations that prohibit any long head, or facial hair constituting a safety or occupational hazard. 
 
If, in the opinion of the Department or supervisor, the employee’s appearance or personal hygiene is in violation of 
this Section, the Department head may require the employee to alter his/her appearance to come into compliance 
with this Section and the Department head may provide that any time away from the job to come into compliance with 
this Section shall be taken as vacation leave. 
 
Section 16. Driver’s License 
 
Any employee performing work that requires the operation of a County vehicle must hold a valid driver’s license as a 
condition of continued employment with the County.  In those cases where an employee’s driver’s license is expired, 
suspended or revoked, the employee shall immediately notify his/her Department head of such expiration, suspension 
or revocation.  If an employee fails to immediately notify his/her Department head, then the employee is subject to 
disciplinary action. 
 
Any judicial or administrative proceeding that results in a revocation, suspension or limitation of an employee’s driver’s 
license shall be cause for immediate termination, provided that the County Manager may consider and approve a 
demotion or transfer to another position within the County that does not require the operation of a motor vehicle in 
conducting County business. However, the County manager is not required to make such a demotion or transfer and 
shall retain the authority to terminate the employee or take any lesser disciplinary action. Operation of a motor vehicle 
that results in a judicial or administrative proceeding involving the revocation, suspension or limitation of an 
employee’s driver’s license shall immediately terminate that employee’s right to operate a motor vehicle in the conduct 
of County business. 
 
ARTICLE VII.  EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 
 
Section 1. Eligibility 
 
All part-time and full-time employees of the County are eligible for employee benefits as provided for in this Article 
which are subject to change at the County's discretion. Temporary employees are eligible only for workers' 
compensation and social security. Sheriff and Register of Deeds will be subject to this article.  
 
Section 2. Group Health and Hospitalization Insurance 
 

7.D.b

Packet Pg. 105

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

er
so

n
n

el
 P

o
lic

y1
21

51
5 

 (
26

07
 :

 P
er

so
n

n
el

 P
o

lic
y 

- 
K

en
 B

o
w

m
an

)



27 
 

The County provides group health and hospitalization insurance programs for full-time and part-time employees.   
 
Employees who are scheduled to work 40 hours or more per week on a continuous year-round basis may, if they so 
desire, purchase available group health and hospitalization insurance through the County for themselves or for 
themselves and qualified dependents. Subject to funds available, the County shall pay the employee share of group 
health and hospitalization insurance for full-time employees. Information concerning cost and benefits shall be 
available to all employees from the Human Resources Office. 
 
Employees who were hired prior to January 7, 2013 and retire with twenty or more years of service with Camden 
County may receive paid health insurance from the County until age 65.  When the employee begins coverage under 
Medicare or reaches the age of 65, County-provided health and hospitalization insurance shall cease. 
 
Upon Retirement, Employees who are hired on or after January 8, 2013 will receive no health or dental insurance 
paid by the County, but will be eligible to receive COBRA.  
 
Section 3. Group Life Insurance  
 
The County provides paid life insurance to its employees. Information on costs, coverage, and benefits are available 
from the Human Resources Director. 
 
Section 4. Other Optional Group Insurance Plans  
 
The County may make other group insurance plans available to employees upon authorization of the County Manager 
or County Commissioners. 
 
Section 5. Retirement 
 
Each employee who is expected to work for the County more than 1,000 hours annually shall join the North Carolina 
Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System when eligible as a condition of employment. 
 
Employees contribute, through payroll deduction, six per cent of their gross salary to the system. The County 
contributes an actuarially determined percentage of the gross payroll each month to the system. 
 
Provisions of this system are further outlined in the North Carolina Local Government Employees' Retirement System 
handbook available from the Human Resource Office. 
 
Section 6. Supplemental Retirement Benefits  
 
The County allows employees to defer a portion of their income before taxes into a 401-K tax deferment plan. 
 
The County provides contributions of 5% to a 401-K plan for certified law enforcement personnel as required by the 
state, and an amount to be determined by the County Commissioners to other full and part-time employees. 
 
The County also pays a monthly separation allowance to retired law enforcement officers as required by General 
Statues.  
 
 
 
Section 7. Social Security 
 

7.D.b

Packet Pg. 106

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

er
so

n
n

el
 P

o
lic

y1
21

51
5 

 (
26

07
 :

 P
er

so
n

n
el

 P
o

lic
y 

- 
K

en
 B

o
w

m
an

)



28 
 

The County, to the extent of its lawful authority and power, has extended Social Security benefits for its eligible 
employees and eligible groups and classes of such employees.  
 
Section 8. Workers' Compensation 
 
All employees of the County (full-time, part-time, and temporary) are covered by the North Carolina Workers' 
Compensation Act and are required to report all injuries arising out of and in the course of employment to their 
immediate supervisors at the time of the injury in order that appropriate action may be taken. 
 
Responsibility for claiming compensation under the Workers' Compensation Act is on the injured employee and the 
supervisor and such claims must be filed by the employee with the North Carolina Industrial Commission within two 
years from date of injury. The Human Resources Director or designee will coordinate the filing of such claims. 
 
Section 9. Unemployment Compensation 
 
County employees are covered by unemployment insurance. County employees who are terminated due to a 
reduction in force or released from County service may apply for benefits through the local Employment Security 
Commission office, where a determination of eligibility will be made. 
 
Section 10. Tuition Assistance Program 
 
Full-time employees who have completed initial probation may apply for tuition reimbursement for courses taken on 
their own time, which will improve their skills for their current job or prepare them for promotional opportunities within 
the County service. Tuition, registration, fees, laboratory fees, and student fees are eligible expenses. Employees 
may be reimbursed eligible expenses up to a total of five hundred dollars ($500) per fiscal year subject to availability 
of funds budgeted for this purpose in the current fiscal year. Satisfactory completion of the courses will be required 
for reimbursement. Requests for tuition assistance shall be submitted to the Human Resources Office prior to course 
registration and are subject to the review and approval of Department Head and County Manager, subject to 
availability of funds. 
 
Section 11. Credit Union 
 
Membership in the Local Government Employees' Credit Union is open to all County employees for various loan 
services, checking, and savings accounts. Membership in the State Employees' Credit Union is open to all employees 
under the State Personnel Act and their family members for various loan services, checking, and savings accounts. 
 
ARTICLE VIII.  HOLIDAYS AND LEAVES OF ABSENCE 
 
Section 1. Policy 
 
The policy of the County is to provide vacation leave, sick leave, and holiday leave to all full-time and part-time 
employees in a regular position with County.   
 
Leave balances should accrue with each payroll at a pro-rated amount when employees work or are on a paid leave 
status.  Leave balances should be printed on payroll checks or provided to employees with each paycheck, including 
net accrued sick leave, vacation, holiday leave, and compensatory leave. 
 
Section 2. Holidays 
 
The policy of the County is to follow the holiday schedule as published by the State of North Carolina each year. The 

7.D.b

Packet Pg. 107

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

er
so

n
n

el
 P

o
lic

y1
21

51
5 

 (
26

07
 :

 P
er

so
n

n
el

 P
o

lic
y 

- 
K

en
 B

o
w

m
an

)



29 
 

schedule for the calendar year will be published by December 1 of the previous calendar year for distribution to 
County employees. 
 
An employee must work, use vacation, sick or compensatory leave the day before and the day after in order to receive 
holiday pay with the exception of law enforcement.  
 
The number of holiday hours earned by employees shall be determined in accordance with the formula set forth in 
Section 15 of this article but not to exceed 8 hours of holiday pay for employees and 8.4 hours for law enforcement 
officers.  
 
Departments which have staff working during holidays may designate which days of the week are to be observed 
using the actual legal holidays when appropriate. 
 
Section 3. Holidays: Effect on Other Types of Leave 
 
Regular holidays which occur during a vacation, sick or other leave period of any employee shall not be considered 
as vacation, sick, or other leave. 
  
Section 4. Holidays: Compensation When Work is Required 
 
Essential regular full time public works employees required to perform work on regularly scheduled holidays will be 
paid eight (8) hours of holiday pay on top of their base pay for hours actually worked on a holiday and essential 
regular full time law enforcement officers will be paid eight point four (8.4) hours of holiday pay on top of their base 
pay.  
 
Section 5. Vacation Leave 
 
Vacation leave may be used for rest and relaxation, school appointments, medical appointments, and other personal 
needs.  Any compensatory time earned by nonexempt employees must be used prior to using vacation time. 
 
Section 6. Vacation Leave: Use by Probationary Employees 
 
Employees serving a probationary period following initial employment may accumulate vacation leave but shall not 
be permitted to take vacation leave during the probationary period, with the exception of leave without pay approved 
during interview process. Employees shall be allowed to take accumulated vacation leave after six months of service. 
 
Section 7. Vacation Leave: Accrual Rate 
 
Each full and part-time employee of the County shall earn vacation at the following schedule, prorated by the regular 
number of hours in the workweek:   
 
Years of Service  Hours Granted  Hours Granted Days Granted 
      Each Month      Each Year    Each Year 
Less than 2 years  7 hrs. 50 min.   94   11 3/4 
2 but less than 5 years  9 hrs. 10 min.   110   13 3/4  
5 but less than 10 years  11 hrs. 10 min.   134   16 3/4 
10 but less than 15 years 13 hrs. 10 min.   158   19 3/4  
15 but less than 20 years 15 hrs. 10 min.   182   22 3/4 
20 years or more  17 hrs. 10 min.   206   25 3/4   
        

7.D.b

Packet Pg. 108

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

er
so

n
n

el
 P

o
lic

y1
21

51
5 

 (
26

07
 :

 P
er

so
n

n
el

 P
o

lic
y 

- 
K

en
 B

o
w

m
an

)



30 
 

Section 8. Vacation Leave: Maximum Accumulation 
 
Vacation leave may be accumulated without any applicable maximum until December 31 of each year. Effective the 
last payroll in the calendar year, any employee with more than 30 days (240 hours) of accumulated leave shall have 
the excess accumulation removed so that only 30 days (240 hours) are carried forward to January 1 of the next 
calendar year. Any excess vacation leave as of December 31 may be transferred to an employee's sick leave account. 
 
Because the number of hours in employee work weeks vary, the number of hours in 30 days varies.  See Section 15 
of this Article for formula to calculate the number of hours in 30 days. 
 
Employees are cautioned not to retain excess accumulated vacation leave until late in the year. Because of the 
necessity to keep all functions in operation, large numbers of employees cannot be granted vacation leave at any 
one time. If an employee has excess leave accumulation during the latter part of the year and is unable to take such 
leave because of staffing demands, the employee shall receive no special consideration either in having vacation 
leave scheduled or in receiving any exception to the maximum accumulation. 
 
New employees may be credited up to five days of earned vacation leave upon date of hire if the immediate previous 
employer is a city or county and if the immediate previous employer provides written verification to the county manager 
that the employee an equal number or more days of vacation leave remaining on the date of termination. 
 
Section 9. Vacation Leave: Manner of Taking 
 
Earned vacation leave may be taken when requested 24 hours in advance at those times designated by the 
Department Head which will least obstruct normal operations of the County. Under Emergency Circumstances a 
Department Head at his/her discretion may authorize leave requests without 24 hour notice. Department heads are 
responsible for insuring that approved vacation leave does not hinder the effectiveness of service delivery. Vacation 
leave will be taken in quarter hour units.  
 
Section 10. Vacation Leave: Payment upon Separation 
 
An employee who has successfully completed the probationary period will normally be paid for accumulated annual 
leave upon separation subject to the 30-day maximum, provided notice is given to the supervisor at least two weeks 
in advance of the effective date of resignation. Any employee failing to give the notice required by this section shall 
forfeit payment for accumulated leave. The notice requirement may be waived by the County Manager when deemed 
to be in the best interest of the County.  
 
Employees who are involuntarily separated shall receive payment for accumulated annual leave subject to the 30-
day maximum. 

 
Section 11. Vacation Leave: Payment upon Death 
 
The estate of an employee who dies while employed by the County shall be entitled to payment of all the accumulated 
vacation leave credited to the employee's account not to exceed the maximums established in Section 8 of this Article. 
 
Section 12. Sick Leave 
 

Sick leave with pay is not a right which an employee may demand, but a privilege granted for the benefit of an 
employee when sick.   
 
Sick leave may be granted to an employee absent from work for any of the following reasons: sickness, bodily injury, 

7.D.b

Packet Pg. 109

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

er
so

n
n

el
 P

o
lic

y1
21

51
5 

 (
26

07
 :

 P
er

so
n

n
el

 P
o

lic
y 

- 
K

en
 B

o
w

m
an

)



31 
 

required physical or dental examinations or treatment, or exposure to a contagious disease, when continuing work 
might jeopardize the health of others. 
 
Sick leave may be used when an employee must care for a member of his or her immediate family who is ill, but may 
not be used to care for healthy children when the regular care giver is sick.  
 
Sick leave may also be used for death in the employee's immediate family, but may not exceed three days for any 
one occurrence, except by special permission of the Department or County Manager.  
 
Sick leave may also be used to supplement Workers' Compensation Disability Leave both during the waiting period 
before Workers' Compensation benefits begin. 
 
"Immediate family" shall be defined as spouse, parent, guardian, children, sister, brother, grandparents, 
grandchildren plus the various combinations of half, step, in-law, and adopted relationships that can be derived from 
those named.   
 
Notification of the desire to take sick leave should be submitted to the employee's supervisor prior to  
the leave or not later than two hours after the beginning of the scheduled workday. Failure to do so appropriately may 
result in disciplinary action. 
 
In order to facilitate the recruitment of qualified persons with appropriate public sector experience, the County 
Manager may authorize the carry-over of all or a portion of the unused sick leave that has been certified as 
accumulated during employment with a past state or local government employer. 
 
Section 13. Sick Leave: Accrual Rate and Accumulation 
 
Sick leave shall accrue at a rate of one day per month of service or twelve days per year. Sick leave for full-time and 
part-time employees working other than the basic work schedule shall be prorated as described in this Article. Sick 
leave will be cumulative for an indefinite period of time and may be converted upon retirement for service credit 
consistent with the provisions of the North Carolina Local Government Employees' Retirement System. 
 
All sick leave accumulated by an employee shall end and terminate without compensation when the employee resigns 
or is separated from the County, except as stated for employees retiring or terminated due to reduction in force.  
 
Section 14. Sick Leave: Medical Certification 
 
The employee’s supervisor or Department Head may require a physician's certificate stating the nature of the 
employee or immediate family member's illness and the employee's capacity to resume duties, for each occasion on 
which an employee uses sick leave or whenever the supervisor observes a "pattern of absenteeism." The employee 
may be required to submit to such medical examination or inquiry as the Department Head deems desirable. The 
Department Head shall be responsible for the application of this provision to the end that: 
 
1) Employees shall not be on duty when they might endanger their health or the health of other employees; and 
 
2) There will be no abuse of leave privileges. 
 
When an employee goes on sick leave he/she must notify his/her Department Head or supervisor immediately. 
Notification should be within 30 minutes after the beginning of the scheduled work day. Failure to do so may result in 
denial of such leave pay. The employee should also let the supervisor know when he/she expects to return to work.  
An employee who is on sick leave for a period of three days or longer shall be required to provide a note from a 

7.D.b

Packet Pg. 110

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

er
so

n
n

el
 P

o
lic

y1
21

51
5 

 (
26

07
 :

 P
er

so
n

n
el

 P
o

lic
y 

- 
K

en
 B

o
w

m
an

)



32 
 

medical doctor.  
 
Claiming sick leave under false pretense to obtain a day off with pay shall subject the employee to disciplinary action. 
 
Section 15. Leave Pro-Rated 
 
Holiday, annual, and sick leave earned by full-time and part-time employees with fewer or more hours than the basic 
work week shall be determined by the following formula: 
 
1) The number of hours worked by such employees shall be divided by the number of hours in the basic work 

week (usually 40 hours). 
 
2) The proportion obtained in step 1 shall be multiplied by the number of hours of leave earned annually by 

employees working the basic work week. 
 
3) The number of hours in step 2 divided by 12 shall be the number of hours of leave earned monthly by the 

employees concerned. 
 
Section 16. Leave Without Pay 
 
A full or part-time employee may be granted a leave of absence without pay for a period of up to six months by the 
County Manager. The leave shall be used for reasons of personal disability after both sick leave and desired amount 
of annual leave have been exhausted, sickness or disability of immediate family members, continuation of education, 
special work that will permit the County to benefit by the experience gained or the work performed, or for other reasons 
deemed justified by the County Manager. 
 
The employee shall apply in writing to the Department Head for leave. The employee is obligated to return to duty 
within or at the end of the time determined appropriate by the County Manager. Upon returning to duty after being on 
leave without pay, the employee shall be entitled to return to the same position held at the time leave was granted or 
to one of like classification, seniority, and pay. If the employee decides not to return to work, the Department Head 
shall be notified immediately. Failure to report at the expiration of a leave of absence, unless an extension has been 
requested, shall be considered a resignation. 
New hired employees are eligible to use leave without pay if approved during the interview process.  
 
Section 17. Family Medical Leave 
 
The County will grant up to 12 weeks of family and medical leave during any 12-month period beginning on the date 
leave is first used to eligible employees in accordance with the Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993 (FMLA). Eligible 
employees must have regular status and must have been employed at least twelve months and worked at least 1,250 
hours during the previous twelve months. The leave may be paid (coordinated with the County's Vacation and Sick 
Leave policies), unpaid, or a combination of paid and unpaid. Additional time away from the job beyond the 12-week 
period may be approved in accordance with the County's Leave Without Pay policy. Employees may be required to 
exhaust eligible paid leave before going on a leave without pay status. 
 
FMLA leave may be taken for the following reasons:  
(1) to care for the employee's child after birth or placement for adoption or foster care;  
 
(2) to care for the employee's spouse, child or parent who has a serious health condition; or  
 
(3) for a serious health condition that makes the employee unable to perform the employee's job.  

7.D.b

Packet Pg. 111

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

er
so

n
n

el
 P

o
lic

y1
21

51
5 

 (
26

07
 :

 P
er

so
n

n
el

 P
o

lic
y 

- 
K

en
 B

o
w

m
an

)



33 
 

 
A serious health condition is defined as a condition which requires inpatient care at a hospital, hospice, or residential 
medical care facility, or a condition which requires continuing care by a licensed health care provider. This policy 
covers illness of a serious and long-term nature resulting in recurring or lengthy absences. Generally, a chronic or 
long term health condition which results in a period of incapacity for more than three days would be considered a 
serious health condition. 
 
If a husband and wife both work for the County and each wishes to take leave for the birth of a child, adoption or 
placement of a child in foster care, or to care for a parent (not parent in-law) with a serious health condition, the 
husband and wife together may only take a total of 12 weeks leave under FMLA. 
 
An employee taking leave for the birth of a child may use paid sick leave for the period of actual disability, based on 
medical certification. The employee may then use paid vacation for the remainder of the 12-week period. 
 
The request for the use of leave must be made in writing by the employee and approved by the department head or 
County Manager.  The County may also designate qualified leave as FMLA Leave by notifying the employee of such 
action. 
 
An employee who takes leave under this policy will return to the same job or a job with equivalent status, pay, benefits, 
and other employment terms. The position will be the same or one which entails substantially equivalent skill, effort, 
responsibility, and authority. 
 
In order to qualify for leave under this law, the County requires medical certification. This statement from the 
employee's or the family member's physician should include the date when the condition began, its expected duration, 
diagnosis, and brief statement of treatment. For the employee's own health condition, it should state that the employee 
is unable to perform the essential functions of his/her position. For a seriously ill family member, the certification must 
include a statement that the patient requires assistance and the employee's presence would be beneficial or 
desirable.  
 
This certification should be furnished at least 30 days prior to the needed leave unless the employee's or family 
member's condition is a sudden one. The certification should be furnished as soon as possible (no longer than 15 
days from the date of the employee's request). The certification and request must be made to the department head 
and filed with the Human Resources Director. 
 
The employee is expected to return to work at the end of the time frame stated in the medical certification, unless 
he/she has requested additional time in writing under the County's Leave without Pay policy. If an employee is out 
due to a personal illness, than a return to work not is necessary.  
 
Section 18. Family Medical Leave and Leave without Pay: Retention and Continuation of Benefits 
 
When an employee is on leave under FMLA, the County will continue the employee's health benefits during the leave 
period at the same level and under the same conditions as if the employee had continued to work. If an employee 
chooses not to return to work for reasons other than a continued serious health condition, the County will require the 
reimbursement of the amount paid for the employee's health insurance premiums during the FMLA leave period. 
 
Other insurance and payroll deductions are the responsibility of the employee and the employee must make those 
payments for continued coverage of that benefit. 
 
An employee shall retain all unused vacation and sick leave while on Leave Without Pay.  An employee ceases to 
earn leave credits on the date leave without pay begins.  The employee may continue to be eligible for benefits under 

7.D.b

Packet Pg. 112

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

er
so

n
n

el
 P

o
lic

y1
21

51
5 

 (
26

07
 :

 P
er

so
n

n
el

 P
o

lic
y 

- 
K

en
 B

o
w

m
an

)



34 
 

the County’s Group insurance plans at his or her own expense, subject to any regulation adopted by the County 
Commissioners and the regulations of the insurance carrier. 
 
Section 19. Workers' Compensation Leave 
 
An employee absent from duty because of sickness or disability covered by the North Carolina Workers' 
Compensation Act may elect to use accrued sick leave or vacation during the first waiting period. If the injury results 
in additional time away from work, the employee will be placed on worker’s compensation leave and receive the 
worker’s compensation weekly after the required waiting period. The employee may elect to take sick or vacation 
during the required waiting period, or may elect to go on worker’s compensation leave with no pay for the required 
waiting period. Once an employee begins drawing worker’s compensation pay, the employee will not be allowed to 
receive pay for vacation or sick leave in addition to worker’s compensation payments. Life insurance and health 
benefits already provided by Camden County to an employee will continue to be provided during the period of worker’s 
compensation leave. Upon reinstatement, an employee’s salary will be computed on the basis of the last salary 
earned plus any increment or other salary increase to which the employee would have been entitled during the 
disability covered by worker’s compensation. 
 
Section 20. Military Leave 
 
Regular employees who are members of an Armed Forces Reserve organization or National Guard shall be granted 
ten workdays per year for military leave without pay. On rare occasions due to annual training being scheduled on a 
federal fiscal year basis, an employee may be required to attend two periods of training in one calendar year. For this 
purpose only, an employee shall be granted an additional ten days of military leave during the same calendar year. 
If the compensation received while on military leave is less than the salary that would have been earned during this 
same period as a County employee, the employee shall receive partial compensation equal to the difference in the 
base salary earned during this same period as a County employee. The effect will be to maintain the employee's 
salary at the normal level during this period.  If such duty is required beyond these ten workdays, the employee shall 
be eligible to take accumulated vacation leave or be placed in a leave without pay status, and the provisions of that 
leave shall apply. While taking military leave without pay or with partial pay, the employee's leave credits and other 
benefits shall continue to accrue as if the employee physically remained with the County during this period. Employees 
who are eligible for military leave have all job rights specified by the Vietnam Veterans Readjustment Act, including 
members of the National Guard or a reserve unit. Employees who volunteer for additional duty may use vacation, 
compensatory time or leave without pay. If there is a compensatory balance, it should be used first for nonexempt 
employees. 
 
Section 21. Reinstatement Following Military Service. 
 
An employee called to extended active duty with the United States military forces, who does not volunteer for service 
beyond the period for which called, shall be reinstated with full benefits provided the employee: 
 
1) Applies for reinstatement within ninety days after the release from military service; and 
 
2) Is able to perform the duties of the former position or similar position; or 
 
3) Is unable to perform the duties of the former position or a similar position due to disability sustained as a 

result of military service, but is able to perform the duties of another position in the service of the County. In 
this case the employee shall be employed in such other position as will provide the nearest approximation of 
the seniority, status, and pay which the employee otherwise would have been provided, if available. 

 
Section 22. Civil Leave 

7.D.b

Packet Pg. 113

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

er
so

n
n

el
 P

o
lic

y1
21

51
5 

 (
26

07
 :

 P
er

so
n

n
el

 P
o

lic
y 

- 
K

en
 B

o
w

m
an

)



35 
 

 
(A) A County employee called for jury duty or as a court witness for the federal or state governments, or a 

subdivision thereof, shall receive leave with pay for such duty during the required absence without charge to 
accumulated leave. The employee may keep fees and travel allowances received for jury or witness duty in 
addition to regular compensation; except, that employees must turn over to the County any witness fees 
awarded by that court for court appearances in connection with official duties. Employees must turn over to 
the County any travel allowance awarded by that court for court appearances when traveling in a county 
vehicle or transportation wholly or partially provided at county expense.  While on civil leave, benefits and 
leave shall accrue as though on regular duty. 

(B) With the discretionary approval of their respective Department Head or direct supervisor, volunteers involved 
in fire or rescue organizations may be allowed to take appropriate time to respond to emergency calls, but 
shall return to work as quickly as possible. Use of County vehicles is prohibited in responding to such calls 
unless circumstances surrounding the response would make it reasonable to do so. All Volunteer 
Fire/Rescue Civil Leave responses should be thoroughly documented on a Camden County Civil Leave 
Form. One copy should be submitted to the individual’s Department Head and one copy should be submitted 
to the Safety Committee within 24 hours of the Civil Leave.”  

(C) All instances of Civil Leave as defined in Subsections A and B should be accurately annotated as such on 
individual time sheets.  

 
Section 23. Parental School Leave 
 
A County employee who is a parent, guardian, or person standing in loco parentis (in place of the parent) may take 
up to four hours of unpaid leave annually to involve him or herself in school activities of his or her child(ren). This 
leave is subject to the three following conditions: 
 
1) The leave must be taken at a time mutually agreed upon by the employee and the County; 
 
2) The County may require the employee to request the leave in writing at least 48 hours prior to the time of the 

desired leave; and 
 
3) The County may require written verification from the child’s school that the employee was involved at the 

school during the leave time. 
 
Paid leave (vacation time) taken by an employee to attend to school activities of his or her child shall count toward 
the fulfillment of this provision by the County. 
 
Section 24. Adverse Weather Conditions 
 
County offices and departments shall remain open for the full scheduled work day unless authorization for early 
closing or other deviation is received from the County Manager or his designate. Employees scheduled to work during 
an authorized official closing will be given full credit for all their work hours scheduled but missed during the period 
covered by the authorized official closing or other deviation.  Employees who leave work before an official early 
closing time, as well as those employees who report to work late or who do not report to work at all, will be required 
to use earned vacation for this unauthorized missed time.  Also, any employee who has leave time approved prior to 
the issuance of an authorized early closing or other deviation will be required to honor the approved leave time.  
 
The County Manager or his designate may authorize the closing or deviation for all or part of the County offices.  Any 
closing or deviation shall be applicable uniformly to all County offices unless otherwise specified in the announcement 
from the County Manager or his designate.  The County Manager or his designate may authorize closings or 
deviations different for one office or department than for other offices or departments. Depending on the nature of the 

7.D.b

Packet Pg. 114

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

er
so

n
n

el
 P

o
lic

y1
21

51
5 

 (
26

07
 :

 P
er

so
n

n
el

 P
o

lic
y 

- 
K

en
 B

o
w

m
an

)



36 
 

adverse weather, the County Manager may designate certain County employee’s essential and request that they 
report to work as directed. Those employees will be issued compensatory time at a rate of hour for hour. Modified 
work schedules do not apply to public safety employees, i.e. Sheriff’s Department. 
 
Section 25 – Shared Leave  
Voluntary Shared Leave 
 
A.  PURPOSE 
 
There are occurrences brought about by serious and prolonged medical conditions that cause employees to exhaust 
all available leave, and therefore, be placed on leave without pay.  Such employees forced to go on leave without 
pay could be without income during one of the most critical points in their lives.  It is recognized that fellow employees 
may wish to voluntarily donate some of their accumulated vacation leave so as to provide assistance to other Camden 
County employees.  This program intends to provide an opportunity for employees to assist another affected by a 
medical condition that requires absence from work for a prolonged period of time resulting in possible loss of income 
due to lack of accumulated leave. 
 
B.  POLICY 
In cases of prolonged medical condition, an employee may apply or be nominated to become a recipient of leave 
transferred from the vacation leave accounts of unrelated employees working for Camden County or from the sick or 
vacation account of an immediate family member who works for Camden County.  For purposes of this program, 
medical condition means the medical condition of an employee or their spouse, parents, children or other dependents, 
including step and in-law relationships that is likely to require an employee’s absence from duty for a prolonged period, 
generally considered to be at least twenty (20) consecutive workdays.  If an employee has had previous random 
absences for the same condition that has caused excessive absences, or if the employee has had a previous, but 
different, prolonged medical condition within the last twelve months, the County may make an exception to the 20-
day period. 
 
C.  GENERAL GUIDELINES 
 
1.  Establishment of a leave “bank” for use by unnamed employees is expressly prohibited.  Leave must be donated 
on a one-to-one personal basis. 
 
2.  This Policy does not apply to employees on worker’s compensation leave. 
 
3.  Individual leave records are confidential and only individual employees may reveal their donation or receipt of 
leave.  The employee donating leave must sign a release form and cannot receive remuneration for leave donated.  
All donations must be done on a voluntary basis.  Solicitation on the part of Department Heads or supervisors is 
prohibited.  No employee shall directly or indirectly intimidate, threaten or coerce any other employee for the purpose 
of interfering with any right an employee may have in donating, receiving or using annual leave under this program.  
Such action by any employee will result in disciplinary action up to an including dismissal on the basis of personal 
conduct. 
 
4.  The Privacy Act makes medical information confidential; therefore, prior to making the employee’s status public 
for the purpose of receiving shared leave, the employee must sign a release to allow the status to be known. 
 
5.  A committee composed of the Personnel Technician, the Department Head of the recipient employee, and one 
other randomly selected Department Head will make the final decision concerning eligibility to participate in the 
program.  Participation in this program shall be based on the applicant’s and donor’s past compliance with leave 
rules. 

7.D.b

Packet Pg. 115

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

er
so

n
n

el
 P

o
lic

y1
21

51
5 

 (
26

07
 :

 P
er

so
n

n
el

 P
o

lic
y 

- 
K

en
 B

o
w

m
an

)



37 
 

 
D.  ELIGIBILITY 7 APPLICATION 
 
1.  Applicant must be a regular, full or part-time employee who has completed his/her applicable introductory period. 
 
2.  AT the time of the request, applicant must have exhausted all sick, annual and compensatory leave; all leave 
balances must be zero. 
 
3.  Application should include name, social security number, department name, position title and a doctor’s statement 
describing the medical condition and estimated length of time needed to participate in the program. 
 
4.  Applicant shall apply to the Department Head who shall forward the application to the Personnel Technician.  After 
randomly selecting a third member for the review committee, the three-member committee will meet to review the 
merits of the request as well as the employee’s past leave history and will make a decision concerning the applicant’s 
eligibility to participate in the program.  An employee may not file a grievance nor an employee appeal if his/her 
request to receive or to donate leave is denied. 
 
E.  RECIPIENT GUIDELINES 
 
1.  Participation in this program is limited to 1,040 hours (prorated if part-time), either continuously or, if for the same 
condition, on a recurring basis.  The County Manager may, however, grant employee continuation in the program, 
month by month, for a maximum of 2,080 hours if the employee would otherwise have been granted leave without 
pay. 
 
2.  Subject to the maximum of 1,040 hours, the number of hours leave n employee can receive is limited to the 
projected recovery or treatment period.  All donated leave will be credited to the recipient’s sick leave account. 
 
3.  At the expiration of the medical condition any unused leave in the recipient’s donated leave account shall be 
treated as follows: 
 
a.  The recipient’s sick leave account balance shall be limited to a total of forty (40) hours. 
 
b.  Any additional unused donated leave will be returned to the donor(s) on a pro rata basis and credited to the leave 
account from which it was donated. 
 
4.  If a recipient separates due to resignation, death or retirement from Camden County, his/her participation in the 
program will end.  Donated leave shall be returned to the donor(s) on a pro rata basis. 
 
F.  DONOR GUIDELINES 
 
1.  A non-family member donor may contribute only vacation leave to another employee. 
 
2.  A family member who is a County employee may contribute vacation or sick leave to another immediate family 
member who is a County employee.  Immediate family is defined as spouse, parents, children, brother, sister, 
grandparents and grandchildren, great grandparents and great grandchildren.  Also included are the step, half and 
in-law relationships. 
 
3.  The minimum amount to be donated is four (4) hours. 
 
4.  An employee family member donating sick leave to a qualified family under this program may donate up to a 

7.D.b

Packet Pg. 116

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

er
so

n
n

el
 P

o
lic

y1
21

51
5 

 (
26

07
 :

 P
er

so
n

n
el

 P
o

lic
y 

- 
K

en
 B

o
w

m
an

)



38 
 

maximum of 1,040 hours but may not reduce their own sick leave balance below forty (40) hours. 
 
5.  The maximum amount of vacation leave allowed to be donated by one individual can be no more than the amount 
he/she could earn in one year; however, the amount donated may not reduce the donor’s vacation leave balance 
below one-half of the amount he/she could earn in one year. 
 
6.  All donations must be in writing and must be signed by the donating employee.  The employee receiving the leave 
must be named and the amount and type of leave donated must be specified. 
 
7.  Once a donation is made it cannot be retracted by the donor. 
 
ARTICLE IX.  SEPARATION AND REINSTATEMENT 
 
Section 1. Types of Separations 
 
All separations of employees from positions in the service of the County shall be designated as one of the following 
types and shall be accomplished in the manner indicated: Resignation, reduction in force, disability, voluntary 
retirement, dismissal, or death. 
 
Section 2. Resignation 
 
An employee may resign by submitting the reasons for resignation and the effective date in writing to the immediate 
supervisor as far in advance as possible. In all instances, the minimum notice requirement is two weeks. Failure to 
provide minimum notice shall result in forfeit of payment for accumulated annual leave unless the notice is waived 
upon recommendation of the Department Head Human Resource Director and approval by the County Manager. 
 
Three consecutive days of absence without contacting the immediate supervisor or Department Head is considered 
to be a voluntary resignation.  
 
Sick leave will only be approved during the final two weeks of a notice with a physician’s certification of comparable 
documentation. 
 
Section 3. Reduction in Force. 
 
In the event that a reduction in force becomes necessary, consideration shall be given to the quality of each 
employee's performance, organizational needs, and seniority in determining those employees to be retained. 
Employees who are separated because of a reduction in force shall be given at least two weeks’ notice of the 
anticipated action. No regular employee shall be separated while there are temporary, emergency or probationary 
employees serving in the same class in the department, unless the regular employee is not willing to transfer to the 
position held by the temporary or probationary employee.  
 
Section 4. Disability 
 
An employee who cannot perform the required duties because of a physical or mental impairment may be separated 
for disability. Action may be initiated by the employee or the County. In all cases, such action must be accompanied 
by medical evidence acceptable to the Department Head Human Resource Director and County Manager. The 
County may require an examination, at the County's expense, performed by a physician of the County's choice. 
 
Section 5. Voluntary Retirement 
 

7.D.b

Packet Pg. 117

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

er
so

n
n

el
 P

o
lic

y1
21

51
5 

 (
26

07
 :

 P
er

so
n

n
el

 P
o

lic
y 

- 
K

en
 B

o
w

m
an

)



39 
 

An employee who meets the conditions set forth under the provision of the North Carolina Local Government 
Employee's Retirement System may elect to retire and receive all benefits earned under the retirement plan.  
 
Section 6. Death 
 
Separation shall be effective as of the date of death. All compensation due shall be paid to the estate of the employee. 
 
Section 7. Dismissal 
 
An employee may be dismissed in accordance with the provisions and procedures of Article X.  
 
Section 8. Reinstatement 
 
An employee who is separated because of reduction in force may be reinstated within one year of the date of 
separation, upon recommendation of the supervisor and approval of the Human Resource Director and the County 
Manager. An employee who is reinstated in this manner shall be re-credited with his or her previously accrued sick 
leave. 
 
Section 9. Rehiring 
 
An employee who resigns while in good standing may be rehired with the approval of the appointing authority, and 
shall be regarded as a new employee, subject to all of the provisions of rules and regulations of this Chapter. However, 
the employee shall be credited with his or her previously accrued sick leave if he or she is rehired within five years. 
An employee in good standing who is separated due to a reduction in force shall be given the first opportunity to be 
rehired in the same or a similar position. 
 
ARTICLE X. UNSATISFACTORY JOB PERFORMANCE AND DETRIMENTAL PERSONAL CONDUCT 
 
Section 1. Disciplinary Action for Unsatisfactory Job Performance  
 
A regular employee may be placed on disciplinary suspension (without pay), demoted, or dismissed for unsatisfactory 
job performance, if after following the procedure outlined below, the employee's job performance is still deemed to 
be unsatisfactory. All cases of disciplinary suspension, demotion, or dismissal must be approved by the Human 
Resource Director and the County Manager or hiring authority prior to giving final notice to the employee. 
 
 
Section 2. Unsatisfactory Job Performance Defined 
 
Unsatisfactory job performance includes any aspects of the employee's job which are not performed as required to 
meet the standards set by the supervisor. Examples of unsatisfactory job performance include, but are not limited to, 
the following: 
 
       1) Demonstrated inefficiency, negligence, or incompetence in the performance of duties; 
 
       2) Careless, negligent or improper use of County property or equipment; 
       
       3) Discourteous treatment of the public or other employees; 

 
4) Absence without approved leave; 
 

7.D.b

Packet Pg. 118

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

er
so

n
n

el
 P

o
lic

y1
21

51
5 

 (
26

07
 :

 P
er

so
n

n
el

 P
o

lic
y 

- 
K

en
 B

o
w

m
an

)



40 
 

5) Repeated improper use of leave privileges;  
 
6) Habitual pattern of failure to report for duty at the assigned time and place;  
 
7) Failure to complete work within time frames established in work plan or work standards; or 

 
8) Failure to meet work standards over a period of time. 

 
      9) Failure to maintain credentials and certifications required for a position. 
 
Section 3. Communication and Warning Procedures Preceding Disciplinary Action for Unsatisfactory 

Job Performance  
 
When an employee's job performance is unsatisfactory, or when incidents or inappropriate actions warrant, the 
supervisor should meet with the employee as soon as possible to discuss specific performance problems. A brief 
summary of performance based issues should be noted in the employee's file with a written warning from the 
supervisor before disciplinary action resulting in dismissal is taken by the County Manager or appointing authority. A 
copy of all warnings should be sent to the Human Resources Office to be included in the employee’s personnel file 
and the disciplinary warning issued will become part of the employee’s personnel file and will remain active for twelve 
(12) months unless extended in writing or unless a second warning occurs during the twelve (12) month timeframe. 
In each case, the supervisor should record the dates of discussions with the employee, the performance deficiencies 
discussed, the corrective actions recommended, and the time limits set.  If the employee's performance continues to 
be unsatisfactory, then the supervisor should use the following disciplinary steps: 
 
1) A final written warning from the supervisor serving notice upon the employee that corrected performance 

must take place immediately in order to avoid suspension, demotion, or dismissal. 
 
2) If performance does not improve, a written recommendation should be sent to the Department Head, Human 

Resource Director,  and County Manager or Hiring Authority for disciplinary action such as suspension, 
demotion, or dismissal.   

 
Suspensions should not normally exceed three days for nonexempt employees.  For exempt employees, suspensions 
should normally be for one week to retain the exempt status of the employee. 
 
 
 
Section 4. Disciplinary Action for Detrimental Personal Conduct 
 
With the approval of the Department Head, Human Resource Director, and County Manager or Hiring Authority, an 
employee may be placed on disciplinary suspension (without pay), demoted, or dismissed without prior warning for 
causes relating to personal conduct detrimental to County service in order to 1) avoid undue disruption of work; 2) to 
protect the safety of persons or property; or 3) for other serious reasons. Disciplinary suspension should not normally 
exceed three days for nonexempt employees and should be one full week for exempt employees as prescribed by 
the FLSA.            
 
Section 5. Detrimental Personal Conduct Defined 
 
Detrimental personal conduct includes behavior of such a serious detrimental nature that the functioning of the County 
may be or has been impaired; the safety of persons or property may be or have been threatened; or the laws of the 
government may be or have been violated. Examples of detrimental personal conduct include, but are not limited to, 

7.D.b

Packet Pg. 119

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

er
so

n
n

el
 P

o
lic

y1
21

51
5 

 (
26

07
 :

 P
er

so
n

n
el

 P
o

lic
y 

- 
K

en
 B

o
w

m
an

)



41 
 

the following: 
 
1) Fraud or theft; 
 
2) Commission of a felony or the entry of a plea of nolo contendere thereto; 
 
3) Falsification of records for personal profit, to grant special privileges, or to obtain employment; 
 
4) Willful misuse or gross negligence in the handling of County funds; 
 
5) Willful or wanton damage or destruction to property; 
 
6) Willful or wanton acts that endanger the lives and property of others; 
 
7) Possession of unauthorized firearms or other lethal weapons on the job; 
 
8) Brutality in the performance of duties; 
 
9) Reporting to work under the influence of alcohol or drugs or partaking of such while on duty. Prescribed 

medication may be taken within the limits set by a physician as long as medically necessary; 
 
10) Engaging in incompatible employment or servicing a conflicting interest; 
 
11) Request or acceptance of gifts in exchange for favors or influence;  
 
12) Engaging in political activity prohibited by this policy; or 
 
13) Stated refusal to perform assigned duties or flagrant violation of work rules and regulations. 
 
Section 6. Pre-Dismissal Conference. 
 
Before dismissal action is taken, whether for failure in personal conduct or failure in performance of duties, the County 
Manager or Hiring authority, the Human Resource Director or a Department Head will conduct a pre-dismissal 
conference. At this conference, the employee may present any response to the proposed dismissal to the County 
Manager or Hiring Authority, Human Resource Director or Department Head. The County Manager or Hiring Authority, 
Human Resource Director or Department Head will consider the employee's response, if any, to the proposed 
dismissal, and will, within three working days following the pre-dismissal conference, notify the employee in writing of 
the final decision. If the employee is dismissed, the notice shall contain a statement of the reasons for the action and 
the employee's appeal rights under the County's grievance procedure. 
 
Section 7. Non-Disciplinary Suspension 
 
During the investigation, hearing, or trial of an employee on any criminal charge, or during an investigation related to 
alleged detrimental personal conduct, or during the course of any civil action involving an employee, when suspension 
would, in the opinion of the supervisor, be in the best interest of the County, the Department Head, with the approval 
of the Human Resource Director and the County Manager or Hiring Authority, may suspend the employee for the 
duration of the proceedings as a non-disciplinary action. In such cases, the County may: 
 
1) Temporarily relieve the employee of all duties and responsibilities and place the employee on paid or unpaid 

leave for the duration of the suspension, or 

7.D.b

Packet Pg. 120

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

er
so

n
n

el
 P

o
lic

y1
21

51
5 

 (
26

07
 :

 P
er

so
n

n
el

 P
o

lic
y 

- 
K

en
 B

o
w

m
an

)



42 
 

 
2) Assign the employee new duties and responsibilities and allow the employee to receive such compensation 

as is in keeping with the new duties and responsibilities. 
 
If the employee is reinstated following the suspension such employee shall not lose any benefits to which otherwise 
employee would have been entitled had the suspension not occurred. If the employee is terminated following 
suspension, the employee shall not be eligible for any pay from the date of suspension; provided, however, all other 
benefits with the exception of accrued annual leave and sick leave shall be maintained during the period of 
suspension. 
 
ARTICLE XI.  GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE AND ADVERSE ACTION APPEAL  
 
Section 1. Policy 
 
It is the policy of the County to provide a just and prompt procedure for the presentation, consideration, and disposition 
of employee grievances. The purpose of this article is to outline the procedure and to assure all employees that a 
response to their complaints and grievances will be prompt and fair. 
 
Employees utilizing the grievance procedure shall not be subjected to retaliation or any form of harassment from 
supervisors or employees for exercising their rights under the grievance procedure. Supervisors or other employees 
who violate this policy shall be subject to disciplinary action up to and including dismissal. 
 
Section 2. Grievance Defined 
 
A grievance is a claim or complaint by an employee based upon an event or condition, which affects the circumstances 
under which an employee works, allegedly caused by misinterpretation, unfair application, or lack of established policy 
pertaining to employment conditions. 
 
Section 3. Purposes of the Grievance Procedure 
 
The purposes of the grievance procedure include, but are not limited to: 
 
1) Providing employees with a procedure by which their complaints can be considered promptly, fairly, and 

without reprisal; 
 
 
2) Encouraging employees to express themselves about the conditions of work which affect them as employees; 
 
3) Promoting better understanding of policies, practices, and procedures which affect employees; 
 
4) Increasing employees' confidence that personnel actions taken are in accordance with established, fair, and 

uniform policies and procedures; and  
 
5) Increasing the sense of responsibility exercised by supervisors in dealing with their employees. 
 
6)    Encouraging conflicts to be resolved between employees and supervisors who  

must maintain an effective future working relationship, and therefore,  
encouraging conflicts to be resolved at the lowest level possible in the chain of command; and 

 
7) Creating a work environment free of continuing conflicts, disagreements, and negative feelings about the 

7.D.b

Packet Pg. 121

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

er
so

n
n

el
 P

o
lic

y1
21

51
5 

 (
26

07
 :

 P
er

so
n

n
el

 P
o

lic
y 

- 
K

en
 B

o
w

m
an

)



43 
 

County or its leaders, thus freeing up employee motivation, productivity, and creativity. 
 
Section 4. Procedure 
 
When an employee or group of employees has a grievance, the following successive steps are to be taken unless otherwise 
provided. The number of calendar days indicated for each step should be considered the maximum, unless otherwise provided, 
and every effort should be made to expedite the process. However, the time limits set forth may be extended by mutual consent. 
The last step initiated by an employee shall be considered to be the step at which the grievance is resolved. A decision to 
rescind a disciplinary suspension, demotion or dismissal must be approved by the Appointing Authority before the decision 
becomes effective. 
 
Informal Resolution. Prior to the submission of a formal grievance, the employee and supervisor should meet to discuss the 
problem and seek to resolve it informally. Either the employee or the supervisor may involve the Human Resources Office as a 
resource to help resolve the grievance. Mediation may be used at any step in the process and is encouraged. Mediation is the 
neutral facilitation of the conflict between or among parties where the facilitator helps the parties find a mutually agreeable 
outcome. 
 
Step 1. If no resolution to the grievance is reached informally, the employee who wishes to pursue a grievance shall present 
the grievance to the supervisor in writing. The written grievance must be received by the supervisor within fifteen calendar days 
of the event or within fifteen calendar days of learning of the event or condition. The supervisor shall respond to the grievance 
within five calendar days after receipt of the grievance. The supervisor should, and is encouraged to, consult with any employee 
of the County in order to reach a correct, impartial, fair and equitable determination or decision concerning the grievance. Any 
employee consulted by the supervisor is required to cooperate to the fullest extent possible. 
 
The response from each supervisory level for each step in the formal grievance process shall be in writing and signed and dated 
by the supervisor. In addition, the employee shall sign a copy to acknowledge receipt thereof. The responder at each step shall 
send copies of the grievance and response to the Human Resources Director. 
 
Step 2. If the grievance is not resolved to the satisfaction of the employee by the supervisor, the employee may appeal, in 
writing, to the Department Head within five calendar days after receipt of the response from Step 1. The Department Head shall 
respond to the appeal, stating the determination of decision within five calendar days after receipt of the appeal.   
 
Step 3.  

 (For general County employees only) If the grievance is not resolved to the satisfaction of the employee by the Department 
Head, the employee may appeal, in writing, to the County Manager within five calendar days after receipt of the response 
from Step 2. The County Manager shall address the appeal, and in the Manager’s discretion may meet with the employee 
to discuss the grievance will but in any event shall make a decision on the grievance within ten calendar days of the appeal.  

 

 (For employees only in the Social Services Department) If the grievance is not resolved to the satisfaction of the employee 
by the Department Head, the employee may appeal the decision to the North Carolina Office of Administrative Hearings 
(OAH) within thirty calendar days of the receipt of the Department Head's decision. The findings of the OAH will be 
forwarded to the State Personnel Commission. The decision of the State Personnel Commission shall be advisory only and 
the Department Head shall have the final decision.  Discrimination cases may be appealed directly to the OAH. 

 
Step 4. If the grievance is not resolved to their satisfaction, the employee may appeal in writing, to Human Resources requesting 
their grievance to be referred to the Board of Commissioners. This process should be utilized especially in cases where the 
employee’s grievance concerns actions or alleged actions of the County Manager. The appeal shall be heard at the next 
regularly scheduled meeting of the Board of Commissioners if practical, but in no event more than 15 days after notice of appeal 
is received by Human Resources. In such cases the Special Grievance Committee’s report shall be final.  
 
Special Note: The Sheriff and Register of Deeds, as Elected Officials shall carry out the responsibilities above assigned to as 
the County Manager in their respective departments. Further, any such decision by the Sheriff or Register of Deeds shall be 
final and employees of those departments shall have no further administrative remedy.  
 

7.D.b

Packet Pg. 122

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

er
so

n
n

el
 P

o
lic

y1
21

51
5 

 (
26

07
 :

 P
er

so
n

n
el

 P
o

lic
y 

- 
K

en
 B

o
w

m
an

)



44 
 

Once the employee has exhausted all administrative remedies contained herein the employee may utilize the North Carolina 
General Court of Justice to such extent is allowed by law.  

 
Section 5. Role of the Human Resources Director 
 
Throughout the grievance procedure, the roles of the Human Resources Director shall be as follows: 
 
1. To advise parties (including employee, supervisors, and County Manager) of their rights and responsibilities 

under this policy, including interpreting the grievance and other policies for consistency of application; 
 
2. To be a clearinghouse for information and decisions in the matter including maintaining files of all grievance 

documents. 
 
3. To give notices to parties concerning timetables of the process, etc.; 
 
4. To assist employees and supervisors in drafting statements; and 
 
5. To facilitate the resolution of conflicts in the procedures or of the grievance at any step in the process; and 
 
6. To help locate mediation or other resources as needed. 
 
The Human Resources Director shall also determine whether or not additional time shall be allowed to either side in 
unusual circumstances if the parties cannot agree upon extensions when needed or indicated. 
 
Section 6. Grievance and Adverse Action Appeal Procedure for Discrimination 
 
When an employee, former employee, or applicant believes that any employment action discriminates illegally (i.e. is 
based on age, sex, race, color, national origin, religion, creed, political affiliation, or disability) he or she has the right 
to appeal such action using the grievance procedure outlined in this policy. While such persons are encouraged to 
use the grievance procedure, they shall have the right to appeal directly to the Human Resource Director and the 
County Manager. An employee or applicant should appeal an alleged act of discrimination within thirty calendar days 
of the alleged discriminatory action, but may appeal for up to six months following the action. 
 
 
ARTICLE XII.  PERSONNEL RECORDS AND REPORTS 
 
Section 1. Public Information 
 
In compliance with GS 153A-98, the following information with respect to each County employee is a matter of public 
record:  name; age; date of original employment or appointment to the service; current position title; current salary; 
date and amount of the most recent increase or decrease in salary; date of the most recent promotion, demotion, 
transfer, suspension, separation, or other change in position classification; and the office to which the employee is 
currently assigned. Any person may have access to this information for the purpose of inspection, examination, and 
copying, during regular business hours, subject only to such rules and regulations for the safekeeping of public 
records as the County may adopt.  The Human Resource Director, or his/her designate, shall be the sole employee 
who shall receive requests under this Section and who shall provide any information as required. 
 
The person requesting information under this Section shall make such request in writing to the Human Resource 
Director and shall provide his name and the purpose for such request.  The Human Resource Director shall provide 
that information to the employee about whom the request is made along with one copy of any document given the 

7.D.b

Packet Pg. 123

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

er
so

n
n

el
 P

o
lic

y1
21

51
5 

 (
26

07
 :

 P
er

so
n

n
el

 P
o

lic
y 

- 
K

en
 B

o
w

m
an

)



45 
 

person making the request. 
 
Section 2. Access to Confidential Records 
 
All information contained in a County employee's personnel file, other than the information mentioned above is 
confidential and shall be open to inspection only in the following instances: 
 
1) The employee or his/her duly authorized agent may examine all portions of his/her personnel file except 

letters of reference solicited prior to employment, and information concerning a medical disability, mental or 
physical, that a prudent physician would not divulge to the patient. 

 
2) A licensed physician designated in writing by the employee may examine the employee's medical record. 
 
3) A County employee having supervisory authority over the employee may examine all material in the 

employee's personnel file. 
 
4) By order of a court of competent jurisdiction, any person may examine all material in the employee's 

personnel file. 
 
5)  An official of an agency of the State or Federal Government, or any political subdivision of the State, may 

inspect any portion of a personnel file when such inspection is deemed by the County Manager to be 
necessary and essential to the pursuit of a proper function of the inspecting agency, but no information shall 
be divulged for the purpose of assisting in a criminal prosecution of the employee, or for the purpose of 
assisting in an investigation of the employee's tax liability. 
 
However, the official having custody of the personnel records may release the name, address, and telephone 
number from a personnel file for the purpose of assisting in a criminal investigation. 

 
6) An employee may sign a written release to be placed in his/her personnel file that permits the record 

custodian to provide, either in person, by telephone, or by mail, information specified in the release to 
prospective employers, educational institutions, or other persons specified in the release. 

 
7) The County Manager, with the concurrence of the County Board, may inform any person of the employment, 

non-employment, promotion, demotion, suspension or other disciplinary action, reinstatement, transfer, or 
termination of a County employee, and the reasons for that action. Before releasing that information, the 
County Manager shall determine that the release is essential to maintaining the level and quality of County 
services. The written determination shall be retained in the County Manager's office, is a record for public 
inspection, and shall become a part of the employee's personnel file. 

 
The County Board shall establish procedures for all personnel files containing information other than the public 
information mentioned above whereby an employee who objects to material may seek to have the material removed 
from the file or may place in the file a statement relating to the material. 
 
Section 3. Personnel Actions 
 
The Human Resources Director, with the approval of the County Manager, will prescribe necessary forms and reports 
for all personnel actions and will retain records necessary for the proper administration of the personnel system. The 
official personnel files are those which are maintained by the Human Resources Office. These files shall contain 
documents such as employment applications and related materials, records of personnel actions, documentation of 
employee warnings, disciplinary actions, performance evaluations, retirement and insurance records, letters of 

7.D.b

Packet Pg. 124

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

er
so

n
n

el
 P

o
lic

y1
21

51
5 

 (
26

07
 :

 P
er

so
n

n
el

 P
o

lic
y 

- 
K

en
 B

o
w

m
an

)



46 
 

recommendation, and other personnel-related documents.  Any documents not contained in these files or maintained 
as designated by the Human Resources Director are not an official part of the personnel file. 
 
Section 4. Records of Former Employees 
 
The provisions for access to records apply to former employees as they apply to present employees. 
 
Section 5. Remedies of Employees Objecting to Material in File 
 
An employee who objects to material in his/her file may place a statement in the file relating to the material considered 
to be inaccurate or misleading. The employee may seek removal of such material in accordance with established 
grievance procedures. 
 
Section 6. Penalties for Permitting Access to Confidential Records 
 
Section 153A-98 of the General Statues provides that any public official or employee who knowingly and willfully 
permits any person to have access to any confidential information contained in an employee personnel file, except 
as expressly authorized by the designated custodian, is guilty of a misdemeanor and upon conviction shall be fined 
in an amount consistent with the General Statutes. 
Section 7. Examining and/or Copying Confidential Material without Authorization 
 
Section 153A-98 of the General Statutes of North Carolina provides that any person, not specifically authorized to 
have access to a personnel file designated as confidential, who shall knowingly and willfully examine in its official 
filing place, remove or copy any portion of a confidential personnel file shall be guilty of a misdemeanor and upon 
conviction shall be fined consistent with the General Statutes. 
 
Section 8. Destruction of Records Regulated 
 
No public official may destroy, sell, loan, or otherwise dispose of any public record, except in accordance with GS 
121.5 (b), without the consent of the State Department of Cultural Resources. Whoever unlawfully removes a public 
record from the office where it is usually kept, or whoever, alters, defaces, mutilates or destroys it will be guilty of a 
misdemeanor and upon conviction will be fined in an amount provided in Chapter 132.3 of the General Statutes. 
 
ARTICLE XIII.  IMPLEMENTATION OF POLICIES 
 
Section 1. Conflicting Policies Repealed 
 
All policies, ordinances, or resolutions that conflict with the provisions of these policies are hereby repealed. 
 
Section 2. Separability 
 
If any provision of these policies or any rule, regulation, or order thereunder of the application of such provision to 
any person or circumstances is held invalid, the remainder of these policies and the application of such remaining 
provisions of these policies of such rules, regulations, or orders to persons or circumstances other than those held 
invalid will not be affected thereby. 
 
Section 3. Effective Date 
 
These policies shall become effective on July 2, 2001.  
 

7.D.b

Packet Pg. 125

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

er
so

n
n

el
 P

o
lic

y1
21

51
5 

 (
26

07
 :

 P
er

so
n

n
el

 P
o

lic
y 

- 
K

en
 B

o
w

m
an

)



47 
 

Electronic Communications Policy 
 

BY VIRTUE OF THIS POLICY, ALL SYSTEM USERS ACKNOWLEDGE THE PUBLIC 

NATURE OF ELECTRONIC COMMUNICATIONS AND UNDERSTAND THAT THE 

COUNTY HAS THE RIGHT TO INSPECT AND REVIEW SUCH COMMUNICATIONS. 

Section 1. Purpose  

This policy covers the use of all technology resources belonging to the County of Camden. It includes, but is not 

limited to pagers, radios, all computer systems of any size and function and their attached peripherals, phones, 

cellular phones, faxes, voice mail systems. E-mail systems, network resources and Internet resources 

(Communications Systems). The County provides technology resources to enable County employees to provide 

timely and efficient services. This is the primary function of these resources and any activity or action that 

interferes with this purpose is prohibited. Failure to adhere to this policy places the County and the individual at 

risk for legal and financial liabilities, potential embarrassment and other consequences. 

Section 2. Administration  

Each Department Head shall become thoroughly familiar with the requirements set forth in this policy and to 

administer this policy consistently within the department and with other departments. The Department Head 

shall explain this policy within that department and see that it is fully implemented. It is the Department Head’s 

responsibility to ensure their department’s users abide by the requirements and guidelines set forth in this and 

any related documents. Department Heads and Systems Administrator (Finance Director or his designee) has the 

authority to inspect the contents of any equipment, files, or mail in the normal course of their supervisory 

responsibilities. Reasons for review include, but are not limited to investigation of network slowdown; system 

hardware or software problems including software license compliance, general system failure, litigation or 

potential litigation; reasonable suspicion of a crime or violation of policy; or a need to perform work or provide a 

service when an employee is not available. All communication system users acknowledge their consent that the 

County may, at its discretion, inspect, use or disclose any electronic communications and/or data without further 

notice for any legitimate business, legal or discretionary purpose. The County may utilize monitoring software to 

administer this policy. 

Section 3. Public Nature of Electronic Communication  

Electronic communication is a public record like any other public document. Users must understand that any 

communications created, received or backed up on the County system may he construed to be public documents 

and thus may be subject to legal requests for public disclosure. This includes communications that users might 

think of incorrectly, as personal and private. Electronic communications may he searched for evidence in any legal 

proceeding. 

 

Section 4. E-mail/Internet  

Use of the Communications Systems by employees for personal use must he restricted to occasional use that does 

not interfere with the conduct of County business. Personal use should he limited to personal time (breaks after 

7.D.b

Packet Pg. 126

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

er
so

n
n

el
 P

o
lic

y1
21

51
5 

 (
26

07
 :

 P
er

so
n

n
el

 P
o

lic
y 

- 
K

en
 B

o
w

m
an

)



48 
 

hours) and personal use of the Internet and e-mail on County time must he kept to a minimum. Supervisors are 

expected to monitor the extent of personal use of these assets during regular working hours. 

Any business or personal use of the Internet or e-mail by a County employee shall clearly and accurately identify 

the employee. Anonymous or pseudonymous use is prohibited. 

E-mail is considered an official form of communication between departments and between employees. Computer 

users are required to check for the receipt of e-mail messages each working day. 

The following uses of the County’s Communications Systems are strictly prohibited: 

Use of the Communications Systems to send chain letters. 

Use of the Communications Systems to knowingly send copies of documents in violation of copyright laws. 

Use of the Communications Systems to compromise the integrity of the County and its business in any way. 

Use of the Communications Systems to send messages containing offensive, abusive, discriminatory, threatening, 

harassing, or other language inappropriate for the operation of the County. 

Use of the Communications Systems to send messages that violate any policy of the County including the County’s 

Policy Against Harassment, Such messages include, but are not limited to, messages that contain sexual 

implications, racial slurs, or other comment that offensively addresses someone’s age, gender, sexual orientation, 

religious or political beliefs, national origin or disability. 

Use of the Communications Systems for the advertisement of personal business. 

Intentionally viewing, downloading and/or transmitting materials (other than that required for police business) 

that involve the use of obscene language, images jokes, sexually explicit materials or messages that abuse or 

belittle any person, group or classification of individuals is strictly prohibited. 

Use of the Communication System to distribute personnel information unless it is an authorized 1-luman Resource 

function that includes but is not limited to salary, performance reviews, complaints, grievances, misconduct, 

disciplinary information, medical records or related information. 

Installation of software without prior authorization from the Systems Administrator. 

Employees shall not permit unauthorized persons to use the County’s electronic Communication System 

Use of the Internet to purchase equipment or supplies with the submission of a County credit card number is 

strictly prohibited. Purchases made by purchase orders must have prior approval by Department Head. 

Installation of Software by third-party software vendors unless authorized by the Systems Administrator. 

Section 5. Security  

 All electronic communications are the property of the County, are subject to monitoring and therefore not 

considered private. The County will disclose any electronic mail message as required by appropriate law or 

regulation. The County shall promptly access electronic communication data: 

7.D.b

Packet Pg. 127

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

er
so

n
n

el
 P

o
lic

y1
21

51
5 

 (
26

07
 :

 P
er

so
n

n
el

 P
o

lic
y 

- 
K

en
 B

o
w

m
an

)



49 
 

When a user leaves the employ of the County for any reason. User’s mail will be accessed for the purpose of saving 

those messages that pertain to County business, These files may be subject to transfer to another user if necessary 

to conduct County business. The employee’s County e-mail service will be discontinued. 

When necessary to investigate a possible violation of a County policy or a breach of the security of the 

Communications Systems. 

In the event there is reasonable suspicion a user has committed or is committing any crime. 

Section 6. Telephones 

The telephone system is intended primarily to accomplish the work of the County. Providing services to internal 

and external customers is always the first priority. Personal use should be limited in accordance with the provisions 

of Internet and e-mail use. 

The County will deem personal use excessive if it prevents the employee from handling customer inquiries, 

complaints and requests for service in a timely manner or if it interferes with employees accomplishing their job 

responsibilities. All personal toll calls are to be reimbursed to the County. 

Section 7. Printers, Copiers, and Faxes  

Photocopy machines, printers and fax machines shall be used for the transaction of County business. Any personal 

use must he pre-approved by the Department Head. Unauthorized copying of copyrighted material is strictly 

prohibited. 

Section 8. Violations  

It is the user’s responsibility to read and abide by topics set forth in this document. If any employee violates any 

of the provisions of this policy, or a supervisor or department head who knowingly permits a violation of this 

policy, the employee, supervisor or Department Head will be subject to disciplinary action up to and including 

dismissal, as provided in the Personnel Policy. 

Drug and Alcohol Testing Policy  

Section 1. Purpose and Scope of Policy  

A. The purpose of this policy is to maintain a drug- and alcohol-free workplace and to provide procedures 

for conducting screenings of job applicants and employees for the use of illegal drugs and the improper 

use of prescription drugs.  

B. Employees with substance-abuse problems are encouraged to voluntarily seek help from the employee 

assistance program. However, employees who fail drug or alcohol tests may be disciplined, up to and 

including termination.  

C. All testing will be conducted in a manner that will protect the rights of employees and applicants 

subject to testing. Therefore,  the County of Camden will take all necessary steps to safeguard the 

dignity and self-esteem of those being tested, and will ensure adherence to all procedures pertaining 

to the implementation of this Policy. The County of Camden will adhere strictly to all standards of 

confidentiality and assure all employees that testing records and results will be released only to those 

authorized to receive such information.  

7.D.b

Packet Pg. 128

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

er
so

n
n

el
 P

o
lic

y1
21

51
5 

 (
26

07
 :

 P
er

so
n

n
el

 P
o

lic
y 

- 
K

en
 B

o
w

m
an

)



50 
 

D. Participation in a counseling, treatment, or rehabilitation program for drug and/or alcohol use or abuse 

will not be grounds for discharge provided the employee voluntarily enters such a program prior to 

being identified as a drug user/abuser or alcohol abuser by means such as tests, and before the 

employee becomes suspected under circumstances satisfactory to the County of Camden of being a 

drug user/abuser or alcohol abuser.  

E. This policy shall not apply to applicants and appointees to county boards and commissions, elected 

officers, i.e. the Sheriff, Register of Deeds, and Clerk of Court or their employees. It shall apply to 

appointed officers such as the County Manager, County Attorney, tax administrator, and clerk to the 

board.  

Section 2. Drug and Alcohol Tests Required by the United States  

Department of Transportation  

 

This section covers all employees who must hold a commercial driver’s license as a job requirement and 

all employees who perform other safety-sensitive functions as defined by the U.S. Department of 

Transportation (DOT) regulations.  

 

A. Pre-placement. Before a covered employee initially performs safety-sensitive functions for the 

County of Camden, he or she must undergo testing for drugs. Covered applicants for employment or 

current covered employees transferring into position that requires testing must pass a pre-placement 

drug test.  

B. Post-Accident. Post-accident testing must be conducted on any driver or any other safety-sensitive 

employee not in the vehicle (e.g., maintenance personnel) whose performance could have contributed 

to the accident. A determination whether to test covered employees who were not in the vehicle but 

who may have contributed to the accident will be made based on the best information available at the 

time of the decision. The Federal Highway Administration mandates that tests must be conducted in 

the event of a fatality or if the driver receives a citation under state or local law for a moving traffic 

violation arising from the accident. Federal Transit Administration mandates testing in the event of a 

fatality or in the event that a driver receives a citation and an individual suffers a bodily injury an 

immediately receives medical treatment away from the accident scene or if one of the vehicles in the 

accident is disabled to the extent that it must be towed. 

C. Reasonable Suspicion. A test will be conducted when there is reason to believe that the employee has 

used a prohibited drug or has misused alcohol as defined in this Policy. Reasonable-suspicion testing 

is authorized only if the required observations are made by a trained supervisor or official of the 

locality where the covered employee is on duty.  

D. Random Testing. Employees designated as safety sensitive, as defined by the DOT guidelines will be 

tested on an unannounced basis throughout the year. Computer-based, random numbers generated and 

matched with the employee’s identification number will determine who is tested.  

E. Return to Duty. An employee who has a positive breath alcohol test of 0.04 or greater will not be 

allowed to return to duty in the performance of a safety-sensitive function until he or she has been 

evaluated by a substance abuse professional and until he or she tests negative-less than 0.02-on a 

return-to-duty alcohol test.  

F. Follow-up. Once allowed to return to duty, an employee who has been determined by the evaluating 

substance abuse professional to be in need of assistance in resolving problems associated with misuse 

of drugs and/or alcohol must submit to a minimum of six follow-up tests within the first twelve months 

following rehabilitation. Follow-up testing may be extended for up to sixty months following return 

to duty as prescribed by the evaluating substance abuse professional.  

 

Section 3. Drug and Alcohol Abuse and Testing Policy for all Employees  

7.D.b

Packet Pg. 129

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

er
so

n
n

el
 P

o
lic

y1
21

51
5 

 (
26

07
 :

 P
er

so
n

n
el

 P
o

lic
y 

- 
K

en
 B

o
w

m
an

)



51 
 

 

A. The unlawful manufacture, distribution, dispensation, possession, purchase, or use of drugs by 

employees is  prohibited and constitutes grounds for immediate termination.  

B. The manufacture, distribution, dispensation, possession, storage, purchase or use of alcohol by 

employees while at the  workplace is prohibited and constitutes grounds for immediate termination.  

C. Employees who are terminated as a result of a violation of this Policy shall be referred to the employee 

 assistance program  for evaluation and further counseling or treatment by a substance abuse 

professional.  

D. An employee who tests positive for alcohol and is not terminated will receive a five-day suspension 

without pay, one  hundred-eighty-day performance probation, and a mandatory referral to a substance 

abuse professional. The employee  shall be evaluated by the substance abuse professional and follow 

any rehabilitation program prescribed. The employee  shall be subject to all other return to subject 

to all other return-to-work provisions as outlined in this Policy. Refusal  to comply with the 

rehabilitation program prescribed by the substance abuse professional will result in termination. 

 However, before proceeding with disciplinary action, the employee’s department head must assure 

that the facts of the  case are reviewed by the human resources department. A second such occurrence 

of a positive alcohol test within five  years of the first occurrence will result in termination.  

E. No safety-sensitive employee shall use alcohol within four hours before going on duty or operating, 

or having physical  control of, a commercial motor vehicle or transit service vehicle.  

F. No employee shall report for duty or remain on duty in a safety-sensitive function while having an 

alcohol concentration or  0.04 or greater. An employee reports to work and whose breath alcohol test 

indicates a 0.04 or greater level of alcohol in  the employee’s system shall be considered to have a 

positive alcohol test and shall be disciplined as outlined in this Policy.  

G. When there is reasonable suspicion (see Section 8, Definitions) that an employee on duty has alcohol 

or drugs in his or  her system, the employee will be tested. If the employee tests positive and 

management concludes that alcohol or  drug  consumption occurred on the job, the employee will 

be terminated. If the employee tests positive and  department  management concludes that alcohol 

or drug consumption occurred while not on the job, the  employee shall receive  appropriated 

discipline as outlined in this Policy.  

H. A reasonable-suspicion or post-accident alcohol test shall be administered no later than eight hours 

following the  determination of reasonable suspicion or following the accident. If the test is not 

administered within two hours, the  supervisor must document the reason(s) the alcohol test was not 

promptly administered. If the alcohol test is not  administered within eight hours following the 

determination of reasonable suspicion or following the accident, the  supervisor shall cease 

attempts to administer the test and must document the reason(s) for not administering the test. In  the 

event an alcohol test is not conducted with the eight-hour time frame, the following should occur:  

1. No employee shall be allowed to remain on duty until an alcohol test is administered and the 

employee’s alcohol concentration measures less than 0.02, or  

2. Twenty-four hours have elapsed following the determination of reasonable suspicion. No 

employee may refuse to submit to an alcohol test as required by the regulations.  

I. A written record shall be made of the observations leading to a reasonable-suspicion drug or alcohol 

test and signed by the supervisor or departmental designee who made the observations within twenty-

four hours of the observed behavior or before the results of the controlled-substances test are released, 

whichever is earlier.  

J. A post-accident drug test shall be administered within thirty-two hours following the accident. If the 

drug test is not administered within thirty-two hours, the supervisor shall cease attempts to administer 

a drug test and must document the reason(s) for not administering the test. No employee may refuse 

to submit to a drug test required by the regulations. No safety-sensitive employee involved in an 

accident that requires an alcohol test shall consume any alcohol for eight hours following the accident 

or until a post-accident alcohol test is performed, whichever comes first.  

7.D.b

Packet Pg. 130

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

er
so

n
n

el
 P

o
lic

y1
21

51
5 

 (
26

07
 :

 P
er

so
n

n
el

 P
o

lic
y 

- 
K

en
 B

o
w

m
an

)



52 
 

K. An employee who is tested (exclusive of the return-to-duty test) and found to have an alcohol 

concentration of 0.02 or greater but less than 0.04 shall not perform or continue to perform his or her 

job functions until the start of the employee’s next regularly scheduled duty period, but not less than 

twenty-four hours following administration of the test. The employee shall be removed from duty 

without pay for this twenty-four hour period and shall receive a notation in his or her performance 

appraisal about the requirement of reporting to work without the presence of alcohol in his or her 

system.  

L. Employees assigned to positions that are determined to be safety sensitive will be randomly tested for 

alcohol and drugs. Selected employees will be transported to the designated testing location. Random 

testing for drugs and alcohol shall be conducted at the rate mandated by DOT or city policy. 

M. A drug and alcohol test will be included as part of the promotion/demotion/transfer/selection process 

for employees determined to be final candidates for positions requiring a commercial driver’s license 

for positions requiring a physical examination and for positions that are safety sensitive.  

N. An employee who tests positive for alcohol must submit to a return-to-duty breath alcohol test before 

resuming the performance of safety-sensitive functions following a disciplinary suspension. The 

return-to-duty alcohol test must indicate an alcohol concentration of less than 0.02. A return-to-duty 

breath alcohol test result of 0.04 or greater will considered as the second positive alcohol test within a 

five-year period and will result in termination. 

O. An employee who refuses to submit to, or fails to follow through with, a drug or alcohol test when 

testing is required by this Policy will be terminated. However, before proceeding with disciplinary 

action, the employee’s department head must assure that the facts of the case are reviewed by the 

human resources department.  

P. If an employee alleges that, because of medical reasons, he or she is unable to provide a sufficient 

amount of breath to permit a valid breath test, the breath alcohol technician shall instruct the employee 

a second time to attempt to provide an adequate amount of breath. If the employee continues to allege 

an inability to provide an adequate amount of breath for the test, the department shall be notified that 

the employee has refused to be tested. The employee will be directed to obtain, as soon as practicable 

after the attempted provision of breath, an evaluation from a licensed physician acceptable to the 

County of Camden addressing the employee’s medical ability to provide the adequate amount of 

breath. If there is not a medical reason acceptable to management for the employee’s inability to 

provide the breath, the employee will be considered to have refused to submit to the alcohol test and 

will disciplined according to the guidelines established by this Policy. 

Q. An employee who does not pass the drug or alcohol test and is terminated will not be considered for 

re-employment for a two-year period following the date of the test and then will be considered only 

when (a) he or she provides documentary proof of successful completion of a drug and/or alcohol 

abuse treatment or rehabilitation program and (b) he or she passes a pre-placement drug and/or alcohol 

test.  

R. An employee shall inform his or her supervisor if, prior to beginning work or while he or she is on 

duty, that he or she has used or intends to use any prescription drug, over-the-counter drugs, or other 

substance that might impair his or her ability to satisfactorily perform duties. Employees are 

responsible for a thorough understanding of the effects and potential side effects of medications or 

other chemical substances taken. Failure to notify the supervisor under these circumstances may result 

in disciplinary action up to and including termination depending on the severity of the resulting 

incident. The human resources department will be consulted prior to such discipline being imposed.  

S. The medical review officer will review the findings of a drug test with the employee before a final 

determination is made that the employee did not pass the drug test. The purpose of this review is to 

ensure that the findings of a positive test are not based on factors other than the use of the drug for 

which the positive result is found.  

T. Employees returning to the workforce following completion of a drug and/or alcohol rehabilitation 

program will be tested on an unannounced and periodic basis for drugs and/or alcohol during the sixty 

7.D.b

Packet Pg. 131

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

er
so

n
n

el
 P

o
lic

y1
21

51
5 

 (
26

07
 :

 P
er

so
n

n
el

 P
o

lic
y 

- 
K

en
 B

o
w

m
an

)



53 
 

months following their return to work. Those employees covered by DOT guidelines must submit to 

a minimum for six follow-up tests within the first twelve months following rehabilitation. A follow-

up breath alcohol test result of 0.04 or greater will result in termination. A follow-up breath alcohol 

test result of 0.02-0.039 will result in a five-day suspension without pay. A second such occurrence of 

a follow-up breath alcohol test result of 0.02-0.039 within the prescribed sixty-month period will result 

in termination.  

U. If an employee is convicted of a violation of a criminal drug statute and such violation occurred while 

the employee was on duty, the employee must notify his or her department head of the conviction 

within five days after such conviction. (NOTE: This is a requirement of the Drug-Free Workplace 

Act.) Failure to comply with this requirement will result in termination.  

 

Section 4. Applicant Testing  

 

A. Applicants determined to be final candidates for commercial driver’s license positions will be required 

to submit to a drug screening. The drug screen shall be performed within forty-eight hours from the 

time the conditional job offer is made.  

B. Applicants determined to be final candidates for positions requiring a commercial driver’s license or 

positions designated as safety-sensitive by DOT guidelines will also be required to submit to an 

alcohol screening. The applicant must have a breath alcohol test result of less than 0.04 to be 

considered for employment.  

C. Applicants for temporary positions requiring a commercial driver’s license, or positions designated as 

safety-sensitive by DOT guidelines, will be required to submit to a drug and alcohol screening.   

D. It is strongly recommended that applicants for temporary positions designated as safety sensitive be 

required to submit to a drug screen.  

E. Candidates for other temporary positions should be required to submit to a drug screen if the 

department determines that the nature of the job and the length of the assignment justifies a test.  

F. An applicant will have four hours to provide an acceptable urine specimen.  An applicant who refuses 

to submit to, or fails to follow through with, the drug test as required, will not be considered for 

employment for a two-year period.  

G. An applicant who does not pass the drug test as required will not be considered for employment for a 

two-year period following the date of the test and then will be considered only when (1) such applicant 

provides documentary proof that he or she has successfully completed a drug and/or alcohol abuse or 

rehabilitation program and (2) such applicant passes a pre-placement drug and/or alcohol test.  

H. Any applicant covered by the provisions of the DOT alcohol-and drug-testing guidelines whose breath 

alcohol test result indicates an alcohol concentration of 0.02-0.039 will not be considered for 

employment for a two-year period following administration of the test.  

I. Applicants having completed a drug or alcohol rehabilitation program within two years prior to their 

employment with the County of Camden will be required to certify that they have successfully 

completed the program before they can be hired. If hired, these employees will be tested on an 

unannounced and periodic basis for drugs and/or alcohol during the sixty months following their hire.  

 

Section 5. Compliance with Law  

 

A. Information regarding the testing and referral of employees and applicants under this Policy will be 

treated as confidential in accordance with the requirements of North Carolina law governing the 

privacy of employee personnel records.  

B. Searches and seizures are to be conducted in a legal manner. The County of Camden reserves the right 

to conduct searches or inspections of property assigned to an employee whenever a department head 

or his or her designee determines that the search is reasonable under all the circumstances.  

 

7.D.b

Packet Pg. 132

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

er
so

n
n

el
 P

o
lic

y1
21

51
5 

 (
26

07
 :

 P
er

so
n

n
el

 P
o

lic
y 

- 
K

en
 B

o
w

m
an

)



54 
 

Section 6. Supervisory Responsibilities  

 

Every supervisor shall  

 

A. Consistently apply this Policy to all employees under his or her supervision. A supervisor who fails to 

apply this Policy when he or she believes, or reasonably should believe, that an employee under his or 

her supervision has committed a violation will be disciplined.  

B. Initiate the process for having an employee drug or alcohol tested if there is reasonable suspicion that 

an employee under his or her supervision, when such employee is on duty, has an illegal drug or 

alcohol in his or her system or is using any legal drug in a manner other than it was intended.  

C. Insure that employees he or she supervises are aware of the requirements and consequences of this 

Policy.  

D. Follow the procedure established  by the department head for assuring that an employee who is to be 

tested for alcohol or other drugs is transported to the designated test site, and that those employees for 

whom there is reasonable suspicion of substance abuse or who have had a breath alcohol test result of 

0.02 or greater are transported home-either by personal family/friends or by arranged transportation.  

 

Section 7. Employee Responsibilities 

 

Every employee shall 

 

A. Abide by this Policy as a condition of employment.  

B. Comply with all applicable laws regulating the manufacture, distribution, dispensation, use or 

possession or illegal drugs, alcohol, or prescription drugs.  

C. Assure that his or her ability to perform his or her job duties is not negatively affected due to use of a 

drug or alcohol when scheduled to report to work or when on “on call” status. Should any employee 

be requested to report to work for a safety-sensitive job earlier than his or her normal or previously 

assigned time, it is the employee’s responsibility to advise his or her supervisor of an inability to 

perform his or her job duties or that he or she has consumed alcohol within the last four hours prior to 

reporting for duty. If the employee had received prior notice that he or she might be called back into 

work, the employee shall be considered AWOL if he or she is unable to report to duty. An employee 

may be subject to other disciplinary action due to inability to report for duty.  

D. Submit immediately to a drug or alcohol test when requested by his or her supervisor.  

E. Notify his or her department head, if convicted of a violation of a criminal drug statute and such 

violation occurred while the employee was on duty, within five days after such conviction, as required 

by the Drug-Free Workplace Act.  

 

Section 8. Definitions  

 

Accident means an occurrence involving a commercial motor vehicle operating on a public road that 

results in a fatality; bodily injury to a person who, as a result of the injury, immediately receives medical 

treatment away from the scene of the accident; or one or more motor vehicles incurring disabling damage 

as a result of the accident, requiring the vehicle(s) to be transported away from eh scene by a tow truck or 

other vehicle.  

Alcohol test means a test for the presence of alcohol in the body as determined through the use of a breath 

alcohol test, evidential breathalyzer test, or blood screening.  

Conviction means a finding of guilt (including a plea of nolo contendere) or imposition of sentence, or 

both, by any judicial body charged with responsibility to determine violations of federal or state criminal 

drug statutes.  

7.D.b

Packet Pg. 133

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

er
so

n
n

el
 P

o
lic

y1
21

51
5 

 (
26

07
 :

 P
er

so
n

n
el

 P
o

lic
y 

- 
K

en
 B

o
w

m
an

)



55 
 

Criminal drug statute means a criminal statute relating to the manufacture, distribution, dispensation, use 

or possession of any drug.  

Drug means a controlled substance as listed in Schedules I through V of Section 202 of the Controlled 

Substances Act (21 USC 812) or Chapter 90, Section 87(5) of the North Carolina General Statutes or a 

metabolite thereof.  

Drug test and drug screening means a test, including providing the necessary sample of body fluid by the 

employee to be tested, for the presence of any of the following drugs or drug metabolites in the urine or 

blood of an employee 

a. Amphetamines 

b. Barbiturates 

c. Benzodiazepines 

d. Cannabinoids  

e. Cocaine 

f. Methaqualone 

g. Opiates 

h. Phencyclidine 

i. Propoxyphene 

j. Other drugs that may be determined to reduce work efficiency 

Medical review officer is a North Carolina-licensed physician with specific training in the area of 

substance abuse. The medical review officer not only has knowledge of substance-abuse disorders, but 

also has been trained to interpret and evaluate laboratory test results in conjunction with an employee’s 

medical history. The medical review officer verifies a positive drug test result by reviewing a laboratory 

report and an employee’s unique medical history to determine whether the result was caused by the use 

of prohibited drugs or by an employee’s medical condition. 

On call means being subject to a call to report immediately to work for the County of Camden.  

On duty means when an employee is at the workplace, performing job duties, on call, or during any other 

period of time for which he or she is entitled to receive pay from the County of Camden.  

Other substance means any substance that has the potential to impair appreciably the mental or physical 

function or a person who does not have an unusual or extraordinary reaction to such substance.  

Positive, with respect to the results of a drug test, means a laboratory finding of the presence of a drug or 

a drug metabolite in the urine or blood of an employee at the levels identified by the Substance Abuse and 

Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA), or for drugs not subject to SAMHSA guidelines, at 

the levels identified by the County of Camden; all positive tests will be confirmed using a different 

technology than was used for the first test, such as the gas chromatography/mass spectrometry (GC/MS) 

process.   

Positive, with respect to the results of an alcohol test, means the presence of alcohol in the employee’s 

system at the 0.04 level or greater.  

Negative, with respect to the result of a drug test, means a test result that does not show the presence of 

drugs at a level specified to be a positive test.  

Negative, with respect to the results of an alcohol test, means a test that indicates a breath alcohol 

concentration of less than 0.02. 

Qualified negative, with respect to the results of a drug test, means a test in which the lab result is 

consistent with legal drug use.  

Canceled, with respect to the results of a drug test, means a test result in which the medical review officer 

fins insufficient information or inconsistent procedures with which to make a determination.  

Random testing is testing conducted on an employee assigned to a safety-sensitive position and is chosen 

by a method that provides an equal probability that any employee from a group of employees will be 

selected. 

Reasonable suspicion exists when a supervisor, who has received the required training in detecting the 

signs and symptoms of probable drug and/or alcohol use, can substantiate specific contemporaneous, 

7.D.b

Packet Pg. 134

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

er
so

n
n

el
 P

o
lic

y1
21

51
5 

 (
26

07
 :

 P
er

so
n

n
el

 P
o

lic
y 

- 
K

en
 B

o
w

m
an

)



56 
 

articulable observations concerning appearance, behavior, speech, or body odor or other physical 

indicators or probable drug or alcohol use. By way of example and not limitation, any one or a combination 

of the following may constitute reasonable suspicion:  

a. Slurred speech  

b. The odor of marijuana or alcohol about the person  

c. Inability to walk a straight line  

d. An accident resulting in damage to property or personal injury  

e. Physical altercation  

f. Verbal altercation  

g. Behavior that is so unusual that it warrants summoning a supervisor or anyone else in authority 

(i.e. confusion, disorientation, lack of coordination, marked personality changes, irrational 

behavior) 

h. Possession of drugs 

i. Verifiable information obtained from other employees based on their observations 

j. Arrests, citations, and deferred prosecutions associated with drugs or alcohol  

Unannounced follow-up testing is testing conducted on an employee on a periodic, unannounced basis, 

following his or her return to work from an approved drug or alcohol rehabilitation program.  

Pre-placement testing is testing conducted on a current county employee prior to his or her being 

promoted, transferred, or demoted into a safety-sensitive position.  

Safety-sensitive position means:  

A position will be designated safety sensitive only where the County of Camden has a compelling need, 

on the basis of safety concerns, to ascertain on-the-job impairment on the part of employees who hold the 

position. Such a compelling need may arise where the duties of a position create, or are accompanied by 

such a great risk of injury to other persons or to property of such magnitude that even a momentary lapse 

of attention, judgment, or dexterity could have disastrous consequences.  

Examples of these positions include:  

a. Positions (full or part time) requiring the use of weapons (or potential use of weapons) or the 

operation of vehicles, machinery, or equipment as a primary task (does not include routine office 

equipment).  

b. Positions requiring the handling of hazardous materials, the mishandling of which may place the 

employee, fellow employees, or the general public at risk of serious injury, or the nature of which 

would create a security risk in the workplace.  

c. Positions including but not limited to Public Works employees and county employees who 

routinely drive county vehicles or other activities which involve either public safety or safety 

concerns for others.  

d. Other positions as determined on a case-by-case basis.  

The following includes activities defined as safety sensitive by the Federal Highway Administration or 

Federal Transit Administration portions or the DOT guidelines:  

a. Driving.  

b. Inspecting, servicing, or conditioning any commercial motor vehicle.  

c. Waiting to be dispatched at a carrier or shipper plant, terminal, facility, or other public property.  

d. Performing all other functions in or upon any commercial motor vehicle except resting in a sleeper 

birth.  

e. Loading or unloading a vehicle, supervising or assisting in the loading or unloading of a vehicle, 

attending a vehicle being loaded or unloaded, remaining in readiness to operate the vehicle, or 

giving or receiving receipts for shipments being loaded or unloaded.  

f. Performing driver requirements relating to accidents.  

g. Repairing, obtaining assistance, or remaining in attendance upon a disabled vehicle.  

h. Operating a revenue service vehicle, including when not in revenue service.  

7.D.b

Packet Pg. 135

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

er
so

n
n

el
 P

o
lic

y1
21

51
5 

 (
26

07
 :

 P
er

so
n

n
el

 P
o

lic
y 

- 
K

en
 B

o
w

m
an

)



57 
 

i. Operating a nonrevenue service vehicle when required to be operated by a holder of a commercial 

driver’s license.  

j. Controlling dispatch or movement of a revenue service vehicle.  

k. Maintaining a revenue service vehicle or equipment used in revenue service.  

l. Carrying a firearm for security reasons.  

Determination as to which positions are safety sensitive will be based on DOT guidelines or the 

recommendation of the department head and approval by the personnel department.  

Supervisor, in general, means any employee who has the authority to direct the job activities of one or 

more other employees. With respect to a particular employee, the term means such employee’s immediate 

supervisor and all persons having indirect supervisory authority over such employee.  

Pass a drug test means that the result of a drug test is negative. The test either 

a. Showed no evidence or insufficient evidence of a prohibited drug or drug metabolite, or  

b. Showed evidence of a prohibited drug or drug metabolite but there was a legitimate medical 

explanation for the result as determined by a certified medical review officer.  

Pass an alcohol test is a negative alcohol test. The test showed no evidence or insufficient evidence of a 

prohibited level of alcohol.  

Workplace means the location or facility where an employee may be expected to perform any task related 

to the requirements of his or her job. This includes break rooms and restrooms, outdoor worksites, the 

County of Camden’s vehicles or personal vehicles (while personal vehicle is being used for the County of 

Camden business), computer work stations, conference rooms, hallways, private offices, open/partitioned 

work areas, public contact/customer service/medical services areas, and parking lots.  

Substance abuse professional means a licensed physician (medical doctor or doctor of osteopathy), or a 

licensed or certified psychologist, social worker, employee assistance professional, or addition counselor 

(certified by the National Association of Alcoholism and Drug Abuse Counselors Certification 

Commission) with knowledge of and clinical experience in the diagnosis and treatment of both drug- and 

alcohol- related disorders.  

Commercial motor vehicle means a motor vehicle or combination of motor vehicles used in commerce to 

transport passengers or property if the motor vehicle 

a. Has a gross combination weight rating of 26,001 or more pounds inclusive of a towed unit with a 

gross vehicle weight rating of more than 10,000 pounds; or  

b. Has a gross vehicle weight rating of 26,001 or more pounds; or  

c. Is designed to transport 16 or more passengers, including the driver; or  

d. Is of any size and is used in the transportation of materials found to be hazardous for the purpose 

of the Hazardous Materials Transportation Act and that requires the motor vehicle to be placarded 

under the Hazardous Materials Regulations.  

Confirmation test for alcohol means a second test, following s screening test with a result of 0.02 or 

greater, that provides quantitative data of alcohol concentration. Confirmation test for controlled 

substances means a second analytical procedure to identify the presence of a specific drug or metabolite 

that is independent of the screen test and that uses a different technique and chemical principle from that 

of the screen test in order to ensure reliability and accuracy. Gas chromatography/mass spectrometry 

(GM/MS) is the only authorized confirmation method for the five SAMHSA drugs.  

Refuse to submit means that an employee (1) fails to provide adequate breath for testing without a valid 

medical explanation after he or she has received notice of the requirement for breath testing, (2) fails to 

provide adequate urine for controlled substances testing without a valid medical explanation after he or 

she has received notice of the requirement for urine testing. (3) refuses to sign the breath alcohol 

confirmation test certification, or (4) engages in conduct that clearly obstructs the testing process. An 

employee subject to the post-accident before a required test is administered or fails to remain readily 

available for testing may be deemed to have refused to submit to testing.  
 

7.D.b

Packet Pg. 136

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

er
so

n
n

el
 P

o
lic

y1
21

51
5 

 (
26

07
 :

 P
er

so
n

n
el

 P
o

lic
y 

- 
K

en
 B

o
w

m
an

)



58 
 

Use of County Owned Vehicles Policy 
 

Section 1. Background and Purpose 

It is the policy of Camden County to provide employee access to county-owned vehicles. This policy 

works in conjunction with the Camden County Personnel Policy, Article VI. Conditions of Employment, 

Section 8. Use of County Time, Equipment, Supplies and Vehicles as found on the county’s website at: 

www.camdencountync.gov on the Human Resources page.  

It is the policy of Camden County to utilize the county vehicles to provide safe transportation and decrease 

costs and expenses related to travel for county purposes. Priority for vehicle usage will be out of town 

workshops and local meetings, in respective order. If any employee chooses not to use a county vehicle 

when it is available, travel will not be reimbursed.  

This policy establishes a clear directive on when vehicles are to be utilized by staff and the procedure 

which will be used in this process.  

 

 

Section 2. Scope 

This policy covers all county employees, whether or not they are probationary, permanent, or temporary 

employees of the county.  

Section 3. Policy  

This policy and procedure shall be followed for all county owned vehicles.  

County vehicles are not personal vehicles and are not for personal use. County vehicles should be viewed 

as belonging to the citizens of Camden County and are assigned solely for purposes consistent with 

providing services to those citizens.  

Section 4. Assignment of County Vehicles  

The assignment of County vehicles to employees is based upon job description. Department Heads who 

have County vehicles available for this purpose may assign such vehicles in a manner consistent with 

departmental workload and employee function.  

Sheriff Staff 

Sheriff staff shall be assigned individual vehicles to be used for county travel throughout the day as 

deemed necessary for the purpose of fulfilling their job duties. Because these positions require twenty-

four (24) hour coverage, staff is allowed to drive their vehicles home at night in case of emergency 

situations. Use of these vehicles is addressed by their operating procedure (Policy # 2.10). 

Public Works Staff 

7.D.b

Packet Pg. 137

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

er
so

n
n

el
 P

o
lic

y1
21

51
5 

 (
26

07
 :

 P
er

so
n

n
el

 P
o

lic
y 

- 
K

en
 B

o
w

m
an

)

http://www.camdencountync.gov/


59 
 

Public Works staff shall be assigned vehicles to be used for county travel throughout the day as deemed 

necessary for the purpose of fulfilling their job duties. Vehicles will remain in the parking lot at the end 

of the day unless the employee is required to attend overnight or out of town meetings with the exception 

of the Public Works Manager.  

 

Building Inspections Staff  

Building Inspections staff shall be assigned vehicles to be used for county travel throughout the day as 

deemed necessary for the purpose of fulfilling their job duties. Vehicles will remain in the parking lot at 

the end of the day unless the employee is required to attend overnight or out of town meetings. 

 

Soil and Water Staff  

Soil and Water Staff shall be assigned vehicles to be used for county travel throughout the day as deemed 

necessary for the purpose of fulfilling their job duties. Vehicles will remain in the parking lot at the end 

of the day unless the employee is required to attend overnight or out of town meetings. 

 

Social Services Staff 

Social Services Staff shall be assigned vehicles to be used for county travel throughout the day as deemed 

necessary for the purpose of fulfilling their job duties. Vehicles will remain in the parking lot at the end 

of the day unless the employee is required to attend overnight or out of town meetings. 

 

Senior Center Staff  

Senior Center Staff shall be assigned vehicles to be used for county travel throughout the day as deemed 

necessary for the purpose of fulfilling their job duties. Vehicles will remain in the parking lot at the end 

of the day unless the employee is required to attend overnight or out of town meetings. 

 

General Staff  

All other staff have access to a pool of vehicles for incidental travel and for meetings and trainings as well 

as overnight travel. These vehicles must be reserved and signed out for use.  

 

Section 5. Procedure for Procuring Use of Pool Vehicles 

Vehicle usage will be scheduled as far in advance as possible. Scheduling will include approximate time 

of occupancy.  

All pool vehicles will be signed out through the Permit Planning Clerk located in the Planning Department. 

A requesting party may ask for special consideration to use his/her personal vehicle for travel for long 

distance travel and be reimbursed if approved by the County Manager.  

A clip board with the mileage log is kept for each vehicle and must be maintained in the vehicle when in 

use. The clip board, along with the key & gas card for the vehicle, shall be returned to the Permit Planning 

Clerk in the Planning Department at the end of each use. Beginning and ending mileage along with purpose 

shall be documented. Employee will be responsible for returning the clip board, key & gas card at the end 

of the trip.  

A notation must be made on the log regarding the program that should be charged for the travel being 

provided.  

Smoking is not permitted in agency vehicles.  

7.D.b

Packet Pg. 138

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

er
so

n
n

el
 P

o
lic

y1
21

51
5 

 (
26

07
 :

 P
er

so
n

n
el

 P
o

lic
y 

- 
K

en
 B

o
w

m
an

)



60 
 

All trash must be removed from the vehicle after usage.  

Texting while driving is prohibited. Employees should wait until they are in a safe place to pull off of the 

road to text. Utilize best professional judgment when making or receiving calls.  

It is the responsibility of the employee using the vehicle to check the fuel level at the end of their usage. 

If the fuel registers less than ¾ full per tank, employee will be responsible for securing fuel for the vehicle.  

Using the fuel card for personal use will result in disciplinary action leading up to or including termination.  

Please inform the Maintenance Department if vehicle needs servicing (i.e. oil change, inspection, tires) 

and let them also know if the vehicle needs washing and vacuuming. 

Situations may occur in which the County Manager or his/her designee assigns a vehicle to someone other 

than an employee who had previously requested a vehicle. This will be done on a case by case situation.  

Section 6. Maintenance and Upkeep of Vehicles  

Maintenance department keeps a maintenance log for all General and Senior Center Vehicles. Each 

vehicle has reminder dates on the dash that show when the vehicle is due an oil change or inspection. 

Assigned vehicles to individuals in a department are responsible for maintaining their own maintenance 

logs and maintenance on the vehicles.  

If a pool vehicle has other issues that may appear, the driver of the pool vehicle must personally contact 

the Maintenance Department regarding the issue that needs to be addressed. They are also to place a note 

on the individual travel log assigned to the vehicle for record keeping.  

Section 7. Fuel Maintenance 

It is the responsibility of each driver to make sure the fuel gauge is checked after use of the vehicle. If the 

vehicle fuel gauge registers at ¾ tank or below, the driver is responsible for making sure the vehicle is 

filled up, using the fuel card issued to that car.  

Section 8. Authorization to Drive & Driving Record  

All employees will have a Motor Vehicle Background Check completed prior to employment.  

Employees who operate county vehicles must have a valid motor vehicle license issued by the state of 

their current residence and be considered an insurable risk by the county’s automobile liability insurance 

carrier.  

On at least an annual basis, the county will request a copy of all employees driver’s license and may obtain 

from the Department of Motor Vehicles, or authorized vendor for DMV records, the driving record of 

every driver of county vehicles to determine his/her ability to drive safely.  

Employees driving county vehicles shall obey all applicable traffic and parking regulations, ordinances, 

and laws.  

7.D.b

Packet Pg. 139

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

er
so

n
n

el
 P

o
lic

y1
21

51
5 

 (
26

07
 :

 P
er

so
n

n
el

 P
o

lic
y 

- 
K

en
 B

o
w

m
an

)



61 
 

Employees who incur parking or other fines in county vehicles will generally be personally responsible 

for payment of such fines unless the payment of such fines by the county is approved by the County 

Manager.  

Employees who are issued citations for any offense while using a county vehicle must notify their 

supervisor and the Department Head immediately when practicable, but in no case later than 24hours or 

the start of the next business day, whichever is later. Failure to provide such notice will be grounds for 

disciplinary action.  

An employee who is assigned a county vehicle and who is arrested for or charged with a motor vehicle 

offense for which the punishment includes suspension or revocation of the motor vehicle license, whether 

in his or her personal vehicle or in a county vehicle, must notify his or her supervisor and Department 

Head immediately when practicable; but in no case later than 24 hours or the start of the next business 

day, whichever is later. Failure to provide such notice will be grounds for disciplinary action.  

Any motor vehicle accident while operating a county vehicle must be reported to your Supervisor and the 

Human Resources office immediately when practicable, but in no case later than 24 hours or the start of 

the next business day, whichever, is later.  

All accidents can be reviewed by the Safety Committee (recommendations submitted to the County 

Manager). Such review may result in a recommendation to the department head for disciplinary action of 

the employee, if such accident was a result of a violation of the county’s safety policy.   

A violation of an applicable traffic parking regulation, ordinance, and law may be grounds for loss of 

County vehicle privileges.  

For employees whose job responsibilities require that they possess an active, valid driver’s license, a 

suspension or revocation of the motor vehicle license may result in termination from employment.  

Section 9. General Rules Defining Appropriate Use of County Owned Vehicles 

Except as otherwise noted, use of county-owned vehicles is restricted to official county business. Official 

county business is defined as travel to and from any function, event or location that is visited as part of 

the employee’s official duties.  

The county vehicle may be used during non-duty hours on overnight assignments away from the 

employee’s workplace or residence when other forms of transportation are not available. Use is limited to 

the immediate vicinity of the assignment area with department approval.  

The employee may use the county vehicle for necessary personal business when the following conditions 

exist:  

 The employee is in route between locations visited for official county business or when in 

route between home and the workplace; and;  

 The use is “de minimus” in time and value. Personal use is bound to the limits of 

reasonableness and to public responsibility.  

7.D.b

Packet Pg. 140

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

er
so

n
n

el
 P

o
lic

y1
21

51
5 

 (
26

07
 :

 P
er

so
n

n
el

 P
o

lic
y 

- 
K

en
 B

o
w

m
an

)



62 
 

County vehicles should be driven over the most economically, direct route taking into account exceptions 

due to safety needs, road conditions and traffic considerations.  

Section 10. General Rules Governing Use of County Owned Vehicles 

County vehicles should be driven only by County employees. However, nonemployees may drive County 

vehicles, under the direct approval of the County Manager.  

Passengers in County vehicles must be county employees or others whose presence is justified by official 

county business (non-county employees must fill out a form in order to be in the vehicle). No hitchhikers 

may be passengers in any county vehicle. Any special circumstances requiring deviation from this policy 

must be requested by written justification and receive advance written authority from the County Manager.  

All areas of county-owned vehicles, inside and out, are open to inspection at all times by County Authority, 

including the employee’s supervisor, Department Head, the Human Resources Director, the County 

Manager or a designee of the County Manager. Random inspections shall be conducted by these 

authorized personnel who may also be assisted by Law Enforcement. No expectation of privacy exists 

except for items expressly permitted.  

Vehicles should contain only those items designed for use with the vehicle, items installed by the county 

or items assigned by the county for transportation on the vehicle. Personal items in county vehicles shall 

be prohibited except for items of clothing, items of general purpose used such as purses, wallets, cell 

phones, and office related items. County is not responsible for the loss of personal items employee had 

with them while operating a county vehicle.  

Vehicles shall not contain items such as weapons; alcohol for consumption, non-prescribed drugs, obscene 

materials and other items whose possession would be deemed “Gross Personal Misconduct.”  

Employees are expected to keep County vehicles clean, and to report any malfunction or damage to 

Maintenance immediately.  

Employees who are assigned vehicles for commuting purposes are expected to park such vehicles in safe 

locations.  

Seatbelts, shoulder harnesses and other appropriate restraint systems must be used by both the driver and 

passengers of County vehicles. Failure to do so constitutes a misuse of a County vehicle.  

Employees may not operate County vehicles under the influence of alcohol, illegal drugs, or prescription 

drugs or other medications, such as over the counter medications that may interfere with effective and safe 

operation.  

No employee may use a County vehicle for out of state use without advanced approval of the Department 

Head and the County Manager.  

Employees shall not alter or change any operational aspect of a County vehicle. Any such alterations or 

changes must be approved by the Department Head.  

7.D.b

Packet Pg. 141

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

er
so

n
n

el
 P

o
lic

y1
21

51
5 

 (
26

07
 :

 P
er

so
n

n
el

 P
o

lic
y 

- 
K

en
 B

o
w

m
an

)



63 
 

Animals may not be transported in a County vehicle, with the exception of service animals accompanying 

official passengers or animals transported by Animal Control personnel and canines to assist Law 

Enforcement (i.e. drug dogs, etc.). Exceptions may be made for the safety of the animal or the general 

public.  

County vehicles may be equipped with a GPS monitoring device. This device provides data on the physical 

location of the vehicle as a function of time. Any employee who tampers with the device, who attempts 

to prevent the device from functioning properly, or who attempts to affect the accuracy of the information 

collected, will be subject to disciplinary action, up to and including termination. The employee responsible 

for the County vehicle is equally accountable for preventing others from tampering with the device.  

Section 11. Misuse of County Vehicles and Policy Violations 

Failure to comply with any and all provisions of this policy, as specified above, or misuse of a vehicle 

may result in:  

 Denial to the employee for further use of vehicles;  

 Reimbursement by the employee to the County for any resultant damage or cost; and/or  

 Disciplinary action, up to and including termination.  

 

Section 12. Special Circumstances  

This policy is intended to provide a basic framework governing the use of County vehicles, and as such, 

cannot contain procedures governing every situation that might arise. Employees seeking clarification of 

or an exemption from the provisions of this policy should contact Human Resources who will provide 

such clarification and with County Manager approval may authorize exceptions to the policy under 

mitigating circumstances.  

Additional clarification may be procured through the office of the County Manager and/or the County 

Attorney.  

Forms: Certain forms may be used to track the use of vehicles.  

 

 

 

i  

                                                           

7.D.b

Packet Pg. 142

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

er
so

n
n

el
 P

o
lic

y1
21

51
5 

 (
26

07
 :

 P
er

so
n

n
el

 P
o

lic
y 

- 
K

en
 B

o
w

m
an

)



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Consent Agenda 

 

Item Number: 8.A 

Meeting Date:   January 06, 2020 
 

Submitted By: Karen Davis, Clerk to the Board 

 Board of Commissioners 

 Prepared by: Karen Davis 

 
Item Title   BOC Meeting Minutes - December 2, 2019 

 

Attachments: bocminutes_120219 (DOCX) 
 

8.A

Packet Pg. 143



Camden County Board of Commissioners 

December 2, 2019 

Organizational Meeting – 10:00 AM 

Historic Courtroom 

Camden, North Carolina 

 

MINUTES 

The Organizational Meeting of the Camden County Board of Commissioners was held on December 2, 2019 in the 

Historic Courtroom, Camden, North Carolina.  

 

CALL TO ORDER  

The meeting was called to order by Chairman Tom White at 10:00 AM.  Also Present: Vice Chairman Clayton 

Riggs, Commissioners Garry Meiggs, Randy Krainiak and Ross Munro. 

 

INVOCATION & PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

Colonel Rodney Meads, Chief Deputy and Chaplain of the Camden County Sheriff’s Office gave the invocation and 

the Board led in the Pledge of Allegiance. 

 

ITEM 1. PUBLIC COMMENTS          

 

None. 

 

ITEM 2. CONFLICT OF INTEREST DISCLOSURE STATEMENT     

 

Clerk to the Board Karen Davis read the Conflict of Interest Disclosure Statement. 

 

County Attorney John Morrison brought to the Board’s attention the following: 

 Commissioner Garry Meiggs serves on the Board of Directors of Albemarle Electric Corporation and due 

to an item on the agenda that involves Albemarle Electric Corporation, Commissioner Meiggs has 

requested to be recused from discussion or action on that item.   

 

Motion to allow Commissioner Meiggs to be recused from the item on the agenda that pertains to Albemarle 

Electric Corporation.   

RESULT: PASSED [4-0] 

MOVER: Clayton Riggs, Vice Chairman 

AYES: White, Krainiak, Riggs, Munro 

  

 Commissioner Randy Krainiak has requested to be recused from New Business 12.E. due to the interest of 

his brother pertaining to that item.   

 

Motion to allow Commissioner Krainiak to be recused from the item on the agenda that pertains to setting 

the Public Hearing for Ordinance 2019-12-01 Rezoning Application. 

RESULT: PASSED [4-0] 

MOVER: Ross Munro, Commissioner 

AYES: White, Riggs, Munro, Meiggs 

  

 

8.A.a

Packet Pg. 144

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

12
02

19
  (

25
92

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
D

ec
em

b
er

 2
, 2

01
9)



ITEM 3. CONSIDERATION OF THE AGENDA        

 

Motion to approve the agenda as presented.   

RESULT: PASSED [3-0] 

MOVER: Clayton Riggs, Vice Chairman 

AYES: White, Riggs, Munro 

RECUSED: Meiggs, Krainiak 

  

Commissioners Meiggs and Krainiak did not vote on the agenda due to the previously stated conflicts of interest. 

 

ITEM 4. ELECTION OF CHAIRMAN TO THE BOARD       

 

County Attorney John Morrison opened the floor for nominations of Chairman to the Board of Commissioners. 

 

Commissioner Ross Munro nominated Tom White to continue to serve as Chairman to the Board.  No other 

nominations were offered. 

 

Motion that Chairman White be appointed to continue to serve as Chairman to the Board.  Tom White was 

appointed by acclamation to continue to serve as Chairman to the Board. 

 

Chairman White expressed his appreciation to the Board for the opportunity to serve over the past year and the 

opportunity to continue to serve.   

 

ITEM 5. ELECTION OF CHAIRMAN TO THE BOARD       

 

Chairman Tom White opened the floor for nominations of Vice Chairman to the Board of Commissioners. 

 

Motion to reappoint Clayton Riggs as Vice Chairman to the Board of Commissioners.   

RESULT: PASSED [UNANIMOUS] 

MOVER: Garry Meiggs, Commissioner 

AYES: White, Riggs, Munro, Meiggs, Krainiak 

  

ITEM 6. APPROVAL OF BONDS         

 

A. Bond Approval - County Manager Ken Bowman presented the bonds for approval.  

 

 Board of Commissioners 

 Finance Officer – County of Camden 

 Finance Officer – South Mills Fire Commission 

 Finance Officer – South Camden Water & Fire District 

 Finance Officer Courthouse/Shiloh fire Commission 

 Finance Officer – Joyce Creek Drainage District 

 Finance Officer – Camden Tourism Development Authority 

 Register of Deeds – County of Camden 

 Sheriff – County of Camden 

 Tax Assessor & Collector – County of Camden 

 

 

8.A.a

Packet Pg. 145

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

12
02

19
  (

25
92

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
D

ec
em

b
er

 2
, 2

01
9)



Motion to approve the bonds as presented. 

RESULT: PASSED [UNANIMOUS] 

MOVER: Ross Munro, Commissioner 

AYES: White, Riggs, Munro, Meiggs, Krainiak 

  

ITEM 7. 2020 BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS MEETING CALENDAR     

 

A. Resolution Adopting Regular Meeting Schedule – Ken Bowman 

 

 
 

Motion to adopt Resolution 2019-12-01 approving the 2020 Regular Meeting Schedule of the Camden County 

Board of Commissioners. 

RESULT: PASSED [UNANIMOUS] 

MOVER: Clayton Riggs, Vice Chairman 

AYES: White, Riggs, Munro, Meiggs, Krainiak 

  

 

ITEM 8. 2020 STATE HOLIDAY SCHEDULE        
 

  

New Year’s Day    January 1, 2020 

 Martin Luther King, Jr. Birthday  January 20, 2020 

 Good Friday    April 10, 2020 

 Memorial Day    May 25, 2020 

 Independence Day    July 3, 2020 

Labor Day    September 7, 2020 

Veterans Day    November 11, 2020 

Thanksgiving    November 26-27, 2020 

8.A.a

Packet Pg. 146

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

12
02

19
  (

25
92

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
D

ec
em

b
er

 2
, 2

01
9)



Christmas    December 24-25 & 28, 2020 

 

Motion to approve the 2020 State Holiday Schedule as presented. 

RESULT: PASSED [UNANIMOUS] 

MOVER: Randy Krainiak, Commissioner 

AYES: White, Riggs, Munro, Meiggs, Krainiak 

  

 

ITEM 9. PRESENTATIONS          
 

  

A. NC Cooperative Extension 

 

Extension Director Cameron Lowe introduced Camden’s new 4-H Extension Agent, Tyrone Dillard.  Mr. Dillard 

briefly addressed the Board and expressed his excitement in beginning his work with the youth in Camden. 

 

B. Sheriff’s Office 

 

Brandon Blount presented Certificates of Appreciation to the following: 

 

 Kevin Winters of Performance Chevrolet 

 Charlie Cartwright & Wilton McPherson of Camden Auto 

 Steve Hallett of F&H Design 

 Sergeant Steven Anderson of Nags Head Police Department 

 Eddie Cartwright & Jimmy Bohn of Cartwright’s Service Center (unable to attend) 

 

C. Camden TDA Photo Contest 

 

Donna Stewart recognized the winners of the Camden Tourism Development Authority Photo Contest.  There were 

98 submissions from 20 different individuals in four categories: Waterviews, Wildlife, Architecture and Citizens at 

Work.  Contest judges were Ken Ferguson, Amanda Madeira, Amy Gibbons and Ross Munro.  Winning photos will 

be displayed in County office buildings.   

 

 

8.A.a

Packet Pg. 147

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

12
02

19
  (

25
92

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
D

ec
em

b
er

 2
, 2

01
9)



 
 

 

 

ITEM 10. PUBLIC HEARING          
 

  

A. Camden Plantation, Inc. Land Sale Agreement 

 

Motion to open Public Hearing for Camden Plantation Land Sale Agreement. 

RESULT: PASSED [UNANIMOUS] 

MOVER: Garry Meiggs, Commissioner 

AYES: White, Riggs, Munro, Meiggs, Krainiak 

  

 

County Manager Ken Bowman presented the following on the Camden Plantation Land Sale Agreement: 

 

The applicant’s stated purpose for the project is to construct an economically viable, residential and commercial 

mixed-use development to serve Camden County, North Carolina, along the U.S. Route 17 corridor that satisfies all 

municipal development requirements for Smart Growth and contributes to the tax base of the County. 

 

As proposed, Camden Plantation will be developed in four phases involving the construction of approximately 1,750 

new residential units, associated roads and utilities infrastructure, a commercial center with a minimum of 160,000 

square feet of retail/commercial/office space, an 18-hole golf course, and other recreational amenities (tennis, 

swimming, trail and park system). Anticipated services to be provided include a grocery store and complimentary 

retail business, medical/dental offices, and general office space. The project will impact a total of 4,562 linear feet 

of waters of the United States and 28.90 acres of non-tidal wetlands, including the permanent loss of 27.96 acres of 

palustrine forested (PFO) wetlands and the conversion of 0.94 acres of PFO wetlands to palustrine emergent (PEM) 

wetlands. 

 

A number of alternatives were identified and evaluated by the applicant during the pre-application process 

including consideration of other properties, as well as the adjustment of onsite configurations resulting in the 

avoidance of an additional 4.43 acres of permanent impacts to wetlands.  

 

8.A.a

Packet Pg. 148

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

12
02

19
  (

25
92

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
D

ec
em

b
er

 2
, 2

01
9)



The applicant proposes to offset the permanent impacts to approximately 27.96 acres of palustrine forested wetlands 

(PFO) and conversion impacts to approximately 0.94 acres of PFO to palustrine emergent wetlands (PEM) through 

the purchase of non-tidal wetland credits from an approved mitigation bank at a ratio of 2:1 for PFO, and 1:1 for 

conversion from PFO to PEM. Additionally, the applicant proposes to preserve in perpetuity the remaining 17.24 

acres of PFO wetlands on the property through the recordation of deed instruments. 

 

In light of the fact that Camden Plantation has been turned down by the Army Corps of Engineers to mitigate 

approximately 28 acres, as mentioned above, they are approaching the County in order to purchase up to 15 acres 

for the development of the commercial / retail segment of this planned development.  If approved the master plan 

will have to be modified and resubmitted for approval. 

 

Pursuant to direction from the Camden County Commissioners, staff has negotiated an agreement by and between 

Camden County, North Carolina ("Seller") and Camden Plantation Properties, Inc. or assigns ("Buyer") to 

purchase up to 15 acres of county owned property at the intersection of US 17 and McPherson road for the amount 

of $10,000 per acre. 

 

The Board of Commissioners has determined the fair market value of the property is twenty thousand dollars 

($20,000) per acre. The proposed consideration to be received by the County is ten thousand dollars ($10,000) per 

acre up to one hundred fifty thousand dollars ($150,000) cash, plus additional consideration in the form of 

infrastructure improvement.   

 

The infrastructure improvement is development of a road between the subject property and the remainder the 

county’s property to the east.  The improvement is estimated to exceed $150,000 and will substantially increase the 

value of the surrounding county owned property.  Improvement will commence within 1 year after the later of (i) the 

date of Closing or (ii) the date upon which Buyer receives all necessary approvals for development of the Property 

as provided for by law, and shall thereafter diligently pursue completion of such road. 

 

Chairman White opened the floor for public comments. 

 

Mr. Bill Stafford of 102 Lake Drive, South Mills, addressed the Board and spoke in opposition to the land sale 

agreement.  Mr. Stafford’s property is adjacent to Camden Plantation.  His concerns included the following: 

 The lack of protection of the residential area from noise and light pollution. 

 The lack of communication from Board members in regard to Mr. Stafford’s previous concerns of this 

matter. 

 The potential for the buildout of apartments in the event of a golf course closure. 

 The developer should not be dictating the terms of the agreement to the County. 

 The lack of representation for local property owners at a 2017 Department of Transportation meeting of 

stakeholders in regard to the US 17 / I-87 Project.   

 How the fair market value of the property was determined. 

 The reason for the private sale versus solicitation of bids from the public. 

 Camden Commerce Park would be a more suitable location for this project. 

 County seems to be attempting to bring life to a stalled project. 

 Developer is currently being sued million for wrongful deathful in an apartment complex according to The 

Virginian Pilot. 

 

Mrs. Vickie Stafford of 102 Lake Drive, South Mills, addressed the Board and spoke in opposition to the land sale 

agreement.  Her concerns included the following: 

 How the development will affect the Dismal Swamp Welcome Center and the beautification of the 

surrounding area. 

 Developer has not fulfilled commitments made concerning placement of sidewalks, etc.   

 Does not feel the Board is taking into consideration the concerns of the citizens regarding this matter. 

 

8.A.a

Packet Pg. 149

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

12
02

19
  (

25
92

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
D

ec
em

b
er

 2
, 2

01
9)



There being no further comments from the public, Chairman White called for a motion to close the Public Hearing. 

 

Motion to close the Public Hearing. 

RESULT: PASSED [UNANIMOUS] 

MOVER: Clayton Riggs, Vice Chairman 

AYES: White, Riggs, Munro, Meiggs, Krainiak 

  

 

A motion was made by Ross Munro, and decided by the consensus of the Board, to place the Camden 

Plantation, Inc. Land Sale Agreement on the agenda for the January 6, 2019 meeting of the Board of 

Commissioners.  

 

ITEM 11. OLD BUSINESS          
 

  

A. Library Lease – Ken Bowman 

 

The Library Lease is being re-submitted for review and approval. The lease is identical to the previous one that was 

approved by the Board of Commissioners effective October 1, 2019 except for the following modification: 

Section 3 which addressed Options to Renew addressed the tenant’s right (Camden County) to renew for a 

successive term (the current term is 2 years).  In this lease such renewal right no longer exists. The County Attorney 

has discussed this with Mr. William Brumsey, Wilport’s Attorney, and this is the agreement they decided would 

work for both parties.  Staff recommends approval. 

 

Motion to approve the revised library lease as presented. 

RESULT: PASSED [UNANIMOUS] 

MOVER: Garry Meiggs, Commissioner 

AYES: White, Riggs, Munro, Meiggs, Krainiak 

  

 

ITEM 12. NEW BUSINESS          
 

  

A. Proclamation Recognizing Radon Action Month January 2020 – Ken Bowman 

 

8.A.a

Packet Pg. 150

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

12
02

19
  (

25
92

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
D

ec
em

b
er

 2
, 2

01
9)



 
 

Motion to adopt Proclamation recognizing January 2020 as Radon Action Month. 

RESULT: PASSED [UNANIMOUS] 

MOVER: Ross Munro, Commissioner 

AYES: White, Riggs, Munro, Meiggs, Krainiak 

  

B. NC Governor’s Highway Safety Program Traffic Grant – Sheriff Jones 

 

Sheriff Jones presented the following information on the NC Governor’s Highway Safety Program Traffic Grant and 

requested that the Sheriff’s Office be approved to apply for the grant which, upon being awarded, would provide the 

Sheriff’s Office with a Traffic Deputy.   

 

8.A.a

Packet Pg. 151

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

12
02

19
  (

25
92

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
D

ec
em

b
er

 2
, 2

01
9)



 
 

 
 

8.A.a

Packet Pg. 152

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

12
02

19
  (

25
92

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
D

ec
em

b
er

 2
, 2

01
9)



 
 

Motion to approve the application by the Sheriff’s Office for the NC Governor’s Highway Safety Program 

Traffic Grant for one traffic deputy position and the County will pay the required percentages during the 

tenure of the grant as outlined in the information presented.   

RESULT: PASSED [UNANIMOUS] 

MOVER: Garry Meiggs, Commissioner 

AYES: White, Riggs, Munro, Meiggs, Krainiak 

  

 

C. Camden Solar Special Use Permit Extension Request – Dan Porter 

 

The Special Use Permit (UDO 2017-10-01) for Camden Solar was approved by the Board of Commissioners on 

January 8, 2017.  In accordance with Article 151.2.3.22 (I) a Special Use Permit shall expire and become null and 

void two years after the date of issuance if; 1) the authorized use has not commenced; 2) no substantial construction 

activity has taken place or: 3) Construction activities have started but the value of all construction activity after two 

years is less than five per cent of the estimated total cost of construction.  In accordance with Article 151.2.3.22(I.3) 

of the Unified Development Ordinance (Attached) BayWa R.E. Development, LLC, current project owner of 

Camden Solar is requesting a one year extension of the Special Use Permit (UDO 2017-10-01) to January 8, 2021.    

 

Based on a letter from Dominion Energy and the completion of electrical upgrades adjacent to the property, staff 

feels that in accordance with Article 151.2, Section 2.3.22 Special Use Permit of the Unified Development 

Ordinance, that the applicant has proceeded towards completion of construction in good faith and with due 

diligence.   

 

Staff recommends approval of a one-year extension of Special Use Permit (UDO 2017-10-01) for Camden Solar, 

LLC to expire January 8, 2021. 

 

Motion to approve a one-year extension of Special Use Permit (UDO 2017-10-01) for Camden Solar, LLC to 

expire January 8, 2021.  

8.A.a

Packet Pg. 153

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

12
02

19
  (

25
92

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
D

ec
em

b
er

 2
, 2

01
9)



RESULT: PASSED [UNANIMOUS] 

MOVER: Randy Krainiak, Commissioner 

AYES: White, Riggs, Munro, Meiggs, Krainiak 

  

 

D. Commerce Park Electric Service – Ken Bowman 

 

At the time the Commerce Park was initially developed the electrical service was installed into the property and 

transformer cabinets set in the median of the entrance road.  The sale and development of the property by WAO 

garage at the end of Opportunity Dr. requires that we now install electrical service to the end of that road, and 

Albemarle Electric requires that the service be looped back up the road to provide redundancy. 

 

It is important to note that this service is not an incentive to an individual business. This service will have service 

transformers located at a few locations on each side of the road in order to provide for connections of future 

businesses in the park.   

 

The cost for this installation is $82,125.18.  The anticipated funding source is Fund Balance Reserves.  Staff 

recommends approval. 

 

 
 

8.A.a

Packet Pg. 154

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

12
02

19
  (

25
92

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
D

ec
em

b
er

 2
, 2

01
9)



 
 

Motion to authorize the County Manager to execute the contract with Albemarle Electric to install electrical 

service along Opportunity Drive in Camden Commerce Park and to approve the associated Budget 

Amendment. 

RESULT: PASSED [4-0] 

MOVER: Clayton Riggs, Vice Chairman 

AYES: White, Riggs, Munro, Krainiak 

RECUSED: Meiggs 

  

 

E. Set Public Hearing – Ordinance 2019-12-01 Rezoning Application – Dan Porter 

 

Robert Krainiak (RKRAIN, LLC (owner) and Sean Robey (agent for applicant) met with Planning Staff to rezone 

approximately 25 acres (lots 9-28 and a portion of lot 29) of Camden Business Park located off U.S. 158 from 

Highway Commercial (HC) to Village Residential (VR).   Neighborhood meeting was held October 21, 2019 at the 

Camden Library.   The application for rezoning was heard by the Camden County Planning Board at their November 

20, 2019 meeting and after discussion with applicant and staff, Planning Board made the following motions:  (All 

motions passed on a 6-0 vote.) 

   

1. Motion made to approve Consistency Statement as follows:  

 

The proposed zoning change is inconsistent with the 2005 CAMA Land Use Plan in that the CAMA Future 

Land Use Maps has property identified as Industrial; also 

 

The proposed zoning change is inconsistent and consistent with Comprehensive Plan (Adopted 2012); 

 

Inconsistent as Future Land Use Map shows the property designated as Mixed Use Employment which based on the 

description (see Attachment A) prohibits residential development.    

 

Consistent as based on the Vision Statement new development will be focused within targeted core areas and the 

Camden Village Core Area Action Strategies promotes the 158 corridor for new mixed use and higher density 

8.A.a

Packet Pg. 155

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

12
02

19
  (

25
92

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
D

ec
em

b
er

 2
, 2

01
9)



development.  Property located within the 1 mile buffer of Core Village where county encouraging higher density 

housing mix.    

 

2. Motion made to recommend approval of proposed rezoning application (UDO 2019-10-24) to rezone 

properties from Highway Commercial (HC) to Village Residential as rezoning request is consistent with 

the Comprehensive Plan (Adopted 2012) as based on the Vision Statement new development will be 

focused within targeted core areas and the Camden Village Core Area Action Strategies promotes the 

U.S. 158 corridor for new mixed use and higher density development.  Property located within the 1 

mile buffer of Core Village where county encouraging higher density housing mix.     

 

3. Motion made Motion to amend Comprehensive Plan Future Land Use Map for the 24 acres from 

Mixed-Use Employment to Village Mixed Use.  

 

Recommendation:  Set Public Hearing for January 6, 2020. 

 

Motion to set the Public Hearing for Ordinance 2019-12-01 Rezoning Application for January 6, 2020. 

RESULT: PASSED [4-0] 

MOVER: Clayton Riggs, Vice Chairman 

AYES: White, Riggs, Munro, Meiggs 

RECUSED: Krainiak 

  

 

ITEM 13. BOARD APPOINTMENTS         
 

  

A. Senior Advisory Board 

 

Motion to approve the reappointment of Sandra Duckwall to the Senior Advisory Board. 

RESULT: PASSED [UNANIMOUS] 

MOVER: Garry Meiggs, Commissioner 

AYES: White, Riggs, Munro, Meiggs, Krainiak 

  

 

ITEM 14. CONSENT AGENDA          
 

  

A. BOC Meeting Minutes – November 4, 2019 

B. DMV Monthly Report 

 

 

8.A.a

Packet Pg. 156

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

12
02

19
  (

25
92

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
D

ec
em

b
er

 2
, 2

01
9)



C. Refunds Over $100 

 

 
 

D. Vehicle Refunds Over $100 

 

 
 

E. Surplus Property Request 

 

 

8.A.a

Packet Pg. 157

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

12
02

19
  (

25
92

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
D

ec
em

b
er

 2
, 2

01
9)



F. Resolution 2019-12-02 Opposing Reclassification of Jurisdictional Waters 

 

 
 

G. State Acquisition Relocation Fund Program (SARF) 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

8.A.a

Packet Pg. 158

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

12
02

19
  (

25
92

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
D

ec
em

b
er

 2
, 2

01
9)



 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

8.A.a

Packet Pg. 159

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

12
02

19
  (

25
92

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
D

ec
em

b
er

 2
, 2

01
9)



 
 

Motion to approve the Consent Agenda as presented. 

RESULT: PASSED [UNANIMOUS] 

MOVER: Clayton Riggs, Vice Chairman 

AYES: White, Riggs, Munro, Meiggs, Krainiak 

  

 

ITEM 15. COUNTY MANAGER’S REPORT        
 

  

County Manager Ken Bowman included the following in his report: 

 The Senior Center will be closed December 24th-26th and January 1st.  The Center will be open on 

December 23rd & December 27th but meals will not be delivered or served.  The exercise room and offices 

will remain open on all other days except those mentioned above. 

 Commissioner Munro was the first patient at the newly-opened Chesapeake Regional Healthcare.  Grand 

opening and ribbon cutting will take place in January 2020. 

 County Manager will conduct mid-year budget reviews with department heads this week. 

 The South Mills VFD Christmas Parade is Saturday, December 7th at 11:00 AM. 

 The Extension Director interviews are scheduled for December 10th. 

 The Albemarle Soil & Water Conservation District Supervisors will meet on Thursday, December 12 th at 

the South Mills Ruritan Club at 7:00 PM. 

 The annual employee Christmas luncheon will be December 18th in the Senior Center.  County Offices will 

be closed from 12:00 to 2:00 PM. 

 Christmas Tree Lighting December 2nd at 5:30 PM on the Courthouse lawn. 

 Next Board of Commissioners Meeting – January 6, 2020 at 7 PM. 

 Merry Christmas! 

 

ITEM 16. COMMISSIONERS’ REPORTS         
 

 

None. 

8.A.a

Packet Pg. 160

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

12
02

19
  (

25
92

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
D

ec
em

b
er

 2
, 2

01
9)



ITEM 17. INFORMATION, REPORTS & MINUTES FROM OTHER AGENCIES    
 

 

The following was provided for information purposes: 

A. Library Report 

B. Register of Deeds Report 

 

South Camden Water & Sewer District Board of Directors 

 

Chairman White recessed the meeting of the Board of Commissioners and called to order the South Camden Water 

& Sewer District Board of Directors Meeting. 

 

Public Comments – None 

 

Consideration of the Agenda 

 

Motion to approve the agenda as presented. 

RESULT: PASSED [UNANIMOUS] 

MOVER: Clayton Riggs, Vice Chairman 

AYES: White, Krainiak, Meiggs, Riggs, Munro 

   

New Business 

 

A. Monthly Report – David Credle 

 

 
 

8.A.a

Packet Pg. 161

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

12
02

19
  (

25
92

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
D

ec
em

b
er

 2
, 2

01
9)



 
Motion to approve the monthly report as presented. 

RESULT: PASSED [UNANIMOUS] 

MOVER: Garry Meiggs, Commissioner 

AYES: White, Riggs, Munro, Meiggs, Krainiak 

  

 

There being no further matters for discussion Chairman White called for a motion to adjourn. 

 

Motion to adjourn the South Camden Water & Sewer District Board of Directors. 

RESULT: PASSED [UNANIMOUS] 

MOVER: Clayton Riggs, Vice Chairman 

AYES: White, Krainiak, Meiggs, Riggs, Munro 

  

Chairman White reconvened the Board of Commissioners. 

 

Closed Session 

 

Motion to go into Closed Session to discuss personnel. 

RESULT: PASSED [UNANIMOUS] 

MOVER: Clayton Riggs, Vice Chairman 

AYES: White, Krainiak, Meiggs, Riggs, Munro 

  

Motion to come out of Closed Session. 

RESULT: PASSED [UNANIMOUS] 

MOVER: Randy Krainiak, Commissioner 

AYES: White, Krainiak, Meiggs, Riggs, Munro 

 

 

 

 

 

8.A.a

Packet Pg. 162

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

12
02

19
  (

25
92

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
D

ec
em

b
er

 2
, 2

01
9)



ITEM 18. OTHER MATTERS          
 

 

Commissioner Board Appointments – Commissioner Krainiak requested to step down from the Senior Advisory 

Board due to a scheduling conflict.  Commissioner Ross Munro agreed to fill the vacancy created by Commissioner 

Krainiak. 

 

Motion to appoint Commissioner Ross Munro to the Senior Advisory Board. 

RESULT: PASSED [UNANIMOUS] 

MOVER: Garry Meiggs, Commissioner 

AYES: White, Riggs, Munro, Meiggs, Krainiak 

  

 

There being no further matters for discussion Chairman White adjourned the meeting at 11:41 AM. 

 

       

            

      Tom White, Chairman 

      Camden County Board of Commissioners 

ATTEST: 

 

     

Karen M. Davis, NCCCC 

Clerk to the Board of Commissioners 

8.A.a

Packet Pg. 163

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

12
02

19
  (

25
92

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
D

ec
em

b
er

 2
, 2

01
9)



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Consent Agenda 

 

Item Number: 8.B 

Meeting Date:   January 06, 2020 
 

Submitted By: Karen Davis, Clerk to the Board 

 Taxes 

 Prepared by: Teri Smith 

 
Item Title   DMV Monthly Report 

 

Attachments: DMV Monthly Report Feb 20 (PDF) 

 

Summary:  DMV Monthly Report February, 2020 Renewals Due 3/15/20 

 

Recommendation:   Review and Approve 

8.B

Packet Pg. 164



8.B.a

Packet Pg. 165

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 D

M
V

 M
o

n
th

ly
 R

ep
o

rt
 F

eb
 2

0 
 (

25
89

 :
 D

M
V

 M
o

n
th

ly
 R

ep
o

rt
)



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Consent Agenda 

 

Item Number: 8.C 

Meeting Date:   January 06, 2020 
 

Submitted By: Teri Smith, 

 Taxes 

 Prepared by: Teri Smith 

 
Item Title   Vehicle Refunds Over $100.00 

 

Attachments: November Refunds Over $100.00 (PDF) 

 

Summary:   Vehicle Refunds Over $100.00 for November, 2019     

 

Recommendation:   Review and Approve 

8.C

Packet Pg. 166



8.C.a

Packet Pg. 167

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 N

o
ve

m
b

er
 R

ef
u

n
d

s 
O

ve
r 

$1
00

.0
0 

 (
25

90
 :

 V
eh

ic
le

 R
ef

u
n

d
s 

O
ve

r 
$1

00
.0

0)



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Consent Agenda 

 

Item Number: 8.D 

Meeting Date:   January 06, 2020 
 

Submitted By: Lisa Anderson, Tax Administrator 

 Taxes 

 Prepared by: Karen Davis 

 
Item Title   Pickups, Releases & Refunds 

 

Attachments: Pickups, Releases & Refunds (PDF) 
 

8.D

Packet Pg. 168



8.D.a

Packet Pg. 169

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ic
ku

p
s,

 R
el

ea
se

s 
&

 R
ef

u
n

d
s 

 (
26

04
 :

 P
ic

ku
p

s,
 R

el
ea

se
s 

&
 R

ef
u

n
d

s)



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Consent Agenda 

 

Item Number: 8.E 

Meeting Date:   January 06, 2020 
 

Submitted By: Amy Barnett, Planning Clerk 

 Public Works 

 Prepared by: Karen Davis 

 
Item Title   Surplus Property - Maintenance 

 

Attachments: Surplus Property - Maintenance (PDF) 
 

8.E

Packet Pg. 170



8.E.A

Packet Pg. 171

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

u
rp

lu
s 

P
ro

p
er

ty
 -

 M
ai

n
te

n
an

ce
  (

25
95

 :
 S

u
rp

lu
s 

P
ro

p
er

ty
 -

 M
ai

n
te

n
an

ce
)



8.E.A

Packet Pg. 172

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

u
rp

lu
s 

P
ro

p
er

ty
 -

 M
ai

n
te

n
an

ce
  (

25
95

 :
 S

u
rp

lu
s 

P
ro

p
er

ty
 -

 M
ai

n
te

n
an

ce
)



8.E.A

Packet Pg. 173

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

u
rp

lu
s 

P
ro

p
er

ty
 -

 M
ai

n
te

n
an

ce
  (

25
95

 :
 S

u
rp

lu
s 

P
ro

p
er

ty
 -

 M
ai

n
te

n
an

ce
)



8.E.A

Packet Pg. 174

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

u
rp

lu
s 

P
ro

p
er

ty
 -

 M
ai

n
te

n
an

ce
  (

25
95

 :
 S

u
rp

lu
s 

P
ro

p
er

ty
 -

 M
ai

n
te

n
an

ce
)



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Consent Agenda 

 

Item Number: 8.F 

Meeting Date:   January 06, 2020 
 

Submitted By: Kevin Jones, 

 Sheriff 

 Prepared by: Karen Davis 

 
Item Title   Surplus Property - Sheriff's Office 

 

Attachments: Surplus Property - Sheriff's Office (PDF) 
 

8.F

Packet Pg. 175



8.F.a

Packet Pg. 176

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

u
rp

lu
s 

P
ro

p
er

ty
 -

 S
h

er
if

f's
 O

ff
ic

e 
 (

26
01

 :
 S

u
rp

lu
s 

P
ro

p
er

ty
 -

 S
h

er
if

f's
 O

ff
ic

e)



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Information, Reports & Minutes From Other Agencies 

 

Item Number: 11.A 

Meeting Date:   January 06, 2020 
 

Submitted By: Kim Perry, 

 Library 

 Prepared by: Kim Perry 

 
Item Title   Library Report 11/19 

 

Attachments: 19-11 (DOCX) 
 

11.A

Packet Pg. 177



Camden County Public Library 

November 2019 Statistics 

 
 

Visitor Count 1,599 

Materials Check Outs & Renewals 3,116 

Computer/ Wireless Use 521/475 

Questions Answered 321 

Children’s Programs/Attendance 16/188 

Adult Programs/Attendance 3/19 

Outreach Programs/Attendance 1/15 

Meeting Room Usage/Attendance 10/115 

Days/Hours Open 21/184 

# Items in Collection 18,755 

Library Card Holders 2,559 

 

 

Comparison by Year 

2017-2019 

    

           

3,517 3,738
3,116

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

Nov 2017 Nov 2018 Nov 2019

Circulation

1,687
1,843 1,599

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

Nov 2017 Nov 2018 Nov 2019

Attendance

11.A.a

Packet Pg. 178

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

9-
11

  (
25

99
 :

 L
ib

ra
ry

 R
ep

o
rt

)



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Information, Reports & Minutes From Other Agencies 

 

Item Number: 11.B 

Meeting Date:   January 06, 2020 
 

Submitted By: Tammie Krauss, Register of Deeds 

 Register of Deeds 

 Prepared by: Karen Davis 

 
Item Title   Register of Deeds Report 

 

Attachments: Register of Deeds Report (PDF) 
 

11.B

Packet Pg. 179



11.B.a

Packet Pg. 180

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

eg
is

te
r 

o
f 

D
ee

d
s 

R
ep

o
rt

  (
26

06
 :

 R
eg

is
te

r 
o

f 
D

ee
d

s 
R

ep
o

rt
)



11.B.a

Packet Pg. 181

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

eg
is

te
r 

o
f 

D
ee

d
s 

R
ep

o
rt

  (
26

06
 :

 R
eg

is
te

r 
o

f 
D

ee
d

s 
R

ep
o

rt
)



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Information, Reports & Minutes From Other Agencies 

 

Item Number: 11.C 

Meeting Date:   January 06, 2020 
 

Submitted By: Karen Davis, Clerk to the Board 

 Administration 

 Prepared by: Karen Davis 

 
Item Title   Community Services Block Grant 

 

Attachments: CSBG 2020 Application Pt1 (1) (PDF) 

CSBG 2020 Application Pt2 (1) (PDF) 

 
The North Carolina Administrative Code requires that each CSBG grant recipient submit its 
Community Anti-Poverty Plan (grant application) to each County Commissioner Board that it 
serves.  Please review the plan and provide any comments regarding the plan to the Clerk for 
submittal to the Office of Economic Opportunity. 

11.C

Packet Pg. 182



11.C.a

Packet Pg. 183

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t1
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.a

Packet Pg. 184

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t1
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.a

Packet Pg. 185

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t1
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.a

Packet Pg. 186

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t1
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.a

Packet Pg. 187

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t1
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.a

Packet Pg. 188

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t1
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.a

Packet Pg. 189

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t1
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.a

Packet Pg. 190

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t1
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.a

Packet Pg. 191

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t1
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.a

Packet Pg. 192

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t1
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.a

Packet Pg. 193

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t1
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.a

Packet Pg. 194

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t1
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.a

Packet Pg. 195

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t1
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.a

Packet Pg. 196

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t1
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.a

Packet Pg. 197

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t1
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.a

Packet Pg. 198

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t1
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.a

Packet Pg. 199

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t1
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.a

Packet Pg. 200

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t1
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.a

Packet Pg. 201

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t1
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.a

Packet Pg. 202

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t1
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.a

Packet Pg. 203

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t1
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.a

Packet Pg. 204

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t1
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.a

Packet Pg. 205

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t1
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.a

Packet Pg. 206

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t1
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.a

Packet Pg. 207

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t1
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.a

Packet Pg. 208

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t1
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.a

Packet Pg. 209

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t1
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.a

Packet Pg. 210

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t1
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.a

Packet Pg. 211

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t1
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.a

Packet Pg. 212

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t1
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.a

Packet Pg. 213

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t1
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.a

Packet Pg. 214

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t1
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.a

Packet Pg. 215

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t1
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.a

Packet Pg. 216

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t1
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.a

Packet Pg. 217

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t1
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.a

Packet Pg. 218

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t1
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.a

Packet Pg. 219

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t1
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.a

Packet Pg. 220

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t1
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.a

Packet Pg. 221

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t1
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.a

Packet Pg. 222

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t1
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.b

Packet Pg. 223

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t2
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.b

Packet Pg. 224

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t2
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.b

Packet Pg. 225

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t2
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.b

Packet Pg. 226

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t2
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.b

Packet Pg. 227

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t2
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.b

Packet Pg. 228

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t2
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.b

Packet Pg. 229

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t2
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.b

Packet Pg. 230

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t2
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.b

Packet Pg. 231

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t2
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.b

Packet Pg. 232

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t2
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.b

Packet Pg. 233

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t2
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.b

Packet Pg. 234

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t2
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.b

Packet Pg. 235

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t2
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.b

Packet Pg. 236

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t2
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.b

Packet Pg. 237

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t2
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.b

Packet Pg. 238

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t2
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.b

Packet Pg. 239

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t2
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.b

Packet Pg. 240

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t2
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.b

Packet Pg. 241

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t2
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.b

Packet Pg. 242

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t2
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.b

Packet Pg. 243

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t2
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.b

Packet Pg. 244

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t2
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.b

Packet Pg. 245

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t2
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.b

Packet Pg. 246

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t2
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.b

Packet Pg. 247

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t2
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.b

Packet Pg. 248

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t2
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.b

Packet Pg. 249

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t2
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.b

Packet Pg. 250

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t2
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.b

Packet Pg. 251

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t2
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.b

Packet Pg. 252

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t2
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.b

Packet Pg. 253

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t2
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.b

Packet Pg. 254

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t2
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.b

Packet Pg. 255

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t2
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.b

Packet Pg. 256

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t2
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.b

Packet Pg. 257

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t2
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.b

Packet Pg. 258

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t2
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.b

Packet Pg. 259

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t2
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.b

Packet Pg. 260

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t2
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.b

Packet Pg. 261

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t2
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.b

Packet Pg. 262

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t2
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.b

Packet Pg. 263

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t2
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.b

Packet Pg. 264

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t2
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.b

Packet Pg. 265

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t2
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.b

Packet Pg. 266

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t2
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.b

Packet Pg. 267

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t2
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.b

Packet Pg. 268

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t2
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.b

Packet Pg. 269

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t2
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.b

Packet Pg. 270

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t2
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.b

Packet Pg. 271

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t2
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.b

Packet Pg. 272

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t2
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.b

Packet Pg. 273

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t2
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.b

Packet Pg. 274

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t2
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)



11.C.b

Packet Pg. 275

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

S
B

G
 2

02
0 

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 P

t2
 (

1)
  (

25
98

 :
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

B
lo

ck
 G

ra
n

t)


	Agenda Packet
	Call to Order
	6:00 PM Closed Session - Economic Development
	7:00 PM Reconvene Board of Commissioners
	Invocation & Pledge of Allegiance
	Pastor Joe Brock - Harmony Baptist Church

	1. Public Comments
	2. Conflict of Interest Disclosure Statement
	3. Consideration of Agenda
	4. Presentations
	A. 2593 : Sheriff's Office - Lt. Brandon Henderson
	Printout: 2593 : Sheriff's Office - Lt. Brandon Henderson

	B. 2600 : FY 2018-2019 Audit Presentation - Greg Adams
	Printout: 2600 : FY 2018-2019 Audit Presentation - Greg Adams

	C. 2605 : Employee Recognition - Ken Bowman
	Printout: 2605 : Employee Recognition - Ken Bowman


	Recess to South Camden Water & Sewer District Board of Directors Meeting
	Reconvene Board of Commissioners
	5. Public Hearings
	A. 2594 : Ordinance 2019-12-01 Rezoning Application for RKRAIN LLC
	Printout: 2594 : Ordinance 2019-12-01 Rezoning Application for RKRAIN LLC
	a. Agenda Summary Sheet Ordinance 2019-12-01 Krainiak
	b. Krainiak Rezoning Findings
	c. Supporting documents
	d. 2019-12-01 - Ordinance Amending the Official Zoning Map - Krainiak


	6. Old Business
	A. 2596 : Camden Plantation, Inc. Land Sale Agreement - Ken Bowman
	Printout: 2596 : Camden Plantation, Inc. Land Sale Agreement - Ken Bowman
	a. Agenda Summary_Camden Plantation
	b. Public Notice Daily Advance Camden County
	c. Camden Purchase Agreement for Commercial Property 10-29-19 signed by buyer


	7. New Business
	A. 2597 : Resolution 2020-01-01 - Ken Bowman
	Printout: 2597 : Resolution 2020-01-01 - Ken Bowman
	a. LWV Resolution Request
	b. ResolutionLWV100 years.docx (NCACC)

	B. 2602 : Tax Report - Lisa Anderson
	Printout: 2602 : Tax Report - Lisa Anderson
	a. 20191230114830796.pdf

	C. 2603 : Recombination Survey
	Printout: 2603 : Recombination Survey
	a. Agenda Summary Sheet Recombination Survey
	b. Proposed Recombination
	c. Recombination Email

	D. 2607 : Personnel Policy - Ken Bowman
	Printout: 2607 : Personnel Policy - Ken Bowman
	a. Personnel Policy mods
	b. Personnel Policy121515


	8. Consent Agenda
	A. 2592 : BOC Meeting Minutes - December 2, 2019
	Printout: 2592 : BOC Meeting Minutes - December 2, 2019
	a. bocminutes_120219

	B. 2589 : DMV Monthly Report
	Printout: 2589 : DMV Monthly Report
	a. DMV Monthly Report Feb 20

	C. 2590 : Vehicle Refunds Over $100.00
	Printout: 2590 : Vehicle Refunds Over $100.00
	a. November Refunds Over $100.00

	D. 2604 : Pickups, Releases & Refunds
	Printout: 2604 : Pickups, Releases & Refunds
	a. Pickups, Releases & Refunds

	E. 2595 : Surplus Property - Maintenance
	Printout: 2595 : Surplus Property - Maintenance
	A. Surplus Property - Maintenance

	F. 2601 : Surplus Property - Sheriff's Office
	Printout: 2601 : Surplus Property - Sheriff's Office
	a. Surplus Property - Sheriff's Office


	9. County Manager's Report
	10. Commissioners' Reports
	11. Information, Reports & Minutes From Other Agencies
	A. 2599 : Library Report
	Printout: 2599 : Library Report
	a. 19-11

	B. 2606 : Register of Deeds Report
	Printout: 2606 : Register of Deeds Report
	a. Register of Deeds Report

	C. 2598 : Community Services Block Grant
	Printout: 2598 : Community Services Block Grant
	a. CSBG 2020 Application Pt1 (1)
	b. CSBG 2020 Application Pt2 (1)


	12. Other Matters
	13. Adjourn

	Appendix
	4.A · 2593 : Sheriff's Office - Lt. Brandon Henderson
	4.B · 2600 : FY 2018-2019 Audit Presentation - Greg Adams
	4.C · 2605 : Employee Recognition - Ken Bowman
	5.A · 2594 : Ordinance 2019-12-01 Rezoning Application for RKRAIN LLC
	5.A.a · Agenda Summary Sheet Ordinance 2019-12-01 Krainiak
	5.A.b · Krainiak Rezoning Findings
	5.A.c · Supporting documents
	5.A.d · 2019-12-01 - Ordinance Amending the Official Zoning Map - Krainiak

	6.A · 2596 : Camden Plantation, Inc. Land Sale Agreement - Ken Bowman
	6.A.a · Agenda Summary_Camden Plantation
	6.A.b · Public Notice Daily Advance Camden County
	6.A.c · Camden Purchase Agreement for Commercial Property 10-29-19 signed by buyer

	7.A · 2597 : Resolution 2020-01-01 - Ken Bowman
	7.A.a · LWV Resolution Request
	7.A.b · ResolutionLWV100 years.docx (NCACC)

	7.B · 2602 : Tax Report - Lisa Anderson
	7.B.a · 20191230114830796.pdf

	7.C · 2603 : Recombination Survey
	7.C.a · Agenda Summary Sheet Recombination Survey
	7.C.b · Proposed Recombination
	7.C.c · Recombination Email

	7.D · 2607 : Personnel Policy - Ken Bowman
	7.D.a · Personnel Policy mods
	7.D.b · Personnel Policy121515

	8.A · 2592 : BOC Meeting Minutes - December 2, 2019
	8.A.a · bocminutes_120219

	8.B · 2589 : DMV Monthly Report
	8.B.a · DMV Monthly Report Feb 20

	8.C · 2590 : Vehicle Refunds Over $100.00
	8.C.a · November Refunds Over $100.00

	8.D · 2604 : Pickups, Releases & Refunds
	8.D.a · Pickups, Releases & Refunds

	8.E · 2595 : Surplus Property - Maintenance
	8.E.A · Surplus Property - Maintenance

	8.F · 2601 : Surplus Property - Sheriff's Office
	8.F.a · Surplus Property - Sheriff's Office

	11.A · 2599 : Library Report
	11.A.a · 19-11

	11.B · 2606 : Register of Deeds Report
	11.B.a · Register of Deeds Report

	11.C · 2598 : Community Services Block Grant
	11.C.a · CSBG 2020 Application Pt1 (1)
	11.C.b · CSBG 2020 Application Pt2 (1)



